

PARTNERS Lawrence O. Picus Allan R. Odden

September 1, 2003

Senator Jim Argue Representative Calvin Johnson Co-Chairs, Joint Committee on Educational Adequacy State Capitol Little Rock, Arkansas

Dear Senator Argue and Representative Johnson:

Lawrence O. Picus and Associates is pleased to submit its final report to the Joint Committee on Educational Adequacy. The report contains two sections: our evidence based adequacy report (including a discussion of funding formulas), and our report on teacher compensation. Both are attached to this letter and, when combined with the report of the Joint Committee's subcommittee on accountability, should constitute your Committee's report to the Governor and the General Assembly.

These documents represent the culmination of six months of intensive work by the members of the Joint Committee; a dedicated group of Arkansas educators who participated in the Professional Judgment panels; and our team of consultants. We believe the recommendations contained in this report will establish an education system in Arkansas capable of enabling every student to meet the rigorous performance standards your state has developed. Five themes underscore all of the recommendations made by the committee:

- 1. Providing adequate funding
- 2. Closing the achievement gap
- 3. Insuring accountability for results, including performance pay for teachers
- 4. Emphasis on early intervention
- 5. All proposals are evidence based using research on what works

The recommendations include:

- An evidence based matrix. Based on the best current research on educational practice, the matrix specifies the resources needed to have a reasonable assurance that all children can meet state proficiency standards. The matrix provides a heavy emphasis on resources for children in grades K-3 and children from low income homes. It also provides substantial resources for professional development.
- A substantial increase in teacher salaries. Combined with a new knowledge and skills
 based pay system, these reports recommend increases in teacher salaries that will add five
 days to all teacher contracts, provide salary increases to make Arkansas teacher pay
 competitive with surrounding states, and provide funds or "adders" for geographically
 hard to staff areas, subjects where shortages of teachers currently exist, and to reward
 teachers for earning advanced degrees.
- A performance based pay bonus system for teachers. This program will reward all teachers at schools that meet or exceed performance goals established through the state's accountability system.
- Suggestions for revising the funding formula. We have designed a revised funding formula for distributing resources to the 308 school districts in Arkansas. This foundation based program will guarantee an adequate level of funding for each district at a uniform tax rate.

The importance of transforming the adequate resources identified in these reports into powerful and effective instructional strategies that boost student achievement cannot be overstated. If the resources identified in these reports are to have more than just marginal impacts on student learning, schools need to:

- 1. Use the dollars to purchase and implement effective curriculum programs in all content areas.
- 2. Help principals organize schools so they have the instructional leadership research shows is so important to successful learning.
- 3. Develop leadership to help teachers create a professional school culture that focuses on continuously improving the instructional program and have teachers take responsibility for the impacts of their instruction practice.
- 4. Establish an intensive and effective professional development program that operates to continually improve the instructional program.

The resources identified in these reports are necessary for these actions to take place. However, the support of the state's educators and policy makers is essential if these resources are to be used effectively to teach Arkansas students to the State's rigorous performance standards.

I am certain that I speak for our entire team of consultants – Allan Odden, Marc Wallace and Mark Fermanich, as well as the two team members who helped facilitate the Professional Judgment Panels, Zena Rudo and Bill Glenn – when I say that we have enjoyed the opportunity to work with you on this important study.

We would also like to thank Ray Simon and his staff at the Arkansas Department of Education for their efforts in supporting our numerous data requests during the course of this study. We would be remiss if we did not single out Tristan Greene of the Department of Education and Tim Gauger of the Attorney General's office, both of whom have provided us with extensive assistance in understanding the unique needs of Arkansas' educational system.

As I indicated at the August meeting of the Joint Committee, if Arkansas fully implements this plan, five years from now it will be on the top of everyone's list of education reform states with programs that work.

We all look forward to the opportunity to work with you in the future.

Sincerely,

Lawrence O. Picus

Lawrence O. Picus and Associates.

Jawene O. Picus

AN EVIDENCED-BASED APPROACH TO SCHOOL FINANCE ADEQUACY IN ARKANSAS

Final Report September 1, 2003

Prepared for the Arkansas Joint Committee on Educational Adequacy



Allan Odden Lawrence O. Picus Mark Fermanich

AN EVIDENCED-BASED APPROACH TO SCHOOL FINANCE ADEQUACY IN ARKANSAS

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

This report prepared by the Arkansas Joint Legislative Committee on Educational Adequacy represents an important step in developing the specifications to provide adequate resources for all public elementary, middle and high schools in Arkansas. The proposals contained herein draw from research, best practices and a synthesis of findings from recent professional judgment panels in five states around the country. Over the past six months, the Joint Committee has engaged in a comprehensive process culminating in these recommendations. The recommendations have evolved from:

- a. Four meetings of the Joint Committee on Educational Adequacy, one in April
 and three in May, each focused on discussing the April 7 version of this
 report.
- b. The recommendations of two Professional Judgment Panels, comprising a total of 70 Arkansas education leaders, who met for a two-day period in June.
- c. A three day meeting of the Joint Committee on July 14, 15 and 16, 2003, at which it reviewed the original report, the recommendations of the state's Professional Judgment Panels, and proposals for a performance pay system for teachers, including proposed salary increases but through a Knowledge and Skills-Based Single Salary Schedule.
- d. A two day meeting of the Joint Committee on August 18 and 19, 2003 at
 which these final recommendations and cost estimates were approved along

with the outline of a funding formula to distribute resources to school districts in Arkansas.

At its meeting on August 18 and 19, 2003, the Joint Committee on Educational Adequacy approved an educational adequacy funding plan focused on accountability for student performance, performance pay for teachers, program restructuring at all levels, improved instructional practice and significant resource reallocation. If fully implemented this plan will make Arkansas a leader in the educational reform movement, and more importantly will dramatically improve student performance across the state. Five themes underscore all of the recommendations made by the committee:

- 1. Providing adequate funding
- 2. Closing the achievement gap
- 3. Insuring accountability for results, including performance pay for teachers
- 4. Emphasis on early intervention
- 5. All proposals are evidence based using research on what works

Specific recommendations made by the committee are described below.

The Evidence Based "Matrix" (\$224.6 million)¹

Central to the Joint Committee's discussions has been the matrix describing the resources needed to provide an adequate education (See Table E.1). All educational initiatives included in the recommendations, and their funding, are backed by research evidence on their effectiveness. Every Committee recommendation is supported by evidence that

¹ Note that this figure does not include salary increases for teachers of \$45 million to pay for increasing the length of teacher contracts by five days. That amount is included in the teacher compensation section below.

each will have an impact on student performance. Among the most important changes in the way schools would be organized are:

- A pupil/teacher ratio of 1 to 15 for grades K-3, and a pupil teacher ratio of 1 to 25 for all other grades. While the numbers were estimated for prototypical schools of 500 students, the number of teachers at each school was prorated based on the actual enrollment of the school. As a result, there is no "subsidy" to small schools or small school districts.
- Additional teachers equal to 20 percent of the number generated above to provide for enrichment programs for students, and planning time for teachers.
- Availability of instructional facilitators at each school to help teacher improve instruction using methods that research shows will lead to improvements in learning.
- Additional staff members provided to schools with high concentrations of poverty. Personnel identified as tutors and as pupil support personnel are added to a school's faculty for each 100 children qualifying for free and reduced price lunch with a minimum of one of each at each school in the state. In addition, each 100 children identified as English Language Learners generate an additional 0.40 FTE tutor/teacher. These individuals' specific responsibilities can be established to meet the individual needs of the schools where they are employed.
- Adequate staff to meet the needs of children with mild and moderate disabilities
- A "catastrophic" funding program to provide special education to children with severe disabilities.
- Elimination of instructional aide and assistant principal positions.

Additional funding for:

- o Professional development
- Technology
- Instructional materials
- Supervisory aides.

In general, the staffing ratios used in the model are expected to be implemented by school districts across the state, although the committee recognized that some districts may be able to succeed with different resource allocation strategies and believed that some flexibility in the use of personnel should be allowed. This flexibility would be contingent on continued improvement in student outcomes as measured through the state's accountability system.

To implement the effective school models on which the cost figures are calculated, most schools will need to restructure their academic programs, strengthen their core academic courses, and reallocate all resources – both old and new – to a more effective, school wide educational program.

Teacher Compensation (total increase of \$356 million)²

Central to the adequacy funding plan are substantial increases in teacher salaries, including a performance based pay system that would base salary increases on a teacher demonstrating mastery of instructional skills that lead to an increase in student achievement, rather than years of experience. The components of this increase are:

² Note that includes \$45 million in salary increases for increasing the length of teacher contracts by five days. Although part of the matrix, the cost is reported with other teacher compensation here.

\$183 million for a 10 percent salary increase for teachers. This increase would bring teacher salary levels in Arkansas up to market levels for teacher pay in the surrounding southern states. In exchange for this dramatic increase, a performance based pay system that rewards teachers for what they know and can do will be put in place. Once implemented, future large increases in salary will only be available to teachers who demonstrate growth in the knowledge and skills research shows leads to improved student performance.

\$94 million (the equivalent of a 5 percent salary increase) for "adders" to the salary formula. These adders would be used to provide additional salary funds:

- To attract teachers to less desirable geographic areas of the state
- To provide additional salary for teachers in subject areas where there currently are shortages of qualified teachers
- To provide additional salary for teachers with advanced graduate degrees

\$45 million to pay to extend all teacher contracts for five days to provide additional time for high quality professional development programs. Note that in this increase in teacher pay is necessary to fully implement the matrix, but is included as with other changes in teacher compensation for clarity.

\$30 million for a performance bonus pay system that would enable all teachers in a school to earn annual bonuses if as a faculty they boosted student achievement from the previous year.

\$4 million to establish an appraisal system to implement these recommendations in a fair an impartial manner.

Under this new pay system teachers would be paid individually for their knowledge, skills, and instructional expertise, and paid collectively for improving student achievement towards state performance goals.

Early Childhood Education (\$100 million)

To enhance the chances of all students moving through high school successfully, the Committee's program focused on **improving schooling in the years before high school**. The Committee's recommendations include **expanded preschool programs** for all students age 3 and 4 from families with an income at 200 percent above the poverty level or below. Research shows that combined with the **reduced class sizes in grades K-3** both strategies have substantial short and long-term positive impacts on student performance. Preschool is known to provide an \$8.00-\$10.00 return for each dollar spent.

Funding Formula (\$167.7 million property tax transfer)

To distribute funds to school districts the Joint Committee recommended creation of a needs based funding formula. This formula provides each school district with an adequate level of funding to fully implement the matrix and increase teacher salaries at the constitutionally required tax rate of 25 mills.

Once the level of funding a district should receive is determined, state aid to that district is computed by subtracting from that total the amount of revenue raised with a uniform 25 mill tax rate in that district. If no action is taken to increase property taxes,

then to fully fund the program, the state will have to provide approximately \$167.7 million more to school districts to fully fund the recommended program. Alternatively, the state could increase property tax receipts though an increase in the uniform millage rate, or by increasing the assessment ratio from 20 percent to 25 percent of actual value.

At the present time, the committee has not taken action on the use of district incentive millages. Under this model, if allowed, the incentive mills would provide funding above the adequacy level defined herein. Among the options the Legislature could consider include:

- Allowing districts to levy incentive mills as they see fit (and their voters approve)
 without regard to how much is raised which provides wealthy districts with a funding advantage. This advantage may not be as much of a concern if all districts receive funding for a truly adequate system.
- Allow districts to levy incentive mills but equalize them up to a certain level through power equalization. This would give each district equal access to funding per mill up to the established cap, but would increase the cost to the state.
- Determine that the adequacy level is enough and not allow districts to raise more money through incentive mills.

Final Points

The Committee's **effective school models**, which determine the large part of the price tag, are **focused on dramatically improving instruction**, both through their professional development elements and their performance pay structure. This focus is

important, as it is improved classroom instruction that largely produces improved student academic achievement -- the goal of an adequate education system.

It should be remembered that while the consultants have helped the Committee shape these recommendations; the final recommendations are those of the Committee and not the consultants. Further, early in its deliberations, the Committee itself adopted a definition of educational adequacy that included the current accountability standards of 38 courses in the high school, the state's curriculum frameworks, and the state's testing system including the proficiency levels for student performance. The consultants developed recommendations for funding this definition of educational adequacy. The consultants have also pointed out that it is the state's responsibility, via a solidly enforced accountability system, to ensure high quality courses that are taught by highly qualified teachers. The Committee's model establishes a system that will allow schools to put quality teachers in core instructional courses that will lead to improved learning.

The matrix that accompanies this report (Table E.1) describes the resources necessary to provide an educational program that the Committee believes will meet the Court's requirements for providing an adequate education for all Arkansas school children. During its meeting on August 19, it adopted the following motion regarding the mandating of the program described by that matrix:

The top two items contained in the matrix are mandatory with the exception of class size which shall not be considered mandatory. That the State Board of Education shall develop rules for granting waives for class size. Such rules shall require that waivers be granted based on the percentage of students coring at or above proficient on state benchmark exams collectively across all grade levels for which benchmark exams are administered across all grades in the school or percentage gains in achievement on state benchmark exams for the school as a whole.

That the percentage levels of students scoring at or above proficient and the percentage of gains necessary to qualify for a waiver shall be developed by the State Board of Education.

Nothing in this motion shall be construed to override rules governing Standards for Accreditation of Arkansas Public Schools.

Any money freed up by class size waivers shall be expended on teachers or support for classroom instruction.

The Committee recognizes that the definition of educational adequacy is a dynamic, not a static concept and that as research into effective educational practices continues to improve our knowledge of how children learn and what programs and methods work best, the kinds and type of resources specified in the matrix may change in response to that knowledge.

The Committee strongly supports the recommendations contained in this report and urges adoption of these recommendations along with appropriations to fund them completely. We recognize the \$847.3 million cost of the programs contained in these recommendations may require a greater tax effort than can be financed in one year. Therefore we recommend development of a plan to phase in this program over a period not to exceed two bienniums. At the same time we recognize that over time the costs of these programs will increase as a result of inflation and the need to further increase teacher salaries to remain competitive within our region. These additional costs must be included in the phase-in plan.

Table E.1
Recommendations for Adequate Resources for
Prototypical Arkansas Elementary, Middle and High Schools¹

School Element	Elementary Schools	Middle Schools	High Schools
School Characteristics			
School configuration	K-5	6-8	9-12
Prototypic school size	500	500	500
Class size	K-3: 15 4-5: 25	6-8: 25	9-12: 25 Maximum of 150 students per semester
Full-day kindergarten	Yes	NA	NA
Pre-school	Yes, 1 Teacher and 1 Teacher Assistant for every 20 children, aged 3 or 4 from a family with income of 200% of poverty or below	NA	NA
Length of teacher work year	190 day teacher contract, so an increase of 5 days	190 day teacher contract, so an increase of 5 days	190 day teacher contract, so an increase of 5 days
% Disabled	13.1 %	13.1 %	13.1 %
% Poverty (free & reduced lunch)	47.4 %	47.4 %	47.4 %
% ELL	3.86 %	3.86 %	3.86 %
% Minority	28.8 %	28.8 %	28.8 %
Personnel Resources			
Principal	1	1	1
Instructional Facilitators/Mentors	2.5	2.5	2.5
Teachers	29	20	20
Specialist teachers	20% more: 6	20% more: 4	20% more: 4
Instructional aides	0	0	0
Teachers for struggling students	1/each 20% poverty or one for every 100 poverty students: 2.5	1/each 20% poverty or one for every 100 poverty students:	1/each 20% poverty or one for every 100 poverty students: 2.5
Teachers for ELL students	An additional 0.4 teachers for every 100 ELL/LEP students who are also from a poverty family	An additional 0.4 teachers for every 100 ELL/LEP students who are also from a poverty family	An additional 0.4 teachers for every 100 ELL/LEP students who are also from a poverty family

Table E.1 (Continued) Recommendations for Adequate Resources for Prototypical Arkansas Elementary, Middle and High Schools

School Element	Elementary Schools	Middle Schools	High Schools
School Characteristics			
Alternative Learning Environment	1 Teacher for every 20 ALE students	1 Teacher for every 20 ALE students	1 Teacher for every 20 ALE students
Teachers for students with moderate disabilities/speech /hearing	2.9	2.9	2.9
Severe Disabilities	Keep current Catastrophic Program but reduce expenditure threshold to the base allocation. Also deduct Federal Title VI (b) funds in calculating catastrophic aid.	Keep current Catastrophic Program but reduce expenditure threshold to the base allocation. Also deduct Federal Title VI (b) funds in calculating catastrophic aid.	Keep current Catastrophic Program but reduce expenditure threshold to the base allocation. Also deduct Federal Title VI (b) funds in calculating catastrophic aid.
Teachers for gifted students	Retain current standards, expenditure requirements and monitoring.	Retain current standards, expenditure requirements and monitoring.	Retain current standards, expenditure requirements and monitoring.
Aides for categorical students	0	0	0
Pupil support staff	1/each 20% poverty, or 1 for every 100 poverty students: 2.5	1 for every 100 poverty students plus 1.0 guidance 3.5 total	1 for every 100 poverty students plus 2.0 guidance 4.5 total
Librarians/ media specialists	0; included with specialist teachers	1.0	1.5
Technology resource teachers	Included in Instructional Facilitators	Included in Instructional Facilitators	Included in Instructional Facilitators
Substitutes	10 days per teacher	10 days per teacher	10 days per teacher
Dollar per Pupil Resources			
Professional development	Included above: Instructional facilitators Planning & prep time 10 summer days Additional: \$50/pupil for other PD expenses – trainers, conferences, travel, etc.	Included above: Instructional facilitators Planning & prep time 10 summer days Additional: \$50/pupil for other PD expenses – trainers, conferences, travel, etc.	Included above: Instructional facilitators Planning & prep time 10 summer days Additional: \$50/pupil for other PD expenses – trainers, conferences, travel, etc.
Technology	\$250/pupil	\$250/pupil	\$250/pupil

Table E.1 (Continued) Recommendations for Adequate Resources for Prototypical Arkansas Elementary, Middle and High Schools

School Element	Elementary Schools	Middle Schools	High Schools
School Characteristics			
Instructional materials, equipment, student activities	\$250/pupil	\$250/pupil	\$250/pupil
Extra duty funds	NA	\$60/pupil	\$120/pupil
Funds for Supervisory Aides (lunch, playground, buses)	\$35/pupil	\$35/pupil	\$35/pupil

¹ The Committee recognizes that the definition of educational adequacy is a dynamic, not a static concept and that as research into effective educational practices continues to improve our knowledge of how children learn and what programs and methods work best, the kinds and type of resources specified in the matrix may change in response to that knowledge.

Teacher Salaries: Include an 18 percent salary increase for teachers that includes: 3 percent to increase teacher contracts by five days a year; 10 percent to bring salaries to a level that is competitive with the market in the six surrounding states through a new Knowledge and Skills-Based Single Salary Schedule; and 5 percent for "adders" to provide additional funding for geographically undesirable areas, subject areas where there are teacher shortages and for advanced educational degrees. In addition the model calls for a \$30 million school-based bonus program designed around improvements in student performance.

The importance of transforming the adequate resources identified above into powerful and effective instructional strategies that boost student achievement can not be overstated. If the resources identified above are to have more than just marginal impacts on student learning, schools need to:

- 1. Use the dollars to purchase and implement effective curriculum programs in all content areas.
- 2. Help principals organize schools so they have the instructional leadership research shows is so important to successful learning.

- 3. Develop leadership to help teachers create a professional school culture that focuses on continuously improving the instructional program and have teachers take responsibility for the impacts of their instruction practice.
- 4. An intensive and effective professional development program needs to operate in ways to continually improve the instructional program.

The resources described above are necessary for these actions to take place. The above adequate resources plus the performance pay program recommended in the accompanying report and these leadership actions include the necessary and sufficient conditions for having schools teach Arkansas students to its rigorous performance standards.

Table of Contents

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY	i
Introduction	1
1. Approaches to School Finance Adequacy	4
The Successful District Approach	5
2. Cost Function Approach	6
3. Professional Judgment Approach	8
4. Evidence-Based Approach	10
2. Applying the Evidence Based Approach in Arkansas	14
Pre-School	15
Full Day Kindergarten	16
School Size	16
Class Size	19
Principal	
Instructional Facilitators/School-Based Coaches/Mentors	23
Planning and Preparation Time/Collaborative Professional Development	24
Strategy for Struggling Students	25
Gifted and Talented Students	
Student Support/Family Outreach	
Intensive Professional Development	33
Technology	38
Other Resources	39
Benchmarking Teacher Salaries in an Adequate School Finance System	41
3. Other State Professional Judgment Panel Recommendations	44
4. Key Arkansas Professional Judgment Panel Recommendations	53
5. Proposed Resources for Prototypical Arkansas	56
Elementary, Middle and High Schools	56
School Characteristics	57
Personnel Resources	57
6. The Costs of These Proposals	61
7. Designing a School Funding Formula for Arkansas in Response to Lake View	67
Designing a School Funding Formula	
The Distribution of Revenue to Arkansas School Districts	70
Appendix A: Members of Professional Judgment Panels	
Appendix B: Materials Prepared for Professional Judgment Panels	
Appendix C: Historical Record of the Joint Committee on Educational Adequacy	
Appendix D: Estimated Change in Total Revenue and State Aid Per Pupil	114

AN EVIDENCED-BASED APPROACH TO SCHOOL FINANCE ADEQUACY IN ARKANSAS

Introduction

On November 21, 2002, the Arkansas Supreme Court upheld an earlier Chancery Court ruling declaring the school finance system of Arkansas to be both inequitable and inadequate. The court found that the state was not meeting its constitutional commitment to "maintain a general, suitable and efficient system of free public schools (*Lake View v. Huckabee*).³ The court held that as part of remedy, the state must conduct a school finance adequacy study, pointing out that such as study had been called for in court rulings in 1994, ⁴ and again by Judge Kilgore in his 2001 ruling in this case.⁵ Lawrence O. Picus and Associates were contracted by the Arkansas Legislature's Joint Committee on Educational Adequacy to help conduct the adequacy study. This document represents four months of work with the Legislature to help Arkansas define an adequate education and determine its cost.

For Arkansas – and other states as well – the adequacy question is whether the state's school finance system provides sufficient funding for each school in the state to deploy powerful enough educational strategies so that all students can meet the state's student performance goals in the next 10-15 years. Those goals seek to have all students performing at or above the proficiency level on the state's student testing system. This is

³ Lake View School District No. 25 v. Huckabee, 351 Ark. 31, 91 S.W.3d 472 (2002), cert den. sub. nom. Wilson, J.L., et al. v. Huckabee, Gov. of Ark., et al., 538 U.S. ____ (2003) (Orders of May 19 at 5).

⁴ See *Lake View School District No. 25 v. Tucker*, No. 92-5318 (Pulaski County Chancery Court, November 9, 1994 as modified December 21, 1994)

⁵ Lake View School District No. 25 v. Huckabee, No. 92-5318 (Pulaski County Chancery Court, May 25, 2001) http://zebra.wsc.k12.ar.us/collinswork.pdf

a complex and substantive definition of school finance adequacy, far beyond what was expected of "minimum" foundation programs in the past. Today, school finance adequacy in Arkansas requires a more direct link between the funding base and educational strategies that have potential to allow Arkansas' students to meet or exceed the state's established proficiency levels.

Since 1990, a variety of methods have been developed in different parts of the country that can help identify this linkage in both programmatic and fiscal terms. Today, the school finance community has developed a number of alternative methods for determining school finance adequacy. The first section of this report describes the four primary methods for determining school finance adequacy that have been developed over the past decade, and identifies the states currently using them. Section two then takes one of the approaches – the Evidence-Based Approach, an approach with which the consultants – Lawrence O. Picus and Allan Odden – retained by the Committee have been associated (Odden, Fermanich & Picus, 2003; Odden, 2000a), and identifies how it would be used to identify the core educational resource needs of prototypical elementary, middle and high schools in Arkansas – resources that would be adequate for schools to educate their students to state performance standards. Section 3 then compares and contrasts various recommendations that have been produced by recent professional judgment panels in several states. Section 4 summarizes the changes recommended by two Arkansas Professional Judgment Panels that met on July 11 and 12, 2003 in Little Rock and reports the response of the Joint Committee to them. Section 5 takes key findings from Sections 2, 3 and 4, and presents a full set of recommendations for resources for prototypical elementary, middle and high schools. Section 6 summarizes

how these recommendations have been costed-out. Section 7 outlines a proposed funding formula for distributing these adequate resources to all districts.

Before proceeding, we should note that the Joint Committee has adopted a definition of what an adequate education is, and that definition served as a basis for identifying the resources required for adequate funding. The Committee's definition of educational adequacy is:

- a. The standards included in the state's curriculum frameworks, which define what all Arkansas students are to be taught.
- b. The standards included in the state's testing system, which include a
 definition of what would be considered a proficient score for each test.

 The goal is to have all, or all but the most severely disabled, students
 perform at or above proficiency on these tests.
- c. Sufficient funding to provide the resources identified in the resource matrix contained in Table 4 of this report.

Full implementation of this definition of an adequate education program with the proposed resources will require that each school rethink if not restructure its entire educational program, and reallocate all current and any new resources to this restructured and more effective educational program. Such a system will need to be accompanied by a clear accountability and monitoring program, such as that embodied in Act 1467 enacted by the 2003 Legislature.

It should be noted that this definition is in line with the statutory language quoted by the Supreme Court in *Lake View* (See *Lake View*, 351 Ark 31 at 57-58. See also Acts 1108 and 1307 of 1997.)

The Committee recognizes that the definition of educational adequacy is a dynamic, not a static concept and that as research into effective educational practices continues to improve our knowledge of how children learn and what programs and methods work best, the kinds and type of resources specified in the matrix may change in response to that knowledge.

The Committee strongly supports the recommendations contained in this report and urges adoption of these recommendations along with appropriations to fund them completely. We recognize the \$847 million cost of the programs contained in these recommendations may require a greater tax effort than can be financed in one year. Therefore we recommend development of a plan to phase in this program over a period not to exceed two bienniums. At the same time we recognize that over time the costs of these programs will increase as a result of inflation and the need to further increase teacher salaries to remain competitive within our region. These additional costs must be included in the phase-in plan.

1. Approaches to School Finance Adequacy⁶

Determining whether a state's school finance system is adequate is the newest and most dominant issue in school finance across the country (Ladd & Hansen, 1999). To be adequate, the school finance formula must provide a sufficient amount of funds so that schools can teach all – or at least all but the most severely disabled – students to state and district proficiency standards. This approach has great appeal for both policymakers and the courts; it seeks to link a funding level to a system performance level, a long sought goal.

⁶This section draws from Odden, Archibald & Fermanich, 2003.

Designing an adequate school finance system requires three interrelated decisions: identifying an adequate expenditure level for the typical student in the typical district; ensuring that the foundation base has sufficient adjustments for student needs and price differentials; and making sure that the overall system supports teacher salary levels that are sufficient to recruit and retain the level of teacher quality needed to implement standards-based educational strategies in school sites.

But attractive though the adequacy goal is, it is not easy to define in specific, programmatic and dollar terms. Nevertheless, education policy analysts have created four methodologies to determine an adequate foundation expenditure level:

- 1. The successful district approach
- 2. The cost function approach
- 3. The professional judgment approach (initially called the resource cost model approach)
- 4. The evidence-based approach.

Except for the cost function approach, different states are using various versions of the other three methods. Each is described in detail below (for longer discussions, see Guthrie & Rothstein, 1999; Odden & Picus, 2000).

1. The Successful District Approach

The successful district approach, used in Ohio (Alexander, Augenblick, Driscoll, Guthrie & Levin, 1995; Augenblick, 1997), Illinois (Augenblick, 2001; Hinrichs & Laine, 1996), Maryland (Augenblick, 2001), and Mississippi identifies districts that have successfully taught their students to state proficiency standards, and sets the adequacy level at the weighted average of the expenditures of such districts. Usually, atypical

districts—often the highest and lowest spending, the highest and lowest income districts, and often the large urban and sparse rural districts – are eliminated from the analysis. Atypical districts also frequently include big city districts. Consequently, the typical sample of districts in this analysis includes non-metropolitan districts of average size and relatively homogeneous demographic characteristics, which generally spend below the state average. Critics of this approach argue that the adequate expenditure level typically identified is difficult to align with the fiscal adequacy needs of urban or sparse/rural districts, even with adjustments for pupil needs and geographic price differentials.

This approach also lends itself to manipulation. Though analysts suggest that the adequate expenditure level should be the weighted average of all the expenditures of the districts meeting the performance benchmark, some policymakers have suggested using the average of only the bottom half of that sample, using an unweighted average, or even using the value of just the lowest expenditure district in the sample – in order to drive down the value, and thus the state cost, of the adequate foundation expenditure level.

2. Cost Function Approach

The second approach uses economic cost function analysis. This approach employs regression analysis with expenditure per pupil as the dependent variable, and student and district characteristics, along with *desired* performance levels as the independent variables. The question this approach seeks to answer is: how much money per pupil is needed to produce a given level of student performance? The result produces an adequate expenditure per pupil for the average district, and then, for all other districts, by producing an overall adjustment that accounts for differences in pupil need and educational prices as well as diseconomies of both large and small size. The expenditure

figure could be used, for example, as the Foundation Expenditure of the Arkansas school finance equalization formula, which for each district would be adjusted by the overall "index" to account for differences in pupil need and educational prices, as well as diseconomies of both large and small size across districts. The expenditure level is higher (lower) as the expected performance level is increased (decreased). The index adjustment would replace all current Arkansas categorical programs, except for transportation.

No state currently uses this approach to determine adequacy, though cost function research has been conducted for New York (Duncombe, Ruggiero & Yinger, 1996), Wisconsin (Reschovsky & Imazeki, 1999), Texas (Imazeki & Reschovsky, 1999; Reschovsky and Imazeki, 2001), and Illinois (Reschovsky & Imazeki, 2000). The Reschovsky and Imazeki cost function research found that the adequate expenditure levels in Wisconsin and Texas were close to the median spending levels in those states. The studies also indicated that there was substantial variation in the average adequacy level due to student and district needs, ranging from a low of 49 percent to a high of 460 percent of the average in Wisconsin, and a low of 75 percent to a high of 158 percent of the average in Texas. In both states, the large urban districts had adequate expenditure figures at the highest levels, sometimes 2-4 times the state average.

Reschovsky and Imazeki (2001) produced an overall assessment of the utility of the cost function approach, arguing that it is the only approach, using data from all districts, which links a specific spending level to a specific performance level, and thus is the preferred approach (by economists) in a standards-based environment. However, they did not note that the approach is limited by the strategies being used in extant

management and instructional systems, and does not capture efficiencies that could be produced by more dramatic re-engineering or restructuring. Further, this system is so complicated that state policymakers avoid using it; too few legislators understand how it works. Last, the procedure produces cost figures at just the *district* level, and has not been used to determine an adequate expenditure figure at the *school* level, which is what ultimately is needed.

These two different systems—the successful district approach and the cost function approach—produce widely varying estimates of an adequate expenditure level, suggesting that more research is needed to determine why these large differences emerge. Moreover, while both the successful district and the cost function approaches link spending levels to performance levels, which is what many policymakers want, neither indicates what educational strategies produce those performance levels. So at best, the approaches indicate what an adequate spending level might be at the district level, but not how those resources can be used, in general or at the school level, to produce the desired results. The next two approaches address these latter issues.

3. Professional Judgment Approach

A third approach to determining school finance adequacy is known as the professional consensus or professional judgment approach. Under this methodology, the state creates several teams of local education leaders who independently identify effective school wide strategies and their key ingredients – numbers of professional staff and other resources. The ingredients are then priced out and added up to determine the adequate fiscal base for a school; the base can then be adjusted for the differing characteristics of students and districts. Originally developed by Jay Chambers and Tom

Parrish as the Resource Cost Model (Chambers & Parrish, 1994), the professional judgment model (Guthrie & Rothstein, 1999) is being used in Oregon (Calvo, Picus, Smith & Guthrie, 2000), Maine, Maryland (Management Analysis & Planning, 2001; Augenblick, 2001) and Wyoming (Guthrie et al. 1997; Management Analysis and Planning, 2002). Adequacy studies using this approach are being conducted or have just been completed in a number of other states including Kansas (Augenblick, Meyers, Silverstein & Barkis, 2002), Montana (Meyers & Silverstein, 2002), Nebraska, New York and South Carolina.

The basis of this approach is to bring together a group of educational professionals and ask them to identify the components of a "prototype" school that they believe would enable the professional staff to teach the students at that school to some predetermined standards level. Though this approach usually identifies effective educational strategies to some degree, and so provides a stronger linkage between funding levels and possible education programs, its major limitation is that it depends solely on the judgments of educational professionals in identifying strategies rather than research that actually shows a linkage between the strategy and student performance. Further, it sometimes provides for little differentiation between strategies for the average school and strategies for schools with higher concentrations of at-risk students (see for example, Management Analysis and Planning, 2001).

Although it has become one of the most popular methods states use to determine school finance adequacy, our conclusion is that several panels across the country are making proposals that are both very expensive and have little research-based evidence to bolster them. Nevertheless, it is wise to cull the similarities and differences among the

proposals for prototypical elementary, middle and high schools, in order to draw from the wisdom and expertise of these panels from other states. The approach in Arkansas was to use the professional judgments of leading Arkansas educators to review and critique a set of prototypical school models that the Joint Committee initially recommended, using the fourth methodology summarized below.

4. Evidence-Based Approach

The fourth major approach to determining an adequate expenditure level is to identify research-based educational strategies, cost them out, and then aggregate them to adequate site, district, and state expenditure levels. This system was developed in part because it identifies a set of specific educational programs and strategies that represent state-of-the-art knowledge about education effectiveness and puts a dollar figure on their costs. It combines many of the advantages of the preceding methods:

- By referencing research evidence on various educational strategies that positively impact student learning, and combining them into an evidence-based, school wide approach, this method has an evidence-based foundation combined with a pragmatic application;
- 2. By drawing upon the compilation of strategies incorporated into several comprehensive school designs, it taps the best practices wisdom of some of the best educators in the country who have compiled evidence on individual educational strategies into comprehensive, school wide strategies; and
- 3. By using this approach it provides schools with a funding level that allows them to deploy any of a large number of school wide educational strategies. Each of those strategies represents the best of what both research and top practitioners

claim are the most effective educational strategies and represent current evidencebased and state-of-the-art professional knowledge in education.

Implementation of this approach in New Jersey. New Jersey adopted this approach to adequacy in 1998 when its Supreme Court⁷ concluded that state's school finance system was adequate because it provided more than sufficient funds for schools to adopt and fund via resource reallocation an enriched version of a comprehensive school wide approach that then combined numerous research-based elements – the Roots and Wings/Success for All comprehensive school design. Because Roots and Wings, along with the Modern Red Schoolhouse, were and still are the most expensive comprehensive school wide strategies that now exist, funding such a strategy would undoubtedly provide sufficient resources for alternative school wide strategies as well.

When New Jersey districts began to implement the court's decision, however, they discovered that each school design apparently had a different cost. This was somewhat problematic because it was not possible and in some cases illegal for districts to provide different funding levels to schools (assuming common numbers of students and student needs) only because a school had chosen a design that was more expensive than another. Upon further analysis, though, the state discovered that the different costs actually represented different levels of service and different combinations of individual program elements. By standardizing levels of service for each program element and insuring that each design had all relevant program elements, the state produced a structure that simultaneously provided both a common way to resource all schools and to insure adequate revenues for six different designs that the state had approved, with the most expensive – Roots and Wings – the default design.

7

⁷ Abbott by Abbott v. Burke, 153 N.J. 480, 710 A.2d 450 (1998).

Indeed, the court in New Jersey found not only that funding levels were adequate for this design, but also that there was even money "left over" after the design was enhanced and fully funded (Odden, 1998). Further, the level of funds provided at that time—approximately \$9,000 per child plus state and federal categorical program dollars—was sufficient to fund an enhanced version of that school design, which included smaller class sizes, more professional development, more tutors, a full family-social services support team, and ample computer technologies. The court required the state to continue providing that level of funding and mandated that schools adopt and implement a evidence-based design and fund it through resource reallocation (e.g., Odden & Archibald, 2001). It is likely that such an approach also will be part of North Carolina's *Leandro* adequacy case and might emerge in other school finance cases as well.

Due diligence requires us to say, though, that research on the implementation of the most recent New Jersey court decree (Erlichson, Goertz & Turnbull, 1999; Erlichson & Goertz, 2001) shows that implementation of this approach – adequate resources but in the context that necessitates significant program restructuring and reallocation of existing resources – is difficult. Many New Jersey schools simply expected more dollars as a result of the court case, and were reluctant to sunset old education strategies and adopt new ones through substantial program restructuring and resource reallocation.

-

⁸ See also *Abbott by Abbott v. Burke*, 153 N.J. 480, 636, 710 A.2d 450, ___ (1998).

⁹ See, for example, the original case -- *Leandro v. State*, 346 N.C. 336, 488 S.E.2d 249 (1997), and then a series of additional decisions released over time -- *Hoke County Bd. of Education v. State* (*Hoke I*) No. 95 CVS 1158 (Wake County Superior Court October __, 2000); *Hoke County Bd. of Education v. State* (*Hoke III*) No. 95 CVS 1158 (Wake County Superior Court October __, 2000); *Hoke County Bd. of Education v. State* (*Hoke III*) No. 95 CVS 1158 (Wake County Superior Court March 26, 2001) modified by *Hoke County Bd. of Education v. State* (*Hoke III-B*) No. 95 CVS 1158 (Wake County Superior Court May 29, 2001); *Hoke County Bd. of Education v. State* (*Hoke IV*) No. 95 CVS 1158 (Wake County Superior Court April 4, 2002).

Researchers also documented insufficient training and the need for more management expertise to help orchestrate the process at both the district and state level.

Building on just the fiscal aspects of this approach, Odden (2000a) suggested a funding structure for a school that could accommodate all extant school designs, that ensured that each had similar service levels in all program elements, and that included all relevant program elements, including a strategy for students who are struggling to learn to proficiency standards, planning and preparation time for teachers, sufficient professional development; and adequate computer technologies.

Section 2 provides more detail for the Evidence-Based approach and shows how it uses both research findings and craft wisdom from the practitioner creators of "comprehensive school designs," which themselves are compilations of research and best practice knowledge, into cohesive school-wide strategies (Stringfield, Ross & Smith, 1996; Northwest Regional Educational Laboratory, 1998).

Pricing The Ingredients

The last step in both the professional judgment and the evidence-based approach is appropriately pricing all ingredients, and setting teacher salaries. This is a step that usually uses a statewide average teacher salary, but such a strategy potentially understates or overstates what districts and the state might need to pay for quality teacher talent.

There are two approaches to estimating a teacher salary that reflect what it actually takes in dollar terms to recruit and retain teaching talent. The first is to apply to the state's average teacher salary a geographic cost-of-education-index that has been developed by the National Center for Education Statistics (Chambers, 1995). This district level index quantifies the different prices school districts in a state – such as

Arkansas – must pay for a given set of teacher qualities. This adjustment insures equal purchasing power of teacher salary dollars across geographic regions in the state.

But this cost-index approach just quantifies price differences across geographic regions/districts within a state; it does not indicate what the state average *should be* in relationship to the labor markets for teacher talent within which a state's districts compete for those teachers. A second pricing strategy, which the Joint Committee used, is to determine salary benchmarks for Arkansas and other states – including both surrounding states and all Southern Region Education Board (SREB) states – with which Arkansas competes for teaching talent; this approach identified not only the salary benchmark for beginning-teachers, but also benchmarks for mid-career and top-career teacher salaries. Further, this analysis also compared teacher salaries in Arkansas to those in other occupations with which the education system competes for talent.

2. Applying the Evidence Based Approach in Arkansas

The Evidence-Based approach identifies a set of ingredients that are required to deliver a comprehensive set of elements of a high quality instructional program, and then determines an adequate expenditure level by placing a price (an appropriate salary level) on each ingredient and aggregating to a total cost. This approach is more explicitly based on research and extant models of comprehensive school designs (*e.g.*, Stringfield, Ross & Smith, 1996) rather than just the professional judgment of educators on the level of resources needed to meet a pre-determined performance goal (*e.g.*, Odden, 2000a). The next section does this in an integrated way for elementary, middle and high schools; distinctions among the three different school levels are made where appropriate.

Pre-School

Research shows that **high quality preschool**, particularly for students from lower income backgrounds, significantly effects future student academic achievement as well as other desired social and community outcomes (Barnett, 1995, 1996, 2000; Karoly et al., 1998; Slavin, Karweit & Wasik, 1994). Indeed, these longitudinal studies show that students from lower income backgrounds who experience a high quality, full day preschool program do better learning basic skills in elementary school, score higher on academic goals in middle and high school, attend college at a greater rate, and as adults earn higher incomes and engage in less socially undesirable behavior. The research shows that there is a return over time of *eight to ten dollars* for every one dollar invested in high quality preschool programs.

Thus, the Committee recommends that the state school finance system should allow each district to provide preschool for at least every child aged 3-4 from a family with an income at or below 200 percent of the poverty level. Pre-school standards, generally according to the National Association for the Education of Young Children, call for one teacher and one teacher assistant for each pre-school group of 15-20 students.

Because pre-school quality is linked to impact, and quality is largely a function of staff, including pre-school students in a district's pupil count for state aid purposes is the most straight forward way to fund pre-school services and require pre-school providers to pay a salary according to the salary schedule in the district in which the pre-school program is provided. In this way, pre-school teachers will earn a salary according to the district's teacher salary schedule. At the same time, districts should allow multiple institutions and organizations to provide pre-school services, not just the public schools.

Full Day Kindergarten

Research further shows that **full-day kindergarten**, particularly for students from low-income backgrounds, also has significant, positive effects on student learning in the early elementary grades (Fusaro, 1997; Slavin, Karweit & Wasik, 1994). Children participating in such programs do better in learning the basic skills of reading, writing and mathematics in the primary grades of elementary school than children who receive only a half-day program or no kindergarten at all. Thus, the state school finance system should allow each district to count each kindergarten student as a full 1.0 student in the formula in order to provide a full-day kindergarten program. It should be noted that some districts in Arkansas already provide full day Kindergarten, and that at the present time, Kindergarten is not constitutionally required – the current constitutional requirement is that education programs must be provided for all children ages six to twenty-one.

School Size

Research on **school size** is clearer than research on class size. However, most of the research on school size addresses the question of whether large schools – those significantly over 1,000 students – are both more efficient and more effective than smaller school units (schools of 300 to 500)— and whether cost savings and performance improvements can be identified for consolidating small schools or districts into larger entities. The research generally shows that school units of roughly 500 students are the most effective and most efficient, but both smaller and larger schools are possible, as long as secondary schools do not exceed 1,000 students.

We quote from the forthcoming Third Edition of the consultants' school finance text on this issue (Odden & Picus, 2004, forthcoming, Chapter 6):

Analysts, however, argue that the expected cost savings from the massive school and district consolidation have not been realized (Guthrie, 1979; O'Neill, 1996; Ornstein, 1990) and that consolidation might actually harm student performance in rural schools (Sher & Tompkins, 1977) as well as have broad negative effects on rural communities (Coeyman, 1998; Seal & Harmon, 1995). If small schools or districts indeed cost more, but consolidation reduces performance and disrupts communities, the better policy choice might be to resist consolidation and provide special adjustments to compensate for the higher costs.

The research on diseconomies of small and large scale generally does not support a consolidation policy. From an economic perspective, the concept of diseconomies of scale includes both costs and outputs. The issue is whether costs per unit of output are higher in small schools or districts, or put differently, whether costs can be reduced while maintaining output as size rises. In an extensive review of the literature, Fox (1981) concluded that little research had analyzed output in combination with input and size variables, and Monk (1990) concluded after assessing the meager extant research that there was little support for either school or district consolidation.

For elementary schools, research knowledge is thin, but data suggest that size economies that reduce costs by more than one dollar per pupil exist up to but not beyond 200 pupils (Riew, 1986). Thus, very small schools experience diseconomies of small size and, except in isolated rural areas, potentially could be merged into larger ones. But the real opportunities for cost savings from school consolidation from these small sizes are not great, precisely because many such schools are located in isolated rural areas and there are no other schools nearby with which to consolidate.

At the secondary level, the data are more mixed. Few studies exist that simultaneously assess both size and output, so scale diseconomies have not been adequately studied. Riew (1986) found that there were cost savings, below one dollar per pupil, for middle schools with enrollments above 500; again, many middle schools already enroll more than this number. In analyzing whether larger secondary schools actually provided more comprehensive programs, an argument for larger size, Monk (1987) concluded in a study of New York that program comprehensiveness increased consistently in secondary schools only for size increases up to but not beyond about 400 students. In subsequent research, Haller, Monk, Spotted Bear, Griffith, & Moss (1990) found that while larger schools offered more comprehensive programs, there was wide variation among both smaller and larger schools, and there was no clear [size] point that guarantees program comprehensiveness. Further, Hamilton (1983) shows that social development is better in small high schools.

Studies of district size generally analyze expenditures per pupil as a function of size without an output variable, such as student achievement (Fox, 1981). To document diseconomies of district size, however, expenditures, size, and output

need to be analyzed simultaneously, since the goal is to determine if costs per unit of output decrease as the number of students in the district increases. Again, in reviewing the literature, Monk (1990) concluded that definitive statements could not be made about district consolidation.

In the most recent review of scale economies and diseconomies, Andrews, Duncombe & Yinger (2002) assessed both cost function and production function research. The studies reviewed generally assessed costs in tandem with student achievement outputs. The authors concluded that there were potential but modest cost savings that could be realized by consolidating districts smaller than 500 students into districts with 2,000-4,000 students; of course this would be an option only for small districts a short distance from each other and not for rural, isolated small districts. The authors also found that the optimum size for elementary schools was in the 300-500 pupil range, and for high schools was in the 600-900 range (see also, Lee & Smith, 1997, on high school size). Both findings suggest that our very large urban districts and schools are far beyond the optimum size and need to be somehow downsized.

Based on the above, we conclude that research suggests that elementary school units be in the range of 300-500 students and that secondary school units be in the range of 600-900 students (Lee & Smith, 1997; Raywid, 1997/1998). Evidence from comprehensive school designs, however, generally propose school sizes of about 500 students for both elementary and secondary schools, which we would argue falls within the range of the research findings (Odden, 1997; Stringfield, Ross & Smith, 1996). Such school designers also suggest that larger schools be divided into "sub-schools" of approximately these same sizes. So an elementary or secondary school with 1,000 students would be organized into two, 500-student "sub-schools," each with a separate student body, separate principal, and separate entrance, if possible (see also Murphy, Beck, Crawford, Hodges & McGaughy, 2001).

For secondary schools, moreover, research also finds that curriculum offerings should emphasize a solid core of academic classes for all students (Bryk, Lee & Holland, 1993; Lee, Croninger & Smith, 1997; Newmann & Associates, 1996). Indeed, this

research shows that the most effective strategy for having all students perform to proficiency on state standards and to close the achievement gap between minorities and non minorities is for high schools to offer a strong set of core academic courses in mathematics, science, language arts, history/social science and foreign language and require all students to take the bulk of their courses from this core (Clune & White, 1992; Lee, Croninger & Smith, 1997; Madigan, 1997; Public Agenda, 1997; Steinberg, 1997). Indeed, the Education Trust argues that one of the top two strategies for closing the achievement gap between low-income students and students of color from other adolescent Americans is having high schools prepare all students for college, i.e., to take a core of solid academics (Education Trust, 2003). It also means an end to future construction of large school buildings.¹⁰

All subsequent resource figures are for a prototypic school unit of 500 students at the elementary (K-5), middle (6-8) and high school (9-12) levels.

Class Size

Research on class size shows that **small classes of** *15* (not 18, not 20, and not a class of 30 with an instructional aide or two teachers) **in kindergarten through grade 3** have significant, positive impacts on student achievement in mathematics and reading (Achilles, 1999; Gerber, Finn, Achilles & Boyd-Zaharias, 2001; Grissmer, 1999; Mishel & Rothstein, 2002). The impact is perhaps even larger for students from low-income and minority backgrounds (Finn & Achilles, 1999; Krueger & Whitmore, 2001). Thus, class sizes should be 15 in grades kindergarten through grade 3. This policy might arguably be limited to schools that serve primarily lower income and minority students, but recent

-

 $^{^{10}}$ The other strategy is to provide a quality teacher in every classroom, a topic addressed later in this report.

research argues that the student performance impact of small class sizes is substantial for all students (Nye, Hedges & Konstantopoulous, 2002), thus suggesting that such a limiting approach to smaller class size may not be the best policy.

We recognize that different analysts have reached different conclusions on the role of resources generally and specifically the role of class size on student achievement. In a late 1970s meta-analysis of the class size research, Glass and Smith (1979) concluded that class sizes needed to be reduced to at most 15 students before an impact on achievement could be produced. However, in a re-analysis of that research, Odden (1990) noted that Glass and Smith had no sample studies of class sizes of 14-17 that actually improved student achievement, and that the class size of 15 finding was a statistical artifact of little if any impact of class size until individual tutoring was provided. And Hanushek (2002) has always questioned small class size.

But research in the late 1980s and early 1990s provided new evidence of the impact of class size on achievement. The "gold" standard of educational (or any other impact) research is randomized experiments, which provide scientific evidence on the impact of a certain treatment (Mosteller, 1995). Thus, the primary evidence on the impact of small classes today is the Tennessee STAR study, which was a large scale, randomized experiment on class sizes of 15 for kindergarten through grade 3 (Achilles, 1999; Finn, 2002; Grissmer, 1999; Krueger, 2002). The results showed that students in the small classes achieved at a significantly higher level than those in regular class sizes. The same research showed that a regular class of 24-25 with a teacher and an instructional aide did not produce a discernable positive impact on student achievement,

and thus undercut proposals to place instructional aides in elementary classrooms (Gerber, Achilles, & Boyd-Zaharias, 2001).

Though some have argued that the class size impact was produced only in the Kindergarten years (Hanushek, 2002), that argument can only be a conjecture since the experiment was for small class sizes for all of grades Kindergarten through grade 3.

Subsequent research showed that the positive impacts of the small classes in the Tennessee study persisted into middle and high school years, and even the years beyond high school (Finn, Gerger, Achilles & J.B. Zaharias, 2001; Krueger, 2002; Mishel & Rothstein, 2002; Nye, Hedges & Konstantopulos, 2001a, 2001b). Thus, although differences in analytic methods and conclusions characterize some of the debate over class size (see Hanushek, 2002 and Krueger, 2002), we side with those concluding that class size does make a difference; but we conclude that the research shows only that class sizes of 15 students and only for kindergarten through grade 3 boost student performance (Achilles, 1999; Finn, 2002; Grissmer, 1999; Krueger, 2002).

Similar research with similar findings on the effect of class of 15 for students in kindergarten through grade 3 was produced for Project Prime in Indiana (Chase, Mueller and Walden, 1986).

Class sizes in other grades should be no larger than an average of 25, which is about the national average and the size on which most comprehensive school reform models are based (Odden, 1997; Odden & Picus, 2000; Stringfield, Ross & Smith, 1996).

Current Arkansas standards require that there be no more than 20 students in Kindergarten classrooms, that the average pupil/teacher ratio for grades 1-3 in a district be no more than 23 with no more than 25 students in any actual class, that the

student/teacher ratio for grades 4-6 in a district be no more than 25 with no more than 28 students in any actual class, and that in grades 7-12, individual classes can have no more than 30 students and teachers shall not be assigned to more than 150 students in any semester. The Committee recommends resources to staff classes at the following ratios:

- K-3: 1 teacher for every 15 students
- Grades 4-8: 1 teacher for every 25 students
- Grades 9-12: 1 teacher for every 25 students with no teacher having more than 150 students for a semester.

Therefore, a K-5 elementary school of 500 students would need about 22 teachers for grades K-3 and 6-7 teachers for grades 4 and 5; middle and high school units of 500 students would need 20 content area teachers.

Principal

Each school unit needs a principal. This simply reflects current practice. All comprehensive school designs, and all prototypic school designs from professional judgment studies around the country, include a principal for every school unit. However, few if any comprehensive school designs include assistant principal positions. Drawing on the above findings, we recommend that instead of one school with a large number of students, school buildings with large numbers of students should be sub-divided into school units within the school, with each unit having a principal. This implies that one principal would be required for each group of 500 students in a school building.

Schools with 2 or more groups of 500 students could organize themselves so there was one "super-ordinate" principal in charge. And larger schools with several schools within a school could field combined athletic teams. Our point in providing resources is

simply to provide resources for groupings of 500 students, with such resources to include a principal-level position for each group.

Instructional Facilitators/School-Based Coaches/Mentors

Most comprehensive school designs, and the professional judgment panels conducted by the consultants in Kentucky (Picus, Odden & Fermanich, 2003), call for **school-based instructional facilitators** (mentors or site coaches); and the technology intensive designs also require a technology coordinator. Further, several designs suggest that while one facilitator might be sufficient for the first year implementation of a school wide program, in subsequent years an additional 0.5 to 1.0 facilitator would be needed. In addition, the technology designs recommend a full-time facilitator, who spends at least half-time as the site's technology expert. Thus, drawing from all programs, we conclude that about 2.5 instructional facilitators/technology coordinators are needed for each school unit of 500 students. This resourcing strategy works for elementary as well as middle and high schools. High schools could turn these resources into several part-time department chairs, or use them as school-wide instructional support resources.

These individuals would coordinate the instructional program, and provide the important ongoing coaching and mentoring that the professional development literature shows is so critically necessary for teachers to change and improve their instructional practice (Garet, Porter, Desimone, Birman, &Yoon, 2001; Joyce & Showers, 2002). We expand on the rationale for these individuals in our professional development section below. The technology staff would provide the technological expertise to fix small problems with the computer system, install all software, connect computer equipment so

it can be used for both instruction and management issues, and provide professional development to embed computer technologies into the curriculum.

Planning and Preparation Time/Collaborative Professional Development

Teachers need some time during the regular school day for collaborative planning, job-embedded professional development, and ongoing curriculum development and review. Schools also need to teach art, music, library skills, and physical education. Providing each teacher one period a day for collaborative planning and professional development focused on the school's curriculum requires an additional 20 percent allocation of teachers to those needed to provide the above class sizes. This assumes a five-hour teacher instructional day at the elementary level and a five period day at the high school. Alternative school organization models might require modification of the 20 percent figure. In our view, the adequate resource model should recommend an appropriate percentage – in this case 20 percent – and schools that seek to implement alternative schedules or class schedules need to work those out within the resources provided. For example, "block scheduling" for high schools require an additional 33 percent of specialist teachers, assuming the school creates a four-period, 90 minute block schedule, with teachers providing instruction for just three of those 90-minute blocks.

Note also that the primary way to provide job-imbedded professional development is to provide for and use a significant portion of planning and preparation time within the normal school day for this purpose (see Odden & Archibald 2001 for examples). Such professional development should provide between 100 and 200 hours of professional development annually for each teacher (we would recommend closer to 200 hours), should include extensive coaching in the teacher's classroom (provided by the

site-based instructional facilitators/coaches/mentors discussed above), should include all faculty in a school, should focus heavily the content and curriculum that each teacher teaches, and should be aligned with state/district content standards and student tests (Birman, Desimone, Porter & Garet, 2000; Cohen & Hill, 2001; Desimone, Porter, Garet, Yoon, & Birman, 2002, Desimone, Porter, Birman, Garet & Yoon, 2002; Garet, Birman, Porter, Desimone & Herman, 1999). Again, we expand on the structure and costs of effective professional development below.

Strategy for Struggling Students

students, *i.e.*, students who must work harder and who need more time to achieve to proficiency levels. Such students generally include those from lower income backgrounds, those struggling to learn English, and those with learning and other mild disabilities. The most powerful and effective strategy is individual one-to-one tutoring provided by licensed teachers (Shanahan, 1998; Wasik & Slavin, 1993). The standard of many comprehensive school designs is a ratio of one fully licensed teacher-tutor for every 20 percent of students in poverty, with a minimum of one for every school. Thus, school units of 500 students should have from one to five professional teacher tutor positions. Schools could deploy these resources in ways other than individual tutoring, though considerable research suggests tutoring is the most effective strategy.¹¹

With the exception of having extra teachers to teach English as a Second language to students for whom English is not their primary language, this resource strategy is

_

¹¹ In the matrix recommended by the Committee, funding for these staff are estimated using a ratio of one teacher tutor position for every 100 students who qualify for free and reduced price lunch. Thus schools with enrollments that differ substantially from 500 receive the same level of resources for children from low-income families regardless of school size.

almost but not quite sufficient for schools with English language learners. Research shows that it is the English language learners from lower income, and generally less educated backgrounds, that struggle in school and need extra help. Triggering tutoring resources on the basis of the economic background of students would provide most of the extra help resources needed for such struggling English language learners.

However, best practices and experience also show that when students are both from a low-income background and Limited-English proficient (LEP), some additional assistance is needed beyond that just for poverty. Thus the Committee recommends that every 100 students that are both LEP and from a poverty family trigger an additional 1.4 teacher positions, rather than the 1.0 if just from a poverty family.

This allocation for poverty and LEP students would need to be augmented with additional teacher positions to provide extra help for students with mild and moderate disabilities, as well as with speech and hearing handicaps. Arkansas has been a national leader in designing and implementing state-of-the-art funding approaches for students with disabilities. The most progressive approach today is called a "census" approach to providing such resources. This approach, which is embodied in the current school finance formula, assumes the incidence of these categories of disabilities is approximately equal across districts and schools and includes resources for providing needed services at an equal rate to all districts in the base allocation. Testimony from the Arkansas Department of Education, and experience around the state, shows that all districts and schools are able to provide students with mild and moderate disabilities, including students with speech and hearing handicaps, an appropriate and adequate level

of services with current resources. Thus the Committee recommends that each prototypic school of 500 students be provided an additional 2.9 positions for these services.

Schools should be free to use these resources for struggling students for whatever strategy they select, but they should be held accountable for having these students learn to state proficiency levels.

The small category of students with severe and multiple disabilities, *i.e.*, the low incidence and very high cost disabled students, are not found in equal percentages in all districts and their excess costs need to be fully funded by the state. Arkansas' current Catastrophic Funding Program for the Multiply Disabled seeks to accomplish this objective, but provides state aid only after the first \$30,000 of district expenditures for such students. Because this expenditure threshold is far above what any district receives in state equalization aid, a considerable financial burden is placed on districts for these students. An adequate approach would be for the state to reduce the expenditure threshold to about the new base expenditure level plus the amount the district receives for the student from Federal Title VI (b) funds, and to provide catastrophic funding for any expenditures above this amount. The Committee recommends these changes be made to the current catastrophic reimbursement program.

Gifted and Talented Students¹²

A sound analysis of educational adequacy should **include the gifted and talented student**, most of whom perform above state proficiency standards. Research shows that developing the potential of such students requires:

• Effort to discover the hidden talent of low income and/or culturally diverse students.

_

¹² Most of the material in this section was provided by Dr. Ann Robinson, Professor, University of Arkansas at Little Rock.

- Curriculum materials designed specifically to meet the needs of talented learners.
- Acceleration of the curriculum.
- Special training in how teachers can work effectively with talented learners.
 Discovering Hidden Talents in Low-Income and/or Culturally Diverse High

Ability Learners. Research studies on the use of performance assessments (Baum, Owen & Oreck, 1996; VanTassel-Baska, Johnson & Avery, 2002), nonverbal measures (Naglieri & Ronning, 2000; Naglieri & Ford, 2003), open-ended tasks (Scott, Deuel, Jean-Francois & Urbano, 1996), extended try-out and transitional periods (Borland & Wright, 1994; Maker, 1996), and inclusive definitions and policies (Gallagher & Coleman, 1992) document increased and more equitable identification practices for high ability culturally diverse and/or low-income learners. However, identification is not sufficient; it must be accompanied by services (Rito & Moller, 1989). Access to specialized services for talented learners in the elementary years is especially important for increased achievement among vulnerable students. For example, high ability culturally diverse learners who participated in three or more years of specialized elementary and/or middle school programming had higher achievement at high school graduation that a comparable group of high ability students who did not participate (Struck, 2003). Gains on other measures of school achievement were reported as well.

Access to Curriculum. Overall, research shows that curriculum programs specifically designed for talented learners produce greater learning than regular academic programs. Increase in the complexity of the curricular material is a key factor (Robinson & Clinkenbear, 1998). Large-scale curriculum projects in science and mathematics in the 1960s, such as the Biological Sciences Curriculum Study (BCSC), the Physical Science

Study Committee (PSSC), and the Chemical Bond Approach (CBA), benefited academically talented learners (Gallagher, J., 2002). Further, curriculum projects in the 1990s designed to increase the achievement of talented learners in core content areas such as language arts, science, and social studies produced academic gains in persuasive writing and literary analysis (VanTassel-Baska, Johnson, Hughes & Boyce, 1996; VanTassell-Baska, Zuo, Avery & Little, 2002), scientific understanding of variables (VanTassel-Baska, Bass, Ries, Poland & Avery, 1998), and problem generation and social studies content acquisition (Gallagher & Stepien, 1996; Gallagher, Stepien & Rosenthal, 1992).

Access to Acceleration. Because academically talented learners learn quickly, one effective option for serving them is acceleration of the curriculum. Many educators and members of the general public believe acceleration always means skipping a grade. However, there are at least 17 different types of acceleration ranging from curriculum compacting (which reduces the amount of time students spend on material they already know) to subject matter acceleration (going to a higher grade level for one class) to high school course options like Advanced Placement or concurrent credit (Southern, Jones & Stanley, 1993). In some cases, acceleration means content acceleration, which brings more complex material to the student at his or her current grade level. In other cases, acceleration means student acceleration, which brings the student to the material by shifting placement. Reviews of the research on different forms of acceleration have been conducted across several decades and consistently report the positive effects of acceleration on student achievement (Kulik & Kulik, 1984; Southern, Jones & Stanley, 1993), including Advanced Placement classes (Bleske-Rechek, Lubinski & Benbow, in

press). Other studies, report participant satisfaction with acceleration (Swiatek, 2002) and benign effects on social and psychological development (Rogers, 2002).

Access to Trained Teachers. Research and teacher reports indicate that general classroom teachers make very few, if any, modifications for academically talented learners (Archambault et al, 1993; Westberg, Archambault, Dobyns & Salvin, 1993), even though talented students have mastered 40 to 50 percent of the elementary curriculum before the school year begins (Reis et al, 1993). In contrast, teachers who receive appropriate training are more likely to provide classroom instruction that meets the needs of talented learners; students report differences and independent observers in the classroom document them (Hansen & Feldhusen, 1994). Curriculum and instructional adaptation requires the support of a specially trained coach at the building level, which could be embedded in the instructional facilitators recommended above (Reis et al, 1993; Reis & Purcell, 1993). Overall, learning outcomes for high ability learners are increased when they have access to programs whose staff have specialized training in working with high ability learners (Delcourt, Loyd, Cornell & Golderberg, 1994), which could be accomplished with the professional development resources recommended below.

The Committee strongly recommends that the needs of Arkansas' gifted and talented students be met. The state already has standards for such programs, the staff that teach in them, and minimum expenditures for them. Testimony by Department of Education staff concluded that current resources have resulted in all districts meeting the gifted and talented standards, the program provision requirements and resourcing. The Committee thus recommends that these standards and requirements be retained. Because the general per pupil funding base will rise given the overall recommendations of this

report, the minimum expenditure requirement for gifted and talented students will insure that more is spent on them as well.

Student Support/Family Outreach

Schools also need a student support and family outreach strategy. Various comprehensive school designs have suggested different ways to provide such a program strategy (Stringfield, Ross & Smith, 1996; for further discussion, see Brabeck, Walsh & Latta, 2003). In terms of ingredients, the more disadvantaged the student body, the more comprehensive the strategy needs to be. The general standard is one licensed professional for every 20-25 percent of students from a low-income background, with a minimum of one for each school.¹³

Although there are many ways schools can provide outreach to parents, or involve parents in school activities – from fund raisers to governance – research shows that school sponsored activities that impact achievement address what parents can do to help their children learn. For example, if the system has clear content and performance standards, which Arkansas does, helping parents and students to understand both what needs to be learned and what constitutes acceptable standards for academic performance would be helpful. Put succinctly, parent outreach that explicitly and directly addresses what parents can do to help their children learn, and to understand the standards of performance that the school expects, are the types of school-sponsored parent activities that produce discernible impacts on student's academic learning (Steinberg, 1996, 1997).

_

¹³ In the matrix recommended by the Committee, funding for these staff are estimated using a ratio of one teacher tutor position for every 100 students who qualify for free and reduced price lunch, with a minimum of one per school. Thus schools with enrollments that differ substantially from 500 receive the same level of resources for children from low-income families regardless of school size.

At the secondary level, the goal of such activities should be to have parents learn about what they should expect of their children in terms of their learning and academic performance in secondary school. If a district or a state required a minimum number of such courses for graduation, that requirement should be made clear. Further, if there were similar or more extensive course requirements for admission into state colleges and universities, those requirements should be addressed. Finally, if either average scores on end-of-course examinations or a cut-score on a comprehensive high school test were required for graduation, they too should be discussed. The point is that secondary schools need to help many parents know how to more aggressively assist their children in determining both an academic pathway through middle and high school, expectations for acceptable standards for performance, and at the high school, an understanding of the course work necessary for college entrance.

At the elementary school level, the focus for parent outreach and involvement programs should concentrate on what parents can do at home to help their children learn work for school. Too often parent programs focus on fund raising through the parent-teacher organization, involvement in decision making through school site councils, or other non-academically focused activities at the school site. Although these school-sponsored parent activities might impact other goals – such as making parents feel more comfortable being at school or involving parents more in some school policies – they have little effect on student academic achievement. Parents actions that impact learning would be to: 1) read to them at young ages, 2) discuss stories and their meanings, 3) engage in open ended conversations, 4) set aside a place where homework can be done, and 5) insure that their child completes homework assignments.

In addition, middle and high schools need some level of guidance counselor resources. We generally recommend one guidance counselor for the middle school and two for the high school, each of 500 students, based on professional standards for staffing. Indeed, at the secondary level, the American School Counselor Association recommends one counselor for every 250 students.

Intensive Professional Development¹⁴

All school faculties need **ongoing professional development**. Indeed, improving teacher effectiveness through high quality professional development is arguably as important as all of the other resource strategies identified; better instruction is the key aspect of the education system that will improve student learning (Rowan, Correnti & Miller, 2002; Sanders & Horn, 1994; Sanders & Rivers, 1996; Webster, Mendro, Orsak & Weerasinghe, 1998).

Moreover, all the resources recommended in this report need to be transformed into high quality instruction in order to transform them into increases in student learning (Cohen, Raudenbusch & Ball, 2002). And effective professional development is the primary way those resources get transformed into effective and productive instructional practices.

Fortunately, there is recent and substantial research on effective professional development and its costs (e.g., Elmore, 2002; Joyce & Showers, 2002; Miles, Odden, Archibald, Fermanich & Gallagher, 2002). Effective professional development is defined as professional development that produces change in teachers' classroom-based instructional practice, which can be linked to improvements in student learning. The practices and principles researchers and professional development organizations use to

_

¹⁴ This draws from Odden, Archibald, Fermanich & Gallagher, 2002.

characterize "high quality" or "effective" professional development draw upon a series of empirical research studies that linked program strategies to changes in teachers' instructional practice and subsequent increases in student achievement. These studies include, among others, the long-term efforts of Bruce Joyce (Joyce & Calhoun, 1996; Joyce & Showers, 2002), research on the change process (Fullan, 2002), a longitudinal analysis of efforts to improve mathematics in California (Cohen & Hill, 2001), Elmore's study of District #2 in New York City (Elmore & Burney, 1999), the Consortium for Policy Research in Education longitudinal study of sustained professional development provided by the Merck Institute for Science Education (Supovitz & Turner, 2000), studies of comprehensive professional development to improve science teaching and learning (Loucks-Horsley, Love, Stiles, Mundry & Hewsen, 2003), and an evaluation of the federal Eisenhower mathematics and science professional development program (Garet, Birman, Porter, Desimone & Herman, 1999).

Combined, these studies identified six structural features of effective professional development:

- 1) The **form** of the activity that is, whether the activity is organized as a study group, teacher network, mentoring collaborative, committee or curriculum development group. The above research suggests that effective professional development should be school-based, job-embedded and focused on the curriculum taught rather than a one-day workshop.
- 2) The **duration** of the activity, including the total number of contact hours that participants are expected to spend in the activity, as well as the span of time over which the activity takes place. The above research has shown the importance of continuous, ongoing, long-term professional development that totals a substantial number of hours each year, at least 100 hours and closer to 200 hours.
- 3) The degree to which the activity emphasizes the **collective participation** of teachers from the same school, department, or grade level. The above research suggests that effective professional development should be organized

- around groups of teachers from a school that over time includes the entire faculty (e.g., Garet, Birman, Porter, Desimone & Herman, 1999).
- 4) The degree to which the activity has a **content focus** that is, the degree to which the activity is focused on improving and deepening teachers' content knowledge as well as how students learn that content. The above research concludes that teachers need to know well the content they teach, need to know common student miscues or problems students typically have learning that content, and effective instructional strategies linking the two (Bransford, Brown & Cocking, 1999; Kennedy, 1998).
- 5) The extent to which the activity offers opportunities for **active learning**, such as opportunities for teachers to become engaged in the meaningful analysis of teaching and learning; for example, by scoring student work or developing and "perfecting" a standards-based curriculum unit. The above research has shown that professional development is most effective when it includes opportunities for teachers to work directly on incorporating the new techniques into their instructional practice (e.g., Joyce & Showers, 2002).
- 6) The degree to which the activity promotes **coherence** in teachers' professional development, by aligning professional development to other key parts of the education system such as student content and performance standards, teacher evaluation, school and district goals, and the development of a professional community. The above research supports tying professional development to a comprehensive, inter-related change process focused on improving student learning.

Form, duration, and active learning together imply that effective professional development includes some initial learning (*e.g.* a two-week – 10 day – summer training institute) as well as considerable longer-term work in which teachers incorporate the new methodologies into their actual classroom practice. Active learning implies some degree of coaching during regular school hours to help the teacher incorporate new strategies in his/her normal instructional practices. It should be clear that the longer the duration, and the more the coaching, the more time is required of teachers as well as professional development trainers and coaches. Content focus means that effective professional development focuses largely on subject matter knowledge, what is known about how students learn that subject, and the actual curriculum that is used in the school to teach

this content. Collective participation implies that the best professional development includes groups of and at some point all teachers in a school, who then work together to implement the new strategies, and in the process, help build a professional school community. Coherence suggests that the professional development is more effective when the signals from the policy environment (federal, state, district, and school) reinforce rather than contradict one another or send multiple, confusing messages. Coherence also implies that professional development opportunities should be given as part of implementation of new curriculum and instructional approaches. Note that there is little support in this research for the development of individually oriented professional development plans; the research implies a much more systemic and all-teachers-in-the-school approach.

Each of these six structural features has cost implications. Form, duration, collective participation, and active learning require various amounts of both teacher and trainer/coach/mentor time, during the regular school day and year and, depending on the specific strategies, outside of the regular day and year as well. This time costs money. Further, all professional development strategies require some amount of administration, materials and supplies, and miscellaneous financial support for travel and fees. Both the above programmatic features and the specifics of their cost implications are helpful to comprehensively describe specific professional development programs and their related costs.

From this research on the features of effective professional development, we conclude that the resources needed to deploy this kind of professional development, which is key to transforming all the resources we recommend into student learning, are:

- a. **Some time during the summer for intensive training institutes**. This can most easily be accomplished by insuring that approximately 10 days of the teacher's normal work year will be dedicated to professional development. Due to the fact that the current Arkansas teacher year is 185 days, and includes 5 days for professional development, this recommendation requires an increase of 5 days to the contract, to produce the minimum number of 10 days.
- b. **On-site coaching for all teachers** to help them incorporate the practices into their instructional repertoire. The instructional facilitators described above would provide this function.
- c. Collaborative work with teachers in their school during planning and preparation periods to improve the curriculum and instructional program, thus reinforcing the strategic and instrumental need for planning and preparation time during the regular school day. This will require smart scheduling of teachers during the regular school day and week.
- d. **Funds for training** during the summer and for some ongoing training during the school year, the cost of which is about \$25,000 for a school unit of 500 students, or \$50/pupil.

Thus, the teacher year should be extended by 5 days to provide a total of 10 days for intensive summer institutes, coaching should be provided by the instructional facilitators included above, collaborative work should be conducted during the planning and preparation time that is included above, and an additional \$50 per student, or about \$25,000 in a 500 student school unit, would be needed for trainer and other miscellaneous professional development costs.

Technology

Over time, schools need to **embed technology in instructional programs and school management strategies**. Recent research reviews, moreover, have documented a positive impact on student test scores of curriculum programs that embed technology into the instructional delivery system. The reviews documented effect sizes from a 0.30 (Waxman, Connell & Gray, 2002) to a 0.38 standard deviation improvement in test scores (Murphy, Penuel, Means, Korbak, Whaley & Allen, 2002), thus approximating the effects of class size reduction in the early grades.

Based on school designs that include such technology, the costs for a school unit of 500 students are about \$125,000, or \$250/student, for purchase, updating, and maintenance of hardware and software, which for at least the next decade should be viewed as an annual operating cost (Odden, 1997).

Fortunately, Arkansas has developed a substantial technology infrastructure over the years, so most if not all schools are linked to the Internet and to district offices and/or a state network. At school sites, however, investments in computer hardware and software are too often conceived as one-time capital expenditures, whereas in reality most computer related-technologies need to be maintained, fixed, upgraded and replaced over time.

From estimates of these costs, both from several technology heavy comprehensive school designs (Odden, 1997) and from estimates in the state of Kentucky (see Odden, Fermanich & Picus, 2003), the Committee recommends a figure of about \$250 per student. This should be sufficient to keep local technology working and updated and for schools to have an overall ratio of one computer for every 3 students. For clarity, the

latter ratio would be sufficient to provide every teacher, the principal and other key school level staff with a computer, and to have an actual ratio of about 1 computer for every 4 students in each classroom. This level of funding would also allow for the technology infrastructure needed for distance learning programs.

Other Resources

As should be clear, the above recommendations do not include all the resources that schools require. This section makes recommendations on the following items:

- Additional positions for librarians in middle and high schools
- Resources for substitute teachers
- A per pupil amount for instructional materials, supplies, equipment, and student activities, including athletics for middle and high schools.
- Operations and maintenance, clerical staff, and perhaps food services, although food services should be a self-sustaining accounted for in a separate enterprise fund.

Librarians. According to state regulations, every school must have a library. However, modern technologies allow schools to operate a library with more computer technologies, included above, and less staff. Further, many elementary librarians teach students for much of the day as part of special subject offerings. Thus, the Committee recommends that librarian resources be taken from the specialist teacher allocation for elementary schools, and that a 1.0 and 1.5 allocation for library/media staff be provided for middle and high schools, respectively.

Substitute teachers. Schools need some level of substitute teacher allocations.

Based on other studies, the Committee recommends that each school receive an amount

of money equal to 10 days for each regular classroom and specialist teacher, funded at the level of \$100 per day, with social security and state retirement benefits, for a total of \$121 per day.

<u>Instructional materials and supplies</u>. Based on recommendations in other states, the Committee recommends that each school be provided with \$250 per pupil for instructional materials and supplies.

Instructional aides. Note that there are no instructional aides in the above model, mainly because research generally shows they do not add value, *i.e.*, do not positively impact student academic achievement (Achilles, 1999; Gerber, Finn, Achilles & Boyd-Zaharias, 2001). At the same time, districts may want to consider a possible use of instructional aides that is supported by research. Farkas (1998) has shown that if aides are selected according to clear and rigorous literacy criteria, are trained in a specific reading tutoring program, provide individual tutoring to students in reading, and are supervised, then they can have a significant impact on student reading attainment. Some districts have used Farkas-type tutors for students still struggling in reading in the upper elementary grades.

Operations and maintenance, and clerical staff. The Committee recommends that current amounts spent for these functions be retained and included in each school's resources. Any other modifications in operations and maintenance costs would derive from the parallel study of facility needs, which is being conducted by another legislative Committee.

Benchmarking Teacher Salaries in an Adequate School Finance System

The last step in both the professional consensus and the evidence-based approaches to determining adequacy is appropriately pricing all ingredients. This includes setting teacher salary levels. At this step, both procedures often use a statewide average teacher salary, which significantly mis-specifies what districts need to pay for quality teacher talent. Adjusting the statewide average by the geographic cost of education index developed by the National Center for Education Statistics (Fowler & Monk, 2001), which generally shows the variation districts need to pay for teacher quality in the context of a given set of teacher qualities, is an improvement over using just the statewide average. These cost indices usually show that metropolitan districts need to spend more than other districts to recruit a comparable level of teacher quality. For example, in a recent study in Wisconsin, Imazeki (2000) found this to be the case for Milwaukee vis-à-vis its surrounding suburbs. She concluded that Milwaukee would need to pay teachers 30 percent more than its surrounding suburbs in order to recruit and retain the same level of teacher talent.

A second and more comprehensive strategy would be to **determine salary benchmarks for competing states**. This approach would identify not only the salary

benchmark for beginning teachers, but also the benchmarks for mid-career and top-career

teacher salaries. Surrounding states or some other grouping of states, including the

Southern Regional Education Board (SREB) states, could define competing states. In

addition, salary benchmarks could be developed by comparisons with both the education

and the non-education private sector labor market, which increasingly is recruiting

education talent. Indeed, at some point the Arkansas education system will need to

recognize that all teachers do not compete in the same labor markets, and that schools may have to **pay higher salaries for mathematics, science**, and other teachers with sought-after specialties or lose their ability to retain high-quality individuals in these subject-matter areas (Goldhaber, 2001; Milanowski, 2002b; Murnane, 1996). It also may take additional incentives to recruit and retain teachers in rural school districts.

In addition, the typical **single salary structure**, which provides salary increases on the basis of years of experience (steps) and education units/degrees (columns), is ineffective in recruiting and paying high-quality teachers (Ballou & Podgursky, 1997; Odden & Kelley, 2002). Several researchers (Goldhaber, 2001; Kelley, 1997; Milanowski, 2002a; Mohrman, Mohrman & Odden, 1996; Murnane, 1996; Odden and Kelly, 1997, 2002) argue that the single salary schedule is no longer aligned with the goals and strategies of standards-based education reform and does not pay for teacher qualities that are linked to teacher effectiveness. By contrast, a new base pay structure called **knowledge and skills-based pay (KSBP) programs** could reward teachers for acquiring and deploying the knowledge and the skills needed to successfully teach a standards-based curriculum (Odden, 2000b, 2001a, 2003).

Knowledge and skills-based salary schedules would link teacher pay levels to teacher knowledge, skills, classroom performance, and effectiveness in the classroom. If instructional practice – teacher clinical expertise – were the basis of key salary increases, instead of years of experience and education units, the salary structure would link salary hikes to enhanced classroom effectiveness. Indeed, preliminary evidence of the knowledge and skills-based teacher salary schedules in Cincinnati and the Vaughn Charter school, and in the standards-based teacher evaluation system in Washoe County

(Reno, Nevada) indicate that the higher the teacher evaluation score, which indicates instructional expertise, the greater value-added student learning produced in the individual teacher's classroom (Gallagher, H.A., 2002, 2004 forthcoming; Holtzapple, 2001, 2002; Kimball, White, Milanowski & Borman, 2004, forthcoming; Milanowski, 2003). In addition, Wayne and Youngs (2003), Goldhaber (2001), and Murnane (1996) conclude that additional salary differentials should be provided for teachers with majors or master's degrees in mathematics or science, with higher GRE scores, and with degrees from higher quality colleges and universities, as these qualities are linked to improved student learning.

The Joint Committee undertook a special set of studies on these salary issues. At its July and August, 2003 meetings, it decided to raise teacher salaries through a new knowledge- and skills-based structure, with additional incentives for teachers in rural areas and in subject area shortages such as mathematics and science. It also approved a recommendation for a school-based bonus program that would provide annual bonuses for all staff in a school if it – the school – meets preset targets for improved student performance. These analyses and recommendations are included in an accompanying report on these issues.

Linking teacher compensation levels to school finance formulas. States such as Arizona, Iowa, Florida, and Minnesota are experimenting with ways to include alternative salary structures in new state school finance systems.

The most straightforward approach is to have minimum salary figures attached to each level of teacher performance, as well as minimum differentials or "adders" for mathematics and science degrees, and perhaps for teaching in a rural school as well. All

salary figures should be benchmarked to a level that allows all districts in the state to compete in the education and broader labor market for necessary teacher talent. The foundation expenditure level in the school finance formula, then, needs to be calibrated so that the average district, with the average staffing level, would be able to pay those minimum but benchmarked salary levels. This would make both the structure of teacher pay more appropriate and the level of teacher pay adequate. In this way, the finance structure promotes adequacy as well as teacher quality: teacher salary levels high enough to allow districts and schools to recruit and retain the quality of teachers they need.

3. Other State Professional Judgment Panel Recommendations

In this section, we compare the staffing and resources proposed above with similar prototypical school proposals that emerged from several recent professional judgment approaches to determining adequacy in several states around the country. We have selected five other studies, one that our consultants Picus, Odden and Fermanich (2003) recently completed for the state of Kentucky, and four completed by the firm of Augenblick and Meyers during the past 3 years for Kansas, Nebraska, Montana, and Maryland. Tables 1, 2 and 3 display the characteristics for each of prototypical elementary, middle and high schools.

There are several differences and similarities between the proposed adequate resources in Table E.1 above and the professional judgment studies. The following summarizes these points:

- All models have a principal.
- The proposed Arkansas models have instructional facilitators rather than assistant principals.

- The professional judgment models have smaller class sizes; the proposed
 Arkansas models have class sizes of 15 for only K-3, and the report argues that
 there is no research supporting class sizes of 22, 20 or lower at the secondary
 levels.
- The Arkansas model proposes 20 percent more teachers for specialist subjects,
 while the other models often provide more than that amount.
- The Arkansas model proposes a more parsimonious but still adequate level of resources for struggling, disabled and ELL students, while the professional judgment panels propose several additional special education teachers.
- The Arkansas model proposes pupil support resources that vary with poverty, while the other models do not.
- The Arkansas model has a more integrated and comprehensive professional development strategy.
- The professional judgment models include specific library staff resources for middle and high schools, which led to the librarian proposals above.
- The Arkansas model is more skeptical about instructional aides, and would only
 propose, if any, Farkas-type tutoring while most professional judgment panels
 include an assortment of instructional aides.
- The professional judgment panels that recommended about 10 days per teacher of substitute resources are about right; a small survey found about that level in Kentucky. The Committee has accepted this recommendation.
- All models essentially agree that the computer technologies require an annual expenditure of about \$250/pupil.

 The professional judgment models suggest various levels of dollars per pupil for instructional materials, equipment, supplies and student activities, including athletics in secondary schools. The Committee recommends a figure of \$250 per pupil as an adequate number for Arkansas.

At this point, the Joint Committee accepted the proposals from the various professional judgment panels in other states to enhance the guidance counseling resources, for librarian staff in middle and high schools, at least 10 days of substitute time for each teacher, and for some level of dollars per pupil for instructional materials, equipment, supplies and student activities, with larger amounts for secondary schools to include resources for the athletic program.

The consultants did not recommend the addition of assistant principals; in their view, the proposals for instructional facilitators obviate these staff. The consultants also did not recommend the addition or more instructional aides, and the Committee concurred. After Arkansas Department of Education input, the Committee augmented the initial level of special education staffing from 2.0 to 2.9.

The consultants and the Committee maintain a commitment to the proposed resources for comprehensive professional development, because it will be improved instruction that will translate these adequate school level resources into improved student achievement (Cohen, Raudenbush & Ball, 2002).

Table 1
Summary of Resources for Prototypic <u>Elementary</u>
Schools from Professional Judgment Panels in Several States

School Element	April 7 Arkansas Proposal	Kentucky, Picus & Odden	Kansas, Augenblick & Meyers	Nebraska, Augenblick & Meyers	Montana, Augenblick & Meyers	Maryland, Augenblick & Meyers
School configuration	K-5	K-5	K-5	K-6	K-5	K-5
School size	500	400	430	350	360	500
Class size	K-3: 15 4-5: 25	~20	~20	~17.5	~21	~15
Full day kindergarten	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes
Length of teacher work year	10 extra days	200 days				
% Disabled	13.1 %	10 % moderate	14 %	13 %	12 %	13.5%
% Poverty (free & reduced lunch)	47.7 %	50 %	36 %	32 %	24%	31 %
% ELL	~ 4 %	~ 4 %	4 %	5 %	5 %	3 %
% Minority	28.8 %				5 %Native American	46 %
Principal	1	1	1	1	1	1
Assistant Principal	0	0	0	0	0	1
Instructional Facilitators/Mentors	2.5	1	0	0	0	1
Teachers	29	24	22	20	17	33
Specialist teachers	20 % more: 6	~5	4.4	2	3	6
Instructional aides	0	8	1	0	3.5	15
Teachers for struggling students	1/each 20% poverty: 2.5	1/each 25% poverty:	4	1	0	0
Teachers for students with disabilities	2	5	6	3.5	3.2	5.5

Table 1 (Continued) Summary of Resources for Prototypic <u>Elementary</u> Schools from Professional Judgment Panels in Several States

School Element	April 7 Arkansas Proposal	Kentucky, Picus & Odden	Kansas, Augenblick & Meyer	Nebraska, Augenblick & Meyer	Montana, Augenblick & Meyer	Maryland, Augenblick & Meyer
Teachers for ELL students	Included in struggling students category	1	1	1	Extra 24 % for each Native American student	0
Teachers for gifted students	0	0	0	0	0	0
Aides for categorical students	0		10	6	4	6
Pupil support staff	1/each 20% poverty: 2.5	3	3	2.1	1.6	7
Librarians/media specialists	Included in specialists	Included in specialists	1	1	1	1.5
Technology resource teachers	Included in Inst. Facilitators	1	1	0.5	1	2
Substitutes	10 days for each professional staff	1 permanent plus additional funds for typical use	2 permanent	10 days for each professional staff	\$19,800	3 permanent
Professional development	10 days plus \$50/pupil	10 summer days included in 200 day year, plus \$500/teacher	5 days plus \$500/teacher	5 days plus \$200/teacher	8 days	10 days
Technology	\$250/pupil	\$265/pupil	\$250/pupil	\$250/pupil	\$275/pupil	\$160/pupil
Instructional materials, equipment, student activities	\$250/pupil	\$250/pupil	\$270/pupil	\$90/pupil	\$300/pupil	\$205/pupil
Teacher salary levels	To be determined	National Average	State average	State average	State average + 4.4 % to comparative state average	State average + 1.6 % to comparative state average

Table 2
Summary of Resources for Prototypical Middle
Schools from Professional Judgment Panels in Several States

School	April 7 Arkansas	Kentucky, Picus &	Kansas, Augenblick	Nebraska, Augenblick	Montana, Augenblick	Maryland, Augenblick &
Element	Proposal	Odden	& Meyer	& Meyer	& Meyer	Meyer
School	6-8	6-8	6-8	7-8	6-8	6-8
configuration						
School size	500	500	430	680	630	800
Class size	25	20	~22	~20	~25	~22
Length of teacher work year	10 extra days	200				
% Disabled	13.1 %	10 %	14 %	13 %	12 %	13.5%
% Poverty (free & reduced lunch)	47.7 %	50 %	36 %	32 %	24%	31 %
% ELL	~4 %	~4 %	4 %	5 %	5 %	3 %
% Minority	28.8 %			<u></u>	5 %Native American	46 %
Principal	1	1	1	1	1	1
Assistant Principal	0	0	1	1	1.5	3
Instructional Facilitators/ Mentors	2.5	1	0	0	0	0
Teachers	20	25	19.5	24	25	36
Specialist teachers	20% more: 4	20 % more: 5	6.5	20	10	9
Instructional aides	0		1	0	6	10
Teachers for struggling students	1/each 20% poverty: 2.5		4	3	0	0

Table 2 (Continued) Summary of Resources for Prototypical Middle Schools from Professional Judgment Panels in Several States

School Element	April 7 Arkansas Proposal	Kentucky, Picus & Odden	Kansas, Augenblick & Meyer	Nebraska, Augenblick & Meyer	Montana, Augenblick & Meyer	Maryland, Augenblick & Meyer
Teachers for students with disabilities	Extra weight of 2.35 for each student	7, plus 1 more if % poverty > 75%	7	5	6.25	7
Teachers for ELL students	Included in struggling students category	1	1	2	Extra 24 % for each Native American student	0
Teachers for gifted students	0	0	0	0	0	0
Aides for categorical students	0	0	13	8	7	6
Pupil support staff	1/each 20% poverty + 1 guidance: 3.5	4.5	3.8	4.8	3.2	10
Librarians/med ia specialists	1	1	1.5	1	1.5	2
Technology resource teachers	Included in instructional facilitators	1	1	1	1.5	2
Substitutes	10 days for each professional staff	1 permanent Plus dollars for more	3 permanent	10 days for each professional staff	\$34,650	3 permanent
Professional development	10 days plus \$50/pupil	10 summer days included in 200 day year, plus \$500/teacher	5 days + \$500/teacher	5 days + \$200/teacher	8 days	10 days
Technology	\$250/pupil	\$265/pupil	\$250/pupil	\$250/pupil	\$275/pupil	\$137/pupil
Instructional materials, equipment, student activities	\$250/pupil +	\$250/pupil + \$60/pupil for extra duties for teachers	\$465/pupil	\$190/pupil	\$600/pupil	\$305/pupil
Teacher salary levels	To be determined	National Average	State average	State average	State average + 4.4 % to comparative state average	State average + 1.6 % to comparative state average

Table 3
Summary of Resources for Prototypical <u>High</u>
Schools from Professional Judgment Panels in Several States

School Element	April 7 Arkansas Proposal	Kentucky, Picus & Odden	Kansas, Augenblick & Meyer	Nebraska, Augenblick & Meyer	Montana, Augenblick & Meyer	Maryland, Augenblick & Meyer
School configuration	9-12	9-12	9-12	9-12	9-12	9-12
School size	500	800	1150	1900	1300	1000
Class size	25	20	~23	~19	~20	~17
Length of teacher work year	10 extra days	200 days, including 10 summer PD days				
% Disabled	13.1 %	10 %	14 %	13 %	12 %	13.5%
% Poverty (free & reduced lunch)	47.7 %	50 %	36 %	32 %	24%	31 %
% ELL	~4 %	~4 %	4 %	5 %	5 %	3 %
% Minority	28.8 %				5 %Native American	46 %
Principal	1	1	1	1	1	1
Assistant Principal	0	1	3	6.5	3	5
Instructional Facilitators/ Mentors	2.5	2	0	0	0	0
Teachers	20	40	49.5	120	81	69
Specialist teachers	20% more: 4	20% more: 8	14.5			
Instructional aides	0		2		6.5	4
Teachers for struggling students	1/each 20% poverty: 2.5	8	10	8	0	0

Table 3 (Continued) Summary of Resources for Prototypical <u>High</u> Schools from Professional Judgment Panels in Several States

School Element	April 7 Arkansas Proposal	Kentucky, Picus & Odden	Kansas, Augenblick & Meyers	Nebraska, Augenblick & Meyers	Montana, Augenblick & Meyers	Maryland, Augenblick & Meyers
Teachers for students with disabilities	Extra weight of 2.35 for each student		15	14	12	8
Teachers for ELL students	Included in struggling students category	2	2	5	Extra 24 % for each Native American student	0
Teachers for gifted students	0	0	0	0	0	0
Aides for categorical students	0		24	13	14	7
Pupil support staff	1/each 20% poverty + 2 Guidance: 4.5	8	7	11	7	8
Librarians/ media specialists	1.5	2	2	2	2	2
Technology resource teachers	Included in Instructional Facilitators	2	1	1	2	2
Substitutes	10 days for each professional staff	2 permanent + typical use for illness and PD	9 permanent	10 days for each professional staff	\$80,000	6 permanent
Professional development	10 summer days plus \$50/pupil	10 summer days included in 200 day year, plus \$500/teacher	5 days + \$500/teacher	5 days + \$200/teacher	8 days	10 days
Technology	\$250/pupil	\$264/pupil	\$250/pupil	\$250/pupil	\$275/pupil	\$162/pupil
Instructional materials, equipment, student activities	\$250/pupil +	\$150/pupil plus \$120/pupil for extra duties for teachers	\$635/pupil	\$530/pupil	\$900/pupil	\$850/pupil
Teacher salary levels	To be determined	National Average	State average	State average	State average + 4.4 % to comparative state average	State average + 1.6 % to comparative state average

4. Key Arkansas Professional Judgment Panel Recommendations

On June 11 and 12, 2003, 70 leading Arkansas educators met in Little Rock in two Professional Judgment Panels. The members of the panels, their charge, and copies of the materials provided to them are included in Appendices B and C of this report. The charge to the Professional Judgment Panels was to review the preliminary recommendations that were proposed by the consultants in the April 7th draft report, together with the changes tentatively approved by the Joint Committee during its May 21, 2003 meeting. At the May 21 meeting, the Joint Committee tentatively decided to:

- Include a statement that would retain current gifted and talented standards and expenditure requirements
- b. Increase the disabilities staffing for the prototypical school from 2.0 to 2.9 positions
- c. Enhance resources for students who were both poor and LEP from 1.0 staff for every 100 such students, to 1.4 staff for every 100.
- d. Develop the funding of some kind of Alternative Learning Environment (ALE) program and its required resources.

The Professional Judgment Panels accepted all the recommendations in the April 7, 2003, draft report, together with the above-recommended changes developed by the Committee, and recommended four additional changes:

1. Change the class size formulas as follows:

- a. Elementary
 - i. K-3 \rightarrow Remain at 15
 - ii. Grades 4-5 → Reduce to 20
- b. Middle School, Grades 6-8 → Reduce to 22
- c. High School, Grades 9-12 → Keep at 25 but indicate a maximum of 150 students per teacher per semester

2. Assistant Principals and Instructional Facilitators

For all school levels, change the wording to reflect a total of 3.0 for each level, with a maximum of 1.0 for the position of assistant principal.

3. Supervisory Aides

In order to comply with a recent state law to reduce teacher non-instructional duties to at most 1 hour a week, and to insure that students were supervised during the morning when they disembarked from buses, during lunch and recess, and in the afternoon when they left school and boarded buses, include \$35 per pupil for supervisory services at all three school levels.

4. Extra Duty Funds

One panel recommended that extra duty funds be provided at the rate of \$30 per student for the elementary school level.

After extensive discussion of each recommendation at its July 14-16, 2003 meetings, the Joint Committee decided to reject the class size reduction proposal but to retain the 150 maximum students for the high school, to reject the transformation of and additional funding for, assistant principals, and approved the proposal for the supervisory aides. The extra duty funds for just elementary schools were not debated.

5. Pro-ration

Due to the fact that resources are developed for prototypical schools of 500 students, the resources need to be tailored to the actual enrollments in and characteristics of each Arkansas school, so thus need to be proportionately prorated up for school units with more than 500

students (for example, doubled for a secondary school with 1000 students) and prorated down proportionately for school units with than 500 fewer students. More complex pro-rating mechanisms would need to be developed for schools with fewer than 200 or so students.

One Professional Judgment Panel addressed this complex issue of prorating the numbers in the Prototypical School Models to the actual enrollment of each school in Arkansas. The following are the recommendations, which generally follow what the consultants have done in other contexts, with the exceptions noted:

For all schools:

Numbers of teacher positions will be prorated up or down depending on actual enrollment, and the class size formula for each grade level.

For "small" schools:

The following will be the minimum number of positions regardless of school size, and generally the minimums are the numbers for a school with 200 students:

- 1.0 Facilitators/mentors
- 1.0 Tutor
- 1.0 Pupil support staff
- 0.5 Teachers for disabilities
- 0.5 Librarian (just for middle and high schools).

Minimum number of teachers:

There was discussion of a minimum number of teachers for schools with less than 200 students. This discussion centered around the basic school configuration for small districts of one K-6 school, and one 7-12 school.

For the K-6 school, the discussion was whether there should be a minimum number of teachers of seven, i.e., at least one teacher for each grade. The Panel voted about 50-50 on this recommendation. Those opposing said multi-age groupings could accommodate classroom organization if there were a smaller number of teachers.

For the 7-12 school, the discussion was whether there should be a minimum number of teachers in grades 9-12 so that all 38 required courses could be taught by a certified teacher at the school. This number was about 10.

At the same time, others have said there are alternative ways to teach courses than having an actual teacher in the school. Alternatives include:

- a. distance education
- b. sharing teachers with other schools/districts
- c. cooperative programs, especially dual enrollment.

If these options were selected, teachers could simply be pro rated to whatever the student enrollment would provide. The panel voted about 50-50 for a minimum number of teachers at the high school level.

During its July 14-16, 2003 meetings, the issue of a minimum number of teachers was debated extensively. At the end, the Joint Committee voted not to provide a minimum number of teachers, for either elementary or secondary schools, but simply to provide teachers that would be triggered by the class size ratios. The Committee did, however, approve the minimum number of instructional facilitators, tutors, support staff, teachers for children with disabilities and librarians at a total of 4.0 positions.

5. Proposed Resources for Prototypical Arkansas Elementary, Middle and High Schools

Given the conclusions reflected in Section 2, input and testimony from the Arkansas

Department of Education, the proposals from the professional judgment panels in other states
accepted in Section 3, and the Arkansas Professional Judgment Panel recommendations accepted
in Section 4, the Committee's draft recommendations are as follows in Table 4.

As described above, the numbers would be proportionately prorated up and down to the actual enrollments of each Arkansas school, with the minimums as just described above for small schools. Further, the resources shown in Table 4 would enable schools to deploy any of the more than a dozen comprehensive school reform strategies currently in use (Odden, 2000a; Erlichson, Goertz & Turnbull, 1999).

Table 4
Recommendations for Adequate Resources for
Prototypical Arkansas Elementary, Middle and High Schools¹

School Element	Elementary Schools	Middle Schools	High Schools
School Characteristics			
School configuration	K-5	6-8	9-12
Prototypic school size	500	500	500
Class size	K-3: 15	6-8: 25	9-12: 25
	4-5: 25		Maximum of 150
		2.7.4	students per semester
Full-day kindergarten	Yes	NA	NA
Pre-school	Yes, 1 Teacher and 1 Teacher Assistant for every 20 children, aged 3 or 4 from a family with income of 200% of poverty or below	NA	NA
Length of teacher work year	190 day teacher contract, so an increase of 5 days	190 day teacher contract, so an increase of 5 days	190 day teacher contract, so an increase of 5 days
% Disabled	13.1 %	13.1 %	13.1 %
% Poverty (free & reduced lunch)	47.4 %	47.4 %	47.4 %
% ELL	3.86 %	3.86 %	3.86 %
% Minority	28.8 %	28.8 %	28.8 %
Personnel Resources			
Principal	1	1	1
Instructional	2.5	2.5	2.5
Facilitators/Mentors			
Teachers	29	20	20
Specialist teachers	20% more: 6	20% more: 4	20% more: 4
Instructional aides	0	0	0
Teachers for struggling students	1/each 20% poverty or one for every 100 poverty students: 2.5	1/each 20% poverty or one for every 100 poverty students: 2.5	1/each 20% poverty or one for every 100 poverty students: 2.5
Teachers for ELL students	An additional 0.4 teachers for every 100 ELL/LEP students who are also from a poverty family	An additional 0.4 teachers for every 100 ELL/LEP students who are also from a poverty family	An additional 0.4 teachers for every 100 ELL/LEP students who are also from a poverty family

Table 4 (Continued) Recommendations for Adequate Resources for Prototypical Arkansas Elementary, Middle and High Schools

School Element	Elementary Schools	Middle Schools	High Schools
School Characteristics			
Alternative Learning Environment	1 Teacher for every 20 ALE students	1 Teacher for every 20 ALE students	1 Teacher for every 20 ALE students
Teachers for students with moderate disabilities/speech /hearing	2.9	2.9	2.9
Severe Disabilities	Keep current Catastrophic Program but reduce expenditure threshold to the base allocation. Also deduct Federal Title VI (b) funds in calculating catastrophic aid.	Keep current Catastrophic Program but reduce expenditure threshold to the base allocation. Also deduct Federal Title VI (b) funds in calculating catastrophic aid.	Keep current Catastrophic Program but reduce expenditure threshold to the base allocation. Also deduct Federal Title VI (b) funds in calculating catastrophic aid.
Teachers for gifted students	Retain current standards, expenditure requirements and monitoring.	Retain current standards, expenditure requirements and monitoring.	Retain current standards, expenditure requirements and monitoring.
Aides for categorical students	0	0	0
Pupil support staff	1/each 20% poverty, or 1 for every 100 poverty students: 2.5	1 for every 100 poverty students plus 1.0 guidance 3.5 total	1 for every 100 poverty students plus 2.0 guidance 4.5 total
Librarians/ media specialists	0; included with specialist teachers	1.0	1.5
Technology resource teachers	Included in Instructional Facilitators	Included in Instructional Facilitators	Included in Instructional Facilitators
Substitutes	10 days per teacher	10 days per teacher	10 days per teacher
Dollar per Pupil Resources			
Professional development	Included above: Instructional facilitators Planning & prep time 10 summer days Additional: \$50/pupil for other PD expenses – trainers, conferences, travel, etc.	Included above: Instructional facilitators Planning & prep time 10 summer days Additional: \$50/pupil for other PD expenses – trainers, conferences, travel, etc.	Included above: Instructional facilitators Planning & prep time 10 summer days Additional: \$50/pupil for other PD expenses – trainers, conferences, travel, etc.
Technology	\$250/pupil	\$250/pupil	\$250/pupil

Table 4 (Continued) Recommendations for Adequate Resources for Prototypical Arkansas Elementary, Middle and High Schools

School Element	Elementary Schools	Middle Schools	High Schools
School Characteristics			
Instructional materials, equipment, student activities	\$250/pupil	\$250/pupil	\$250/pupil
Extra duty funds	NA	\$60/pupil	\$120/pupil
Funds for Supervisory Aides (lunch, playground, buses)	\$35/pupil	\$35/pupil	\$35/pupil

¹ The Committee recognizes that the definition of educational adequacy is a dynamic, not a static concept and that as research into effective educational practices continues to improve our knowledge of how children learn and what programs and methods work best, the kinds and type of resources specified in the matrix may change in response to that knowledge.

Teacher Salaries: Include an 18 percent salary increase for teachers that includes: 13 percent to increase teacher contracts by five days a year and bring salaries to a level that is competitive with the market in the six surrounding states through a new Knowledge and Skills-Based Single Salary Schedule; 5 percent for "adders" to provide additional funding for geographically undesirable areas, subject areas where there are teacher shortages and for advanced educational degrees. In addition the model calls for a \$30 million school-based bonus program designed around improvements in student performance.

Missing from this table is preschool for children aged 3 and 4 from families with an income at or below 200% of the family poverty level. At its August 2003 meetings, the Committee decided to enhance and broaden its current A Better Chance (ABC) pre-school program. It recommended that all children aged 3 and 4 residing in families with an income at or below 200 percent of the poverty program have access to pre-school services in an ABC program. These programs are full day, operate for 36 weeks a year, staff at a ratio of one teacher

and one aide for every 20 students, and pay teachers at an annual level close to the proposed level for public school teachers.

Finally, at its meetings July 14-16, 2003, the Joint Committee addressed the issue of the teacher salary levels to be used in determining costs. The Committee discussed the Geographic Cost of Education Index, which has been developed for all districts in the country including all in Arkansas by the National Center for Education Statistics, but voted not to use the cost adjustment. The Committee did, however, vote to increase teacher salaries across the board by at least 11 percent, which would bring the average salary about to the average of the SREB states. The Committee also approved an additional 5 percent salary increase to accommodate the other increases in the newly proposed knowledge and skills-based salary schedule that will allow:

- Faster movement up to higher salary levels
- The possibility of "jumping" steps based on improved teacher performance
- "Adders" for subject area shortages (mathematics, science, etc.) and teaching in a rural location.

The Committee also approved setting aside \$4 million to develop and operate a performance assessment system for the new performance-based salary structure, and dedicating a total of \$30 million for a school-based performance award program, the details of which need to be further developed. But this bonus program, based on improvements in a school's student performance, would provide four levels of an annual bonus, that would have to be re-earned each year by continuously improving student performance, of: nothing, \$1,000/teacher, \$2,000/teacher and \$3,000 per teacher.

6. The Costs of These Proposals

The following section details how the additional costs of the draft recommendations included in Table 4 were calculated. First, a number that represented total current operating expenditures was identified. We began with a base level of expenditures. In this case we used the figure identified as net current expenditures as reported to us by the Arkansas Department of Education (ADE). This number consists of the expenditures of the 308 school districts in the state and their component schools along with one charter school that is counted as a separate district, and the expenditures for the 15 co-op districts across the state. For this base figure, we also included the costs of adult education.

In building up new expenditures from the school level, several functional expenditures were replaced by the resources in our three prototypic school models: instruction, instructional support (curriculum supervision), pupil support (social work, health/psychology support), school administration, media services, and staff development support. The prototypic school models cover all these functional areas.

Functional expenditures, that were not redesigned, but were carried forward at current levels include: fiscal services, board and legal services, executive administration (superintendent), athletics, facilities and capital other than debt, community services, food services, other non-instructional services, operations & maintenance, transportation, technology services, certain instructional support such as drug and crime prevention, and tuition paid to other local school districts.

Then certain expenditures for central office staff that were assumed to be included in instructional and student support functions replaced by the prototypical school models were added-back. In terms of a strategy, the same "add-back" used in the consultants' Kentucky

Professional Judgment report was employed, which for a district of 3,500 students included 1.0 Assistant Superintendent for Curriculum and Instruction, 1.0 director of special education, 2.0 additional program directors, and 2.5 clerical. To price these central office administrative resources, we used the principal salary and benefits for the assistant superintendent position and the assistant principal salary and benefits for the other administrative positions other than clerical. We assumed no minimum or maximum number of staff when prorating these positions for actual district size, and we should note, we used this strategy simply on a formula basis. The final expenditure figures are displayed in Table 5.

Table 5
State-wide Expenditures for Adequacy Computations: FY 2001-02

Expenditure Category	Amount in Millions 2001-2002
Total Current Expenditures from ADE database (millions):	\$3,248.1
Total Current Federal Expenditures from ADE:	\$ 223.2
Total Current Net of Federal:	\$3,024.9
Less Debt Service:	\$ 130.5
Total Net of Debt:	\$2,894.4
Plus adult education expenditures	\$ 8.9
Total current expenditures used for comparison to models	\$2,903.3
Total of functions replaced by model	\$1,950.6
Total of functions carried forward at current spending levels	\$ 943.8
Add-back replaced functions for schools excluded from model	\$ 28.2
(co-ops, voc-techs)	
Add-back for school clerical staff	\$ 35.6
Add-back for central office staff from replaced functions	\$ 48.0
Add-back adult education	\$ 8.9
Add-back summer school	\$ 1.9
Add-back cost of catastrophic Special Education	\$ 1.0
Total carry forward with add-backs	\$1,067.9

At this point, a major assumption in the cost model needs to be described. Astute analysts will note that in the above calculations, operation and maintenance expenditures funded by local levies above the required 25 mills have been included; this amount totals at least \$130 million and perhaps more. These monies, however, are purely local incentive monies and cannot be shared across other districts. However, for the funding model, the Committee recommends that all districts levy a full 25-mills, with no amount of the 25 mills allowed for debt and no mill-credits given for revenues from other sources. It is estimated that this more restricted 25-mill rate requirement would raise an additional amount of M & O funds that would at least partially compensate for the minimum \$130 million included above. For initial costing purposes, it has been assumed that these two changes equally offset each other, but this issue is discussed further in the accompanying formula section.

Following are some additional details of the costing approach:

1. Average salaries used in the model before applying any teacher salary increase:

Principal: \$58,215 + 23.4% fringe = \$71,837 Asst. Principal: \$53,900 + 23.6% fringe = \$66,620 Teacher: \$36,025 + 25.0% fringe = \$45,031 Aide: \$13,500 + 32.3% fringe = \$17,860 Sub: \$100/day + 20.7% fringe = \$121/day

The fringe benefit percentage was determined by the average salary and the following: 13 percent for state retirement, 6.2 percent for social security, 1.45 percent for Medicare, and \$131 per month for a minimum health insurance benefit.

- 2. Using the class size formulas in the matrix, the number of teachers and specialist teachers are determined on a full-time equivalent basis (FTE) to the nearest tenth of a decimal.
- 3. The five additional days for the teacher contract, to be used for professional development, are calculated for all certified staff other than the principal.

- 4. The ten substitute days are calculated for only regular classroom teachers and the specialist teachers (art, music, physical education, etc.), not for every professional staff member in the school.
- All ELL/LEP students are considered to be from families with an income at or below the poverty level.
- 6. The ALE pupil counts (5,500) are headcounts and indicate the number of students enrolled in an ALE program for at least 20 consecutive days. This ALE count, moreover, is also included in a school's regular ADM and enrollment figures, therefore all ALE students first receive the base funding in the prototypic school models and then the additional ALE funding of 1 teacher for every 20 ALE pupil counts.
- 7. For preschool, we were provided the following numbers:
 - At 200 percent of the poverty level (\$36,200) or below, which is 81 percent of median family income in Arkansas, there are 21,700 four year olds (59.2 percent of four year olds), and 21,561 three year olds (59.2 percent of three year olds) for a total of 43,261.
 - Of these, 20,964 are already served in a current ABC program, Head Start or a
 CCDF-federally funded childcare program.
 - The Committee recommends that the remaining 22,297 children be served in either a HIPPY home care program or an enhanced ABC program, and to increase teacher compensation to a total of \$50,000 annually in salary and benefits. The program would be staffed at the ratio of 1 teacher and 1 child development associate for every 20 children. In addition, ABC provides \$500 per staff member

- for professional development, and \$135 per student for developmental screening, parent and community engagement, and proven curricula.
- With this recommendation, the Committee proposed to increase state support for the enhanced ABC program by \$100 million.

With these assumptions and methods, we began to calculate the additional costs. To do so, we took total expenditures of school districts (minus expenditures for debt and expenditures supported by federal sources) and divided them into two parts. The first were those expenditures that would be "carried forward" unchanged, and included such things as fiscal services, board and legal services, executive administration (superintendent), athletics, facilities and capital other than debt, community services, food services, other non-instructional services, operations & maintenance, transportation, technology services, certain instructional support such as drug and crime prevention, and tuition paid to other local school districts. The second part consisted of those expenditures that were replaced by the resources in our three-prototypical school models: instruction, instructional support (curriculum supervision), pupil support (social work, health/psychology support), school administration, media services, and staff development support. The prototypical school models cover all these functional areas.

The elements of these prototypical schools were considered over a four-month period by the Joint Committee and subjected to scrutiny by two professional judgment panels composed of distinguished Arkansas educators before being finalized. The features of the model, along with a description of the process used to develop it, are described in detail above. The "adequacy model" is summarized in Table 4 above. We estimate that this prototypical model along with the recommended changes for teacher compensation will cost the state an additional \$680.6 million per year – above current (2001-02) expenditures from state and local sources for operation and

maintenance. Table 6 summarizes the components of these increased costs. We should note here, as we also note in the next section on the proposed formula, that the above extra cost figure is relative to actual expenditures in 2001-2002. When the cost is compared just to the yield of a 25 mill tax rate in a foundation program, the additional costs are higher, as will be explained in the next section.

Table 6
Summary of the Components of the Adequacy Model's Cost Increases

Category	Amount (\$ millions)
Adequacy Model	
Costs of the Final Matrix (Table 4)	224.6
Pre-school for 3-4 year olds below 200% of poverty	100.0
Sub-total	324.6
Teacher Compensation	
15% salary increase	277.0
Lengthening teacher contracts by 5 days `	45.0
Teacher performance assessment system	4.0
Performance bonus	30.0
Sub-total	356.0
Total Increase	\$680.6

7. Designing a School Funding Formula for Arkansas in Response to Lake View

This section describes the Committee's recommendations for the design and implementation of a funding formula to distribute funds to Arkansas school districts in an equitable and adequate manner. Relying on the cost estimates of an adequate funding system developed above, and our report on teacher compensation, ¹⁵ this section provides suggestions for the redesign of the state's funding formula. Under the adequacy model developed by the Joint Committee during its meetings in July and August 2003, we estimate that total spending for K-12 education should be increased by a total of \$680.6 million. This section describes a formula for distributing adequate funds to the 308 school districts across the state in a manner that will meet the Court's requirements. (These estimates exclude the cost of 15 regional educational service cooperatives, which are assumed to carry forward, unchanged.)

The balance of this section provides an overview of the standards used to design the funding formula, and a description of how the foundation program based formula might work. Our work relied on the extant school finance literature on the design of school funding formulas, the requirements of the *Lake View* ruling and experiences in other states in recent years. The formula itself is described in the last part of this section, which includes a detailed assessment of the impacts of various alternative permutations of the formula.

Designing a School Funding Formula

¹⁵ See Wallace and Odden (2003). *Developing Differentiated Compensation for Teachers: Final Recommendations*. Prepared for the Arkansas General Assembly's Joint Committee on Educational Adequacy. (August).

When the consultants first met with the Joint Committee in February 2003 to discuss how they would approach this study, they said that a good school finance formula must be "simple, transparent and easy to understand." To achieve this goal, we have attempted to meet the following standards – which were agreed upon by the Joint Committee – for the design of the formula:

- As much of the total resources in the system as possible should be in the formula.
- Districts should have a uniform tax rate to fund their share of the adequate level of revenue.
- Existing statutory and constitutional requirements for taxation must be adhered to.
- It should be easy to understand how the formula works.
- The formula should meet generally accepted standards of school funding models (see
 Odden & Picus, 2004, forthcoming for details). ¹⁶
- The funding model should establish an equitable distribution of resources that will meet the equity requirements of the *Lake View* decision.

Although there are several different approaches to designing a school funding formula, the Joint Committee – based on consultants' recommendations – believes that a foundation program is most appropriate in this situation. A foundation program is designed to provide funding to meet a base "foundation" or "adequate" level of funding for all school districts with an equal level of property tax effort. The adequacy model plus the carry forward amount defines what an adequate foundation expenditure level is. State aid is then determined by subtracting the local revenue raised from a required tax rate. In Arkansas that required tax rate is the yield from a constitutionally required 25-mill local property tax rate.

68

¹⁶ Odden, A.R. and Picus, L.O. (Forthcoming in 2004). *School Finance: A Policy Perspective, 3rd Edition*. New York: McGraw Hill.

At this point, we need to note that the cost estimate of \$847.3 million displayed in Table 8 is the cost above that supported by current (2001-2002) state aid and local revenues—including excess property tax levies. A major issue for Arkansas – or any state for that matter – is whether all existing local revenues are to be included when the cost to the state of insuring adequate revenues for all districts is computed, or if in addition to those additional costs – \$680.6 million in the current Arkansas model – some of the currently raised local funds are also replaced by state revenues. The later has the effect of further increasing the cost of the model to the state. In most states that have adopted a foundation program to provide adequate funding to school districts, this issue is resolved through a combination of higher state funding as well as a slightly higher local contribution, generally implemented through a higher required local tax rate in the new formula. The option of raising the local contribution in Arkansas is limited because the 25-mill uniform rate of taxation is established in the constitution and cannot be changed without a vote of the Arkansas electorate at a general election.¹⁷

As described in more detail below, when we converted the district-by-district estimates of adequate funding levels into a foundation formula with a required tax rate of 25 mills (at the current 20 percent ratio of assessed to market value of property) the cost to the state to fully fund the model increased by an additional \$166.7 million. As shown below, a higher foundation tax rate (about 30 mills) or a higher assessment ratio (25 percent) reduces this additional funding requirement. Arkansas' constitutional requirement for a 25 mill required local tax effort in the foundation program creates one more fiscal decision point for the Joint Committee and the Legislature as the new adequacy based funding formula is designed.

-

¹⁷ See Ark. Const. Amend. 74(b)(4) ("The General Assembly may be law propose an increase or decrease in the uniform rate of tax and submit the question to the electors of the state at the next general election.")

In sum, we are proposing that Arkansas revise its wealth only based program that provides a guaranteed stream of revenue for a tax rate of 25 mills, and replace it with a needs based foundation program. The foundation formula will include the following:

- The revenues produced by the prototypical school models for each school in each district.
- ii. Plus the revenues from a uniform \$1,152 per pupil carry forward for functions not covered in the school model.
- iii. From these totals in i and ii will be subtracted the local revenue requirement consisting of a property tax levy and 75 percent of a district's Miscellaneous Funds. As noted below, this local levy requirement could be a 25 mill rate levied on property assessed at 20 percent of market value—the current approach—or a higher mill rate (which will require a state-wide vote) or a higher assessment ratio (which can be accomplished statutorily). 18

The Distribution of Revenue to Arkansas School Districts

The process used in our funding model is outlined step-by-step below.

The total funds that are carried forward are estimated. This represents those expenditures that were not changed in the adequacy model as described above and in our first report. We estimated this figure to be \$799 million net of Federal funds, debt service and capital/facilities funds.

¹⁸ We should note that although the assessment ratio can be increased by statute, the assessed value can increase by only 5 percent a year on homesteads and 10 percent a year on other property, so this approach would gradually phase in higher local revenues. See Ark. Const. Amend. 79 § 1.

However, a portion of these carry forward expenditures used for this calculation includes expenditures for enterprise programs that are largely self-funded through local sources such as fees or tuition. Including those expenditures would overstate the expenditure amount funded through the formula. To account for this, we excluded those expenditures from our carry forward expenditures to the degree possible. Programs and activities included in this adjustment are food services, student activities, tuition from individuals and other LEAs, and miscellaneous programs funded by other local sources. For the food service program, we were able to identify and subtract expenditures directly. For the others, the expenditures could not be identified so we assumed that the programs were self-funding and subtracted the revenue amount. This adjustment totaled \$283.4 million. The legislature has the option of making further adjustments to offset the cost of locally funded programs not included in this analysis. The details for this adjustment are shown below:

- Food service expenditures -- \$143.2 million
- Student activity fees -- \$80.5 million
- Other local revenues -- \$53.6 million
- Tuition from other LEAs and from individuals \$6.0 million

This produced a total carry forward of \$515.7 million or \$1,152 per pupil. As indicated above, this total is for the following functions: fiscal services, board and legal services, executive administration (superintendent), athletics, community services, other non-instructional services, operations & maintenance,

- transportation, technology services, and selected instructional support such as drug and crime prevention
- 2. To that figure we added the funds each district generates through the adequacy model. To do this we estimated the resources each school within each district would receive based on the prototypical school models in Table 4. Since a number of components of that model are determined on the basis of student and/or district characteristics, the final per pupil revenue allocation differs for each district in some instances by considerable amounts. Overall, a total of \$2.273 billion is distributed to school districts in this component of the model.
- 3. The two figures are added together resulting in a revenue allocation for each district. Total estimated funding requirements for the adequacy model amount to \$2.789 billion.
- 4. Local revenues are initially estimated by applying 25 mills to the assessed value, adjusted for a 98 percent collections rate, of each school district. This mill rate is a "pure" rate, as it does not allow for any debt service nor does it allow a district to impute a mill rate from other miscellaneous local revenues, both options that are allowed as part of the current 25-mill required rate. As such, the 25-mill rate in this formula raises somewhat more than in the current formula.
- 5. To the local levy is added 75 percent of a school district's Miscellaneous Funds as is the current practice in calculating a district's State Equalization Aid.
- 6. State foundation aid is then computed by subtracting the funds raised by the 25 mills and 75 percent of Miscellaneous Funds from the total revenue needs estimated for each district.

Total state aid to the school districts amounts to \$2.196 billion. To this figure the following additional expenditures must be added to determine total adequacy costs¹⁹:

- i. Pre-K funding \$100 million
- ii. Current Summer School funding \$2.04 million
- iii. Current special education catastrophic funding \$1.10 million
- iv. Additional special education catastrophic funding \$7.70 million
- v. The teacher salary performance bonus of \$30 million, and \$94 million held back for the "adders" in the new performance pay schedule for subject area shortages, geographically challenged areas and for advanced degrees.
- vi. Funding for the performance assessment system of \$4 million.

 This produces a total state commitment of \$2.435 billion which represents an increase of \$680.6 million for the new system plus a transfer of \$166.7 million of local revenues to state resources for a total increase in state aid of about \$847.3 million.

These figures compare to a current (2001-2002) total state aid of \$1.588 billion. This figure consists of equalization aid plus several other major state categorical funds. Table 7 lists the state funds included in the base state aid amount used for comparisons. For the purposes of this analysis we did not include debt service aid, state grants, and other smaller, targeted funds. Note that in all cases we have generated expenditures and reported per pupil figures on the basis of enrollment, not ADM. This is because we were unable to get ADM figures by school and grade level.

73

¹⁹ The amounts for current summer school and catastrophic special education funding have been adjusted to reflect the proposed 10% increase in teachers' salaries.

Table 7
Current (2001-2002) State Funds Used in Comparisons with Estimated State Funding Requirements to Fully fund the Adequacy Model

State Funds	Amount (\$ millions)
Equalization	\$1,427.0
Additional base	\$51.2
Incentive	\$24.9
Isolated school	\$7.4
Revenue loss	\$3.6
Student growth	\$20.4
Poverty index	\$8.5
LEP	\$3.7
ALE	\$1.5
Transportation	\$4.3
Special education	\$11.8
Desegregation	\$23.3
Total State Aid ²⁰	\$1,587.9

. .

The Committee discussed at length, and the consultants have looked extensively at, how state funds paid to certain school districts for desegregation expenses should or should not be accounted for in the model. The majority of these "desegregation funds" are paid by the state to the three school districts in Pulaski County as a result of a 1989 settlement of desegregation litigation, *Little Rock School District v. Pulaski County Special School District*, United States District Court, Eastern District of Arkansas No. 4:82 CV 00866 WRW. In the 1989 Settlement Agreement, which was approved by the courts and has been converted into a consent decree, the State agreed to pay certain funds to the three school districts in Pulaski County in addition to the funds those districts would otherwise receive as state aid under the prevailing laws that provide for state aid to school districts. Those additional revenues go to support the "inter-district" programs required by the Settlement Agreement, including certain Magnet Schools in the Little Rock School District, a Majority to Minority Transfer Student Program, and student transportation for both programs. Under the terms of the Settlement Agreement, these funds are supposed to "supplement, and not supplant any existing or future funding[,] which is ordinarily the responsibility of the state" (Settlement Agreement, full.E). Furthermore, Majority to Minority Transfer Students are not to be included in the calculations of regular state aid, whereas students in Magnet Schools are. For the 2001-02 school year, the State paid approximately \$31 million for these programs.

In later years, the school districts alleged that certain changes in state funding violated various provisions of the Settlement Agreement. Of those challenges, only one is relevant to this report. Until the 1996-97 school year, the State paid the costs of Teacher Retirement and Health Insurance for school districts. When this practice was changed and school districts were required to pay these costs themselves, the school districts argued, and the courts agreed, that this change violated the Settlement Agreement. See *Little Rock Sch. Dist. v. N. Little Rock S. D.*, 148 F.3d 956 (8th Cir. 1998). Since that ruling, the State has been required to pay the three school districts additional funds to make them "whole" in this area. For the 2001-02 school year, retirement and health insurance payments to the three districts collectively totaled approximately \$13 million.

Deciding how to account for these desegregation funds when generating estimates of the costs of the model has been a difficult endeavor. The problems were compounded by confusion of which children were in the dataset. The consultants could not conclusively determine whether or not Majority to Minority Transfer Students were in the enrollment data supplied to them. This is how the consultants have handled the problem. The \$31 million for the inter-district programs have been removed from the analysis completely. This will have the effect of increasing the cost of the model by a certain amount. If the Majority to Minority Transfer Students are in the enrollment numbers, this figure drops to \$21 million. On the other hand, the consultants believe that because the matrix and the funds that flow from it pay the complete cost of employee benefits for each school district, the \$14 million should remain as part of the analysis. While we realize that the federal court *could* require the state to continue paying some

Table 8 summarizes the statewide impact of the model. The table shows state's increased funding commitment is the \$680.6 million cost of the adequacy model, plus \$166.7 million in local revenues covered by state revenues because of the constitutionally required uniform tax rate of 25 mills.

An alternative way to fund this \$166.7 million shift of funds from local revenues to state sources is to increase local property tax collections either through an increase in the required millage rate, or by increasing the property value assessment ratio from the current 20 percent of market value to 25 percent. Table 9 shows the effects of these local property tax options on the cost of the program to the state. As the table shows, increasing the assessment ratio on taxable property from the current 20 percent to 25 percent can reduce the cost of covering the \$166.7 million in local revenues by the state to \$20 million. The impact of this on individual districts will depend on the extent to which current levies for Maintenance and Operations exceed the current 25 mills and also on the local property wealth of a district. Those districts with higher tax rates today will experience lower property tax increases under either of the two proposed increases than will districts that only levy the 25 mills. It is possible that some districts will experience property tax reductions.

amount for teacher retirement and health insurance even if it resumes its pre-litigation practice of paying the full cost of teacher retirement and health insurance benefits for the three school districts in Pulaski County, we believe that is unlikely.

Table 8
Estimated Funding Requirements of the Adequacy Model
Teacher Salary Increase of 10 Percent Included in the Formula

Category	Amount (\$ millions)
Carry Forward Costs	515.7
Adequacy Model Costs	2,273.2
Total Proposed Costs	2,788.9
Pre K funding ^a	100.0
Current Summer School	2.0
Current Special Education Catastrophic Aid ^a	1.1
Additional Special Education Catastrophic Aid ^a	7.7
Salary "Adders"	94.0
Performance Bonus	30.0
Assessment System	4.0
Total Costs of Model	3,027.7
Proposed State Aid	2,435.3
Current State Aid	1,587.9
Additional State Aid	680.6
Covering Additional Local Revenues with State Funding	166.7
Total Additional Funding Required	847.3
Total State Aid Funding Required	2,435.3
Local Property Tax Funding	586.9
Local Miscellaneous Funds	5.5

^aIncludes teacher salary increase

Table 9
Impact of Alternative Property Tax Options
On State Aid Requirements to Fund the Adequacy Model

Category	Current System at 25 mills and 20% assessed value ratio	30 mills and 20 % assessed value ratio	25 mills and 25% assessed value ratio
Total	\$3,027,700,000	\$3,027,700,000	\$3,027,700,000
Proposed Costs			
New State Funds	\$680,600,000	\$680,600,000	\$680,600,000
Absorbing Other			
Local Revenues by	\$166,700,000	\$ 49,400,000	\$ 20,000,000
the State			
Total State Cost	\$847,300,000	\$730,000,000	\$700,600,000

8. Conclusion

As Arkansas policy makers know very well, school finance issues and structures are changing, largely in response to the more rigorous demands of state education systems and adequacy-oriented school finance court mandates. Today, a new Arkansas school finance system must provide districts and sites with adequate education dollars so education leaders can deploy resources to more powerful education strategies that produce higher levels of student academic performance. In general terms, the key role for the state is to determine an adequate level of education spending for each of its school districts. Districts must then allocate these dollars to schools via a needs based per pupil formula that ensures that each school has adequate dollars for the needs of each of its students. Schools need to use these adequate resources for the most effective education strategies, which generally will require substantial program restructuring and resource reallocation. Then, each school should be held accountable for educating students to the state's student performance standards and for using its adequate resource levels effective and efficient ways.

The importance of transforming the adequate resources identified above into powerful and effective instructional strategies that boost student achievement can not be overstated. As Cohen, Raudenbush and Ball (2002) so eloquently argue, school resources are "inert" unless and until they are transformed into high quality instructional practices. If the resources identified above are to have more than just marginal impacts on student learning, schools need to:

- 1. Use the dollars to purchase and implement effective curriculum programs in all content areas.
- 2. Help principals organize schools so they have the instructional leadership research shows is so important to successful learning (Hallinger & Heck, 1996, 1998).

- 3. Develop leadership to help teachers create a professional school culture that focuses on continuously improving the instructional program and have teachers take responsibility for the impacts of their instruction practice (Louis, Kruse & Marks, 1996; Louis, Marks & Kruse, 1996; Louis & Marks, 1998; Newmann, 1996).
- 4. An intensive and effective professional development program needs to operate in ways to continually improve the instructional program.

The resources described above are necessary for these actions to take place. The above adequate resources plus the performance pay program recommended in the accompanying report and these leadership actions include the necessary and sufficient conditions for having schools teach Arkansas students to its rigorous performance standards.

The funding formula section of the report documents the development and initial modeling of a formula for the distribution of funds to Arkansas school districts under the proposed adequacy model developed by the Joint Committee on Educational Arkansas. The main goal of this effort has been to develop a funding model that is "simple, transparent and easy to understand," and that meets the requirements of the Arkansas Supreme Court's ruling in *Lake View v. Huckabee*. We believe this model achieves both goals.

The proposed adequacy model calls for increased spending of \$680.6 million to be fully funded. This will provide for an enhanced early childhood education program, substantially smaller classes in grades K-3, a comprehensive mixture of additional school personnel to meet the special needs of school children, and a teacher salary increase that totals 18 percent. This salary increase includes a shift to a knowledge- and skills-based pay system, along with the establishment of funding for performance based pay incentives for schools. It includes the cost

of increasing the length of teacher contracts by five days per year, along with funding for the development of a performance assessment system for teachers is also included in the estimates.

In addition to the \$680.6 million in new funding, the model also includes about \$166.7 million in local revenues not covered by a 25 mill required tax rate on assessed values at 20 percent of market value. However, if the uniform rate of taxation is increased (an action that requires an election) or if the property assessment ratio is increased from the current 20 percent to 25 percent, this cost can be substantially shifted back to property tax revenues. The final recommendation on this funding transfer is a decision the Legislature must make.

Finally, it should be noted that this model was estimated using revenue and expenditure data for fiscal year 2001-02. Ideally these figures should be updated with fiscal year 2002-03 data when available. In addition, in order to maintain a adequate level of funding, an annual inflation adjustment needs to be considered. We would also recommend that the entire cost model be reestimated every five years to insure that the system remains adequate and that it addresses student learning issues based on the growing body of research on how to improve student performance. In sum, we are confident that this model will provide a straightforward system for distributing funds to Arkansas schools in a fair and efficient manner.

References

- Achilles, C. (1999). Let's put kids first, finally: Getting class size right. Thousand Oaks: Corwin Press.
- Alexander, K., Augenblick, J., Driscoll, W., Guthrie, J., & Levin, R. (1995). *Proposals for the elimination of wealth-based disparities in public education*. Columbus, OH: Department of Public Instruction.
- Andrews, M., Duncombe, W., & Yinger, J. (2002). Revisiting economies of size in American education: Are we any closer to a consensus. *Economics of Education Review*, 21(), 245-262.
- Archambault, F.X., Jr., Westberg, K.L., Brown, S., Hallmark, B.W., Zhang, W., & Emmons, C. (1993). Regular classroom practices with gifted students: Findings from the Classroom Practices Survey. *Journal for the Education of the Gifted*, 16, 103-119.
- Augenblick, J. (1997). Recommendations for a base figure and pupil-weighted adjustments to the base figure for use in a new school finance system in Ohio. Columbus, OH: Ohio Department of Education.
- Augenblick, J. (2001). Calculation of the cost of an adequate education in Maryland in 1999-2000 using two different analytic approaches. Denver, CO: Augenblick and Meyers.
- Augenblick, J., Myers, J., Silverstein, J. & Barkis, A. (2002). *Calculation of the cost of a suitable education in Kansas in 2000-2001 using two different analytic approaches*. Report prepared for the Kansas Legislative Coordinating Council.
- Ballou, D., & Podgursky, M. (1997). *Teacher pay and teacher quality*. Kalamazoo, MI: W.E. Upjohn Institute for Employment Research.
- Barnett, W.S. (1995). Long-term effects of early childhood programs on cognitive and school outcomes. *The Future of Children: Long-Term Outcomes of Early Childhood Programs*, 5(3), 25-50.
- Barnett, W.S. (1996). Lives in the balance: Age-27 benefit-cost analysis of the High/Scope Perry Preschool program. Yspilanti, MI: High/Scope Press.
- Barnett, W.S. (2000). Economics of early childhood intervention. In J. Shonkoff & S. Meisels (Eds.), *Handbook of early childhood intervention*, *2nd edition* (pp. 589-612). Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- Baum, S.M., Owen, S.V., & Oreck, B.A. (1996). Talent beyond words: Identification of potential talent in dance and music in elementary students. *Gifted Child Quarterly*, 40, 93-101.

- Birman, B. F., Desimone, L., Porter, A.C., & Garet, M.S.. (2000). Designing professional development that works. *Educational Leadership*, *57*(8), 28-33.
- Bleske-Rechek, A., Lubinski, D., & Benbow, C.P. (in press). Meeting the educational needs of special populations: Advanced Placement's role in developing exceptional human capital. *Psychological Science*.
- Borland, J.H., & Wright, L. (1994). Identifying young potentially gifted, economically disadvantaged students. *Gifted Child Quarterly*, 38, 164-171.
- Brabeck, M.M., Walsh, M.E., & Latta, R. (2003). Meeting at the hyphen: Schools-universities-communities-professions in collaboration for student achievement and well being. The One-hundred and second yearbook of the National Society for the Study of Education, Part II. Chicago: National Society for the Study of Education.
- Bransford, J., Brown, A., & Cocking, R. (1999). *How people learn*. Washington, DC: National Academy Press.
- Bryk, A., Lee, V., & Holland, P. (1993). *Catholic schools and the common good*. Cambridge, MA: Harvard University Press.
- Calvo, N. Picus, L.O., Smith, J.R., & Guthrie, J.W. (2000). *A review of the Oregon Quality Education Model*. Davis, CA: Management Analysis & Planning. Prepared for the Oregon Department of Education.
- Chambers, Jay G. (1995). "Public School Teacher Cost Differences Across the United States: Introduction to a Teacher Cost Index (TCI)." In *Developments in School Finance* [Online]. Available: http://www.ed.gov/NCES/pubs/96344cha.html.
- Chambers, J., & Parrish, T. (1994). State-level education finance. In H.J. Walberg (Ed.), *Advances in educational productivity* (pp. 45-74). Greenwich, CT: JAI Press.
- Chase, C. I., Mueller, D. J., & Walden, J. D. (1986). *PRIME TIME: Its impact on instruction and achievement*. Indianapolis: Indiana Department of Education.
- Clune, W. & P. White. (1992). Education Reform in the Trenches: Increased Academic Course Taking in High Schools with Lower Achieving Students in States with Higher Graduation Requirements. *Educational Evaluation & Policy Analysis*, 14(1), 2-20.
- Coeyman, M. (November 24, 1998). Small-town schools: Changing times and budgets put the squeeze on. *Christian Science Monitor*, 90(252), 15.
- Cohen, D.K., & Hill, H.C. (2001). *Learning Policy: When State Education Reform Works*. New Haven, CT: Yale University Press.

- Cohen, D. K., Raudenbush, S. W., & Ball, D. L. (2002). Resources, Instruction, and Research. In R. Boruch & F. Mosteller (Eds.), *Evidence Matters: Randomized Trials in Education Research* (pp. 80-119). Washington, D.C.: The Brookings Institution.
- Delcourt, M.A.B., Loyd, B.H., Cornell, D.G., & Golderberg, M.C. (1994). *Evaluation of the effects of programming arrangements on student learning outcomes* (RM94108). Storrs, CT: The National Research Center on the Gifted and Talented, University of Connecticut.
- Desimone, L.M., Porter, A.C., Garet, M.S., Yoon, K.S., & Birman, B.F. (2002). Effects of professional development on teachers' instruction: Results from a three-year longitudinal study. *Educational Evaluation and Policy Analysis* 24(2), 81-112.
- Desimone, L., Porter, A.C., Birman, B.F., Garet, M.S., & Yoon, K. S. (2002). How do district management and implementation strategies relate to the quality of professional development that districts provide to teachers? *Teachers College Record* 104(7), 1265-1312.
- Duncombe, W., Ruggiero, J., & Yinger, J. (1996). Alternative approaches to measuring the cost of education. In H.F. Ladd (Ed.), *Holding schools accountable: Performance-based reform in education*, (pp. 327-356). Washington, DC: The Brookings Institution.
- Education Trust. (2003). Zap the Gap: Gap Closing Strategies in High-Performing Classrooms, Schools, Districts and Colleges. Washington, DC: Author.
- Elmore, R.F. (2002). Bridging the gap between standards and achievement: The imperative for professional development in education. Washington, DC: Albert Shanker Institute.
- Elmore, R.F., & Burney, D. (1999). Investing in teacher learning: Staff development and instructional improvement. In L. Darling-Hammond & G. Sykes (Eds.), *Teaching as the learning profession: Handbook of policy and practice*. San Francisco: Jossey-Bass.
- Erlichson, B.A. & Goertz, M. (2001). *Implementing whole school reform in New Jersey: Year two.* New Brunswick, NJ: Rutgers, The State University of New Jersey, Edward J. Bloustein School of Planning and Public Policy.
- Erlichson, B.A., Goertz, M., & Turnbull, B. (1999). *Implementing whole school reform in New Jersey: Year one in the first cohort schools*. New Brunswick, NJ: Rutgers, The State University of New Jersey, Edward J. Bloustein School of Planning and Public Policy.
- Farkas, George. (1998). Reading One-to-One: An Intensive Program Serving a Great Many Students While Still Achieving. In Jonathan Crane, Ed. <u>Social Programs That Work</u>. New York: Russell Sage Foundation.
- Finn, J. (2002). Small classes in America: Research, practice, and politics. *Phi Delta Kappan*. 83(7), 551-560.

- Finn, J.D. & Achilles, C.M. (1999). Tennessee's class size study: Findings, implications, misconceptions. *Educational Evaluation and Policy Analysis*, *21*, 97-109.
- Finn, J. D., S.B. Gerger, C. M. Achilles & J.B. Zaharias. (2001). The Enduring Effects of Small Classes. *Teachers College Record*, 103(2), 145-183.
- Fowler, William Jr. & David Monk. (2001). *A primer for making cost adjustments in education*. Washington, DC: U.S. Department of Education, National Center for Education Statistics.
- Fox, W. F. (1981). Reviewing economies of size in education. *Journal of Education Finance*. 6(3), 273-296.
- Fullan, M. (2002). *The new meaning of educational change*. New York: Teachers College Press.
- Fusaro, J. A. (1997). The effect of full-day kindergarten on student achievement: A meta-analysis, *Child Study Journal*, *27*(4), 269-277.
- Gallagher, H.A. (2002). The relationship between measures of teacher quality and student achievement: The case of Esperanza Academy. Paper presented at the Annual Conference of the American Educational Research Association. New Orleans, LA.
- Gallgher, H. A. (2004, forthcoming). Vaughn Elementary's Innovative Teacher Evaluation System: Are Teacher Evaluation Scores Related to Growth in Student Achievement. *Peabody Journal of Education*.
- Gallagher, J. (1996). The strange case of acceleration. In C. Benbow & D. Lubinski (Eds.), *Intellectual Talent* (pp. 83-92). Baltimore: Johns Hopkins Press.
- Gallagher, J. (2002). Society's role in educating gifted students: The role of public policy (RM02162). Storrs, CT: The National Research Center on the Gifted and Talented, University of Connecticut.
- Gallagher, J., & Coleman, M.R. (1992). State policies on the identification of gifted students from special populations: Three states in profile.
- Gallagher, S., & Stepien, W. (1996). Content acquisition in problem-based learning: Depth versus breadth in American studies. *Journal for the Education of the Gifted*, 19, 257-275.
- Gallagher, S., Stepien, W., & Rosenthal, H. (1992). The effects of problem-based learning on problem solving. *Gifted Child Quarterly*, 36, 195-200.
- Garet, M.S., Birman, B., Porter, A., Desimone, L., & Herman, R. (1999). *Designing effective professional development: Lessons from the Eisenhower Program*. Washington, DC: United States Department of Education.

- Garet, M.S., Porter, A., Desimone, L., Birman, B., & Yoon, K. (2001). What makes professional development effective? Results from a national sample of teachers. *American Educational Research Journal*, 38(4), 915-945.
- Gerber, S., Finn, J., Achilles, C., & Boyd-Zaharias, J. (2001). Teacher aides and students' academic achievement. *Educational Evaluation and Policy Analysis*, 23(2), 123-143.
- Glass, G.V., & M. L. Smith. (1979). Meta-analysis of research on class size and achievement. *Educational Evaluation and Policy Analysis*, *I*(1), 2-16.
- Goldhaber, D. (2001). How has teacher compensation changed? In *Selected papers in school finance:* 2000-2001 (pp. 15-40). Washington, DC: National Center for Education Statistics.
- Grissmer, D. (1999). Class size: Issues and new findings. *Educational Evaluation and Policy Analysis*. 21(2). [Entire Issue].
- Guthrie, James W. (1979). Organizational scale and school success. *Educational Evaluation and Policy Analysis*, 1(1), 17-27.
- Guthrie, J., Hayward, G., Smith, J., Rothstein, R., Bennet, R., Koppich, J., Bowman, E., DeLapp, L., Brandes, B., & Clark, S. (1997). *A proposed cost-based block grant model for Wyoming school finance*. Davis, CA: Management Analysis and Planning Associates, LLC. Available online at: http://legisweb.state.wy.us/school/cost/apr7/apr7.htm
- Guthrie, J.W. & Rothstein, R. (1999). Enabling "adequacy" to achieve reality: Translating adequacy into state school finance distribution arrangements. In H.F. Ladd, R. Chalk, & J. Hansen (Eds.), *Equity and adequacy in education finance: Issues and perspectives (pp. 209-259)*. Washington, DC: National Academy Press.
- Haller, E., Monk, D.H. Spotted Bear, A., Griffith, J., & Moss, P. (1990). School size and program comprehensiveness: Evidence from *High School and Beyond. Educational Evaluation and Policy Analysis*, *12*(2), 109-120.
- Hallinger, P., & Heck, R. H. (1996). Reassessing the Principal's Role in School Effectiveness: A Review of Empirical Research, 1980-1995. *Educational Administration Quarterly*, 32(1), 5-45.
- Hallinger, P., & Heck, R. H. (1998). Exploring the Principal's Contribution to School Effectiveness: 1980-1995. *School Effectiveness and School Improvment*, 9(2), 157-191.
- Hamilton, S. F. (1983). The social side of schooling: Ecological studies of classrooms and schools. *The Elementary School Journal*, 83(4), 313-334.

- Hansen, J., & Feldhusen, J.F. (1994). Comparison of trained and untrained teachers. *Gifted Child Quarterly*, 38(3), 115-121.
- Hanushek, E. (2002). Evidence, politics and the class size debate. In L. Mishel & R. Rothstein (Eds.), *The class size debate (pp. 37-65)*. Washington, DC: Economic Policy Institute.
- Heneman, H.G. III, & White, B. (2002). *A case study of Proposition 301 and performance-based pay in Arizona*. Madison: University of Wisconsin, Wisconsin Center for Education Research, Consortium for Policy Research in Education.
- Hinrichs, W.L., & Laine, R.D. (1996). *Adequacy: Building quality and efficiency into the cost of education*. Springfield, IL: Illinois Board of Education.
- Hoke County v. State (Case # 95CVS1158).
- Holtzapple, Elizabeth. (2001). Report on the Validation of Teachers Evaluation System Instructional Domain Ratings. Cincinnati: Cincinnati Public Schools.
- Holtzapple, E. (2002). *Validating a teacher evaluation system*. Paper prepared for the Sixteenth Annual Conference of the American Evaluation Association, Washington, DC, November 8. Cincinnati: Cincinnati Public Schools.
- Imazeki, J. (2000). *School finance reform and the market for teachers*. Unpublished Ph.D. dissertation. University of Wisconsin-Madison.
- Imazeki, J., & Reschovsky, A. (1999). Measuring the costs of providing an adequate public education in Texas. In Howard Chernick (Ed.), *Proceedings of the 91st annual conference on taxation* (pp. 275-290). Washington, DC: National Tax Association.
- Joyce, Bruce, & Calhoun, E. (1996). *Learning experiences in school renewal: An exploration of five successful programs*. Eugene, OR: ERIC Clearinghouse on Educational Management.
- Joyce, Bruce & Showers, B. (2002). *Student achievement through staff development (3rd Ed.)*. Alexandria, VA: Association for Supervision and Curriculum Development.
- Karoly, L., Greenwood, P., Everingham, S., Hoube, J., Kilburn, M.R., Rydell, C.P., Sanders, M., & Chiesa, J. (1998). *Investing in our children: What we know and don't know about the costs and benefits of early childhood interventions*. Santa Monica, CA: The RAND Corporation.
- Kelley, C. (1997). Teacher compensation and organization. *Educational Evaluation & Policy Analysis*, 19(1), 15-28.

- Kennedy, M. (1998). Form and substance in inservice teacher education, (Research Monograph no. 13). Madison: University of Wisconsin, National Institute for Science Education.
- Kimball, S., B. White, A. Milanowski & G. Borman. (2004, forthcoming). Analysis of the Criterion-Related Validity of the Teacher Performance Evaluation System in Washoe County. *Peabody Journal of Education*
- Krueger, A. (2002). Understanding the magnitude and effect of class size on student achievement. In L. Mishel & R. Rothstein (Eds.), *The class size debate (pp. 7-35)*. Washington, DC: Economic Policy Institute.
- Krueger, A. B., & Whitmore, D.M. (2001). *Would smaller classes help close the Black-White achievement gap?* (Working paper #451). Princeton, NJ: Princeton University. [On-line]. Available: http://www.irs.princeton.edu/pubs/pdfs/451.pdf.
- Kulik, J.A., & Kulik, C.C. (1984). The effects of accelerated instruction. Review of *Educational Research*, 54(3), 409-425.
- Ladd, H.F., & Hansen, J. (1999). *Making money matter*. Washington, DC: National Academy Press.
- Leandro v. State, 346 N.C. 336, 488 S.E.2d 249 (1997).
- Lee, V., Croninger, R., & Smith, J. (1997). Course taking, equity and mathematics learning: Testing the constrained curriculum hypothesis in U.S. secondary schools. *Educational Evaluation and Policy Analysis*, 19(2), 99-122.
- Lee, V., & Smith, J. (1997). High school size: Which works best, and for whom? *Educational Evaluation and Policy Analysis*, 19(3), 205-228.
- Loucks-Horsley, S., N. Love, K. Stiles, S. Mundry & Peter Hewson. (2003). *Designing Professional Development for Teachers of Science and Mathematics*. Thousand Oaks, CA: Corwin Press.
- Louis, K. S., S. D. Kruse, & H. M. Marks. (1996). "Schoolwide Professional Community." In Fred Newmann and Associates (Eds.), *Authentic Achievement: Restructuring Schools for Intellectual Quality* (pp. 179-203). San Francisco: Jossey-Bass.
- Louis, K., H. Marks, & S. D. Kruse. (1996). "Teachers' Professional Community in Restructured Schools. *American Educational Research Journal*, 33(4), 757-798.
- Louis, K. S., & Marks, H. M. (1998). Does Professional Community Affect the Classroom? Teachers' Work and Student Experiences in Restructuring Schools. *American Journal of Education*, 106, 532-575.

- Madigan, T. (1997). Science Proficiency and Course Taking in High School: The Relationship of Science Course-Taking Patterns to Increases in Science Proficiency Between 8th and 12th Grades. Washington, DC: National Center for Education Statistics.
- Maker, C.J. (1996). Identification of gifted minority students: A national problem, needed changes and a promising solution. *Gifted Child Quarterly*, 40, 41-50.
- Management Analysis and Planning. (2001). A professional judgment approach to determining adequate education funding in Maryland. Davis, CA: Management Analysis and Planning, Inc.
- Management Analysis and Planning. (2002). Wyoming education finance: proposed Revisions to the cost-based block grant. Davis, CA: Management Analysis and Planning, Inc.
- Meyers, J., & Silverstein, J. (2002). Calculation of the cost of a suitable education in Montana in 2001-2002 using the professional judgment approach. Denver, CO: Augenblick & Myers, Inc.
- Milanowski, A. (2002a). The varieties of knowledge and skill-based pay design: A comparison of seven new pay systems for K-12 teachers. *Education Policy Analysis Archives*, 11(4). http://epaa.asu.edu/epaa/v11n4/.
- Milanowski, A. (2002b). *An exploration of the pay levels needed to attract mathematics, science and technology majors to a career in K-12 teaching* (Working Paper TC-02-2). Madison, WI: University of Wisconsin, Wisconsin Center for Education Research, Consortium for Policy Research in Education.
- Milanowski, A. T. (2003). *The criterion-related validity of the performance assessment system in Cincinnati*. Paper prepared for the annual meeting of the American Education Finance Association in Orlando, March 2003.
- Miles, K.H., Odden, A., Archibald, S., Fermanich, M., & Gallagher, H.A. (2002). A cross-district analysis of professional development expenditures in four urban districts.
 Madison, WI: University of Wisconsin-Madison, Wisconsin Center for Education Research, Consortium for Policy Research in Education.
- Mishel, Lawrence & Rothstein, R. Eds. (2002). *The class size debate*. Washington, DC: Economic Policy Institute.
- Mohrman, A., Mohrman, S.A., & Odden, A. (1996). Aligning teacher compensation with systemic school reform: Skill-based pay and group-based performance rewards. *Educational Evaluation and Policy Analysis, 18*(1), 51-71.
- Monk, D. (1987). Secondary school size and curriculum comprehensiveness. *Economics of Education Review*, 6(2), 137-150.

- Monk, D. (1990). Educational finance: An economic approach. New York: McGraw-Hill.
- Mosteller, F. (1995). The Tennessee study of class size in the early school grades. *The Future of Children: Critical Issues for Children and Youths*, 5: 113-127.
- Murnane, R. (1996). Staffing the nation's schools with skilled teachers. In E. Hanushek & D. Jorgenson (Eds.), *Improving America's schools: The role of incentives* (pp. 241-258). Washington D.C.: National Academy Press.
- Murphy, J., Beck, L., Crawford, M., Hodges, A., & McGaughy, C. (2001). *The productive high school: Creating personalized academic communities.* Thousand Oaks: Corwin Press.
- Murphy, R.F., Penuel, W.R., Means, B., Korbak, C., Whaley, A., & Allen, J.E. (2002). *E-desk: A review of recent evidence on the effectiveness of discrete educational software.* Palo Alto, CA: SRI International. Available online at: www.sri.com/policy/ctl/html/synthesis3.html
- Naglieri, J.A., & Ford, D.Y. (2003). Addressing under representation of gifted minority children using the Naglieri Nonverbal Ability Test (NNAT). *Gifted Child Quarterly*, 47(2), 155-160.
- Naglieri, J.A., & Ronning, M.E. (2000). Comparison of White, African-American, Hispanic, and Asian children on the Naglieri Nonverbal Ability Test. Psychological Assessment, 12, 328-334.
- Newmann, F., and Associates. (1996). *Authentic achievement: Restructuring schools for intellectual quality*. San Francisco: Jossey-Bass.
- Northwest Regional Educational Laboratory. (1998). Catalog of school reform models: First edition. Portland, OR.
- Nye, B. A., L. V. Hedges, & S. Konstantopulos. (2001a). The long-term effects of small classes in early grades: Lasting benefits in mathematics achievement at grade nine. *Journal of Experimental Education*, 69(3), 245-258. through 9th grade
- Nye, B. A., L. V. Hedges & S. Konstantopulos. (2001b). Are effects of small cumulative: Evidence from a Tennessee experiment, *Journal of Educational Research*, 94(6), 336-345.
- Nye, B., Hedges, L.V., & Konstantopoulos, S. (2002). Do Low-achieving students benefit more from small classes? Evidence from the Tennessee class size experiment. *Educational Evaluation & Policy Analysis* 24(3), 201-217.
- O'Neill, G. Patrick. (1996). Restructuring education: Lessons from Chicago, Edmonton and Wellington. *House* 70(1), 30-31.

- Odden, A. (1990). Class size and student achievement: Research-based policy alternatives. *Educational Evaluation and Policy Analysis*, 12(2), 213-227.
- Odden, A. (1997). How to rethink school budgets to support school transformation. *Getting better by design series, Volume 3.* Arlington, VA: New American Schools.
- Odden, A. (1998). Recommendations for resolving New Jersey Abbott v Burke IV, after the November and December 1997 hearings. Report to the Honorable Judge Patrick Michael King.
- Odden, A. (2000a). Costs of sustaining educational change via comprehensive school reform. *Phi Delta Kappan, 81*(6), 433-438.
- Odden, A. (2000b). New and better forms of teacher compensation are possible. *Phi Delta Kappan*, 81(5), 361-366.
- Odden, A. (2001a). Rewarding expertise. *Education Matters*, 1(1), 16-24.
- Odden, A. (2001c). On school productivity from a resource allocation perspective. In J. Adams, Jr., Ed. *Investing in Adequacy: Critiquing the Challenges (pp. 23-26)*. Washington, DC: National Research Council.
- Odden, A. (2003). An early assessment of comprehensive teacher compensation change plans. In David Monk and Margaret Plecki, Eds. *School Finance and Teacher Quality:*Exploring the Connections. 2003 Annual Yearbook of the American Education Finance Association. Philadelphia: Eye on Education.
- Odden, A. & Archibald, S. (2001). *Reallocating resources: How schools can boost student achievement without spending more*. Thousand Oaks, CA: Corwin Press.
- Odden, A., Archibald, S., and Fermanich. (2003). Rethinking the finance and governance systems for improved student outcomes. In W. Boyd, (Ed.), *American educational governance on trial: Change and challenge* (pp. 82-113). Chicago: National Society for the Study of Education.
- Odden, A., Archibald, S., Fermanich, M., & Gallagher, H.A. (2002). A cost framework for professional development. *Journal of Education Finance* 28 (1), 51-74.
- Odden, A., Fermanich, M., & Picus, L. O. (2003). *A State-of-the art approach to school finance adequacy in Kentucky*. Report prepared for the Kentucky State Department of Education. North Hollywood, CA: Lawrence O. Picus and Associates.
- Odden, A., & Kelley, C. (1997). *Paying teachers for what they know and do: New and smarter compensation strategies to improve schools*. Thousand Oaks, CA: Corwin Press.

- Odden, A., & Kelley, C. (2002). Paying teachers for what they know and do: New and smarter compensation strategies to improve schools (2nd edition). Thousand Oaks, CA: Corwin Press.
- Odden, A., & Picus, L.O. (2000). *School finance: A policy perspective* (2nd edition). New York: McGraw Hill.
- Odden, A., & Picus, L.O. (2003, forthcoming). *School finance: A policy perspective* (3rd edition). New York: McGraw Hill.
- Ornstein, Allen C. (1990). How big should schools and districts be? *Education Digest*, 56(2), 44-48.
- Picus, L.O., Odden, A., & Fermanich, M. (2003). *A professional judgment approach to school finance adequacy in Kentucky*. North Hollywood, CA: Lawrence O. Picus and Associates.
- Public Agenda. (1997). Getting By: What American Teenagers Really Think About Their Schools. New York: Author.
- Raywid, M.A. (1997/1998). Synthesis of research: Small schools: A reform that works. *Educational Leadership*, *55*(4), 34-39.
- Reschovsky, A., & Imazeki, J. (1999). Reforming state aid to achieve educational adequacy: Lessons from Texas and Wisconsin. In B.A. Nye and G.L. Peeveley (Eds.), *Education funding adequacy & equity in the next millennium: Conference proceedings (pp. 1-30)*. Nashville, TN: Tennessee State University.
- Reschovsky, A., & Imazeki, J. (2000). *Developing a cost index for school districts in Illinois*. Paper submitted to the Illinois State Board of Education.
- Reschovsky, A., & Imazeki, J. (2001). Achieving educational adequacy through school finance reform. *Journal of Education Finance*, 26(4), 373-396.
- Reis, S.M., & Purcell, J.H. (1993). An analysis of content elimination and strategies used by elementary classroom teachers in the curriculum compacting process. *Journal for the Education of the Gifted*, 16(2), 147-170.
- Reis, S.M., Westberg, K.L., Kulikowich, J., Caillard, F., Hebert, T., Plucker, J., Purcell, J.H., Rogers, J.B., & Smist, J.M. (1993). Why not let high ability students start school in January? The curriculum compacting study (RM93106). Storrs, CT: The National Research Center on the Gifted and Talented, University of Connecticut.
- Riew, J. (1986). Scale economies, capacity utilization and school costs: A comparative analysis of secondary and elementary schools. *Journal of Education Finance*, 11(4), 433-446.

- Rito, G.R., & Moller, B.W. (1989). Teaching enrichment activities for minorities: T.E.A.M. for success. *Journal of Negro Education*, 58, 212-219.
- Robinson, A., & Clinkenbear, P.R. (1998). Giftedness: An exceptionality examined. *Annual Review of Psychology*, 49, 117-139.
- Rogers, K.B. (2002). Effects of acceleration on gifted learners. In M. Neihart, S.M. Reis, N.M. Robinson & S.M. Moon (Eds.), *The social and emotional development of gifted children: What do we know?* (pp. 3-12). Waco, TX: Prufrock Press.
- Rowan, B., Correnti, R. & Miller, R.J.(2002). What Large-Scale, Survey Research Tells Us About Teacher Effects on Student Achievement: Insights from the *Prospects* Study of Elementary Schools. *Teachers College Record*, (104)8, 1525-1567.
- Sanders, W. L., & Horn, S. P. (1994). The Tennessee Value-Added Assessment System (TVAAS): Mixed-Model Methodology in Educational Assessment. *Journal of Personnel Evaluation in Education*, 8, 299-311.
- Sanders, W.L. & Rivers, J.C. (1996). Cumulative and residual effects of teachers on future student academic achievement. Knoxville: University of Tennessee Value-Added Research and Assessment Center.
- Scott, M.S., Deuel, L.S.S., Jean-Francois, B., & Urbano, R.C. (1996). Identifying cognitively gifted ethnic minority children. *Gifted Child Quarterly*, 40, 147-153.
- Seal, K.R., & Harmon, H.L. (1995). Realities of rural school reform. *Phi Delta Kappan*, 77(2), 119-124.
- Shanahan, T. (1998). On the effectiveness and limitations of tutoring in reading. *Review of Research in Education*, 23, 217-234. Washington, DC: American Educational Research Association.
- Sher, J., & Tompkins, R.B.. (1977). Economy, efficiency and equality: The myths of rural school and district consolidation." In J. P. Sher (Ed.), *Education in rural America*. Boulder, CO: Westview Press.
- Slavin, R.E., Karweit, N., & Wasik, B. (1994). *Preventing early school failure: Research policy and practice*. Boston: Allyn & Bacon.
- Southern, W.T., Jones, E.D., & Fiscus, E.D. (1989). Practitioner objections to the academic acceleration of gifted children. *Gifted Child Quarterly*, 33(1), 29-35.
- Southern, W.T., Jones, E.D., & Stanley, J.C. (1993). Acceleration and enrichment: The context and development of program options. In K.A. Heller, F.J. Monks & A.H. Passow (Eds.), International handbook of research and development of giftedness and talent (pp. 387-410). Exeter, United Kingdom: Pergamon.

- Steinberg, L. (1996). Beyond the classroom: Why school reform has failed and what parents need to do. New York: Simon and Schuster.
- Steinberg, Laurence. (1997). Standards outside the classroom. In D. Ravitch, (Ed)., *The state of student performance in American schools: Brookings Papers on education policy, volume 1*. Washington, DC: Brookings Institution.
- Stringfield, S., Ross, S., & Smith, L. (1996). *Bold plans for school restructuring: The New American Schools designs*. Mahwah, NJ: Lawrence Erlbaum (1996)
- Struck, J. (2003, April). A study of talent development in a predominantly low socioeconomic and/or African American population. Paper presented at the annual meeting of the American Educational Research Association, Chicago, IL.
- Supovitz, J., & Turner, H.M. (2000). The effects of professional development on science teaching practices and classroom culture. *Journal of Research in Science Teaching*, 37(9), 963-980.
- Swiatek, M.A. (2002). A decade of longitudinal research on academic acceleration through the study of mathematically precocious youth. *Roeper Review*, 24(3), 141-144.
- VanTassel-Baska, J., Bass, G., Ries, R., Poland, D., & Avery, L.D. (1998). A national study of science curriculum effectiveness with high ability students. *Gifted Child Quarterly*, 42(4), 200-211.
- VanTassel-Baska, J., Johnson, D.T., & Avery, L.D. (2002). Using performance tasks in the identification of economically disadvantaged and minority gifted learners: Findings from Project STAR. *Gifted Child Quarterly*, 46, 110-123.
- VanTassel-Baska, J., Johnson, D.T., Hughes, C.E., & Boyce, L.N. (1996). A study of language arts curriculum effectiveness with gifted learners. *Journal for the Education of the Gifted*, 19, 461-480.
- VanTassel-Baska, J., Zuo, L., Avery, L.D., & Little, C.A. (2002). A curriculum study of gifted student learning in the language arts. Gifted Child Quarterly, 46, 30-44.
- Wayne, A., & Youngs, P. (2003). Teacher characteristics and student achievement gains: A review. *Review of Educational Research*, 73(1), 89-122.
- Wasik, B., & Slavin, R.E. (1993). Preventing early reading failure with one-to-one tutoring: A review of five programs. *Reading Research Quarterly*, 28, 178-200.
- Waxman, H.D., Connell, M.L., & Gray, J. (2002). A quantitative synthesis of recent research on the effects of teaching and learning with technology on student outcomes. Oak Brook,

- IL: North Central Regional Educational Laboratory. Available online at: www.ncrel.org/tech/effects
- Webster, W. J., Mendro, R. L., Orsak, T. H., & Weerasinghe, D. (1998, April). *An Application of Hierarchical Linear Modeling to the Estimation of School and Teacher Effect*. Paper presented at the Annual Meeting of the American Educational Research Association, San Diego, California.
- Westberg, K.L., Archambault, F.X., Jr., Dobyns, S.M., & Salvin, T. (1993). The classroom practices observation study. Journal for the Education of the Gifted, 16, 120-146.

Appendix A

Members of Professional Judgment Panels

Table A 1
Members of Professional Judgment Panels

	First			
Title	Name	Last Name	City	Panel
Mr.	Billy	Adams	Lake	Panel 2
Mr.	Lorry	Adams	Village Conway	Panel 1
	Jerry			
Ms.	Belinda	Akin	Monticello	Panel 1
Mr.	Elo	Anderson	Cotton Plant	Panel 2
Mr.	Nathan	Barber	Newport	Panel 2
Ms.	Judy	Blackwood	Donaldson	Panel 1
Mr.	Ross	Bolding	Swifton	Panel 2
Mr.	Harry	Branch	Harrison	Panel 1
Ms.	Amy	Braswell	Texarkana	Panel 2
Mr.	Albert	Brown	Corning	Panel 2
Ms.	Carol	Brown	Wynne	Panel 2
Ms.	Teresa	Burl	North Little Rock	Panel 1
Mr.	Richard	Carvell	Jonesboro	Panel 1
Ms.	Deborah	Coffman	Pocahontas	Panel 2
Dr.	Kellie	Cohen	Fort Smith	Panel 2
Ms.	Alicia	Cotabish	Conway	Panel 2
Mr.	Damon	Dean	Crossett	Panel 1
Mr.	Willie	Easter	Stephens	Panel 2
Mr.	Junior	Edgmon	Deer	Panel 2
Mr.	J. M.	Edington	Reyno	Panel 1
Ms.	Ronnie Kay	Erwin	Newport	Panel 1
Ms.	Judy	Fields	Mena	Panel 2
Mr.	Bill	Fisher	Paragould	Panel 1
Mrs.	Elizabeth	Fulton	Little Rock	Panel 2
Ms.	Artie	Furlow	Camden	Panel 2
Ms.	Judy Baker	Goss	Little Rock	Panel 2
Ms.	Lavina	Grandon	Everton	Panel 1

Table A 1 (Continued)
Members of Professional Judgment Panels

	First			
Title	Name	Last Name	City	Panel
Dr.	Jerry	Guess	Camden	Panel 2
Ms.	Nelene	Harris	Fouke	Panel 1
Ms.	Cathy	Holman	Jonesboro	Panel 2
Dr.	Frank	Holman	Cabot	Panel 1
Ms.	Eloise	Hudson	Sherwood	Panel 2
Ms.	Alma	Jackson	Pine Bluff	Panel 2
Ms.	Linda	Joshua	Pine Bluff	Panel 1
Dr.	Diana	Julian	Benton	Panel 1
Ms.	Joyce	Lofton	North Little Rock	Panel 1
Ms.	Kathy	McFetridge	Springdale	Panel 1
Ms.	Lou Ethel	Nauden	Little Rock	Panel 1
Ms.	Melanie	Nichols	Hot Springs	Panel 2
Mr.	Joe Don	Parris	Clarksville	Panel 2
Ms.	Lola	Perritt	Mabelvale	Panel 1
Ms.	Yolanda	Prim	Pine Bluff	Panel 1
Mr.	Ken	Ramey	Siloam Springs	Panel 1
Ms.	Joyce	Randall	Camden	Panel 1
Mr.	Jimmy	Reed	El Dorado	Panel 2
Mr.	Roderick	Rembert	Eudora	Panel 1
Mr.	Keith	Richey	Rector	Panel 1
Ms.	Kar Lynn	Roberts	Pine Bluff	Panel 2
Dr.	Jim	Rollins	Springdale	Panel 2
Mrs.	Delania Kay	Ryan Smith	Magazine	Panel 1
Mr.	Jerry	Shipp	Texarkana	Panel 1
Ms.	Kathy Ann	Short	Fayetteville	Panel 1
Ms.	Vicki	Smith	Springdale	Panel 2
Mr.	Ken	Stamatis	Searcy	Panel 2
Ms.	Tracy	Streeter	Hamburg	Panel 1
Ms.	Karen	Thompson	Alma	Panel 1

Table A 1 (Continued)
Members of Professional Judgment Panels

Title	First Name	Last Name	City	Panel
Ms.	Lisa	Todd	Searcy	Panel 2
Mr.	Arthur	Tucker	Warren	Panel 2
Mr.	Milton	Washington	Osceola	Panel 1
Mr.	Bob	Watson	El Dorado	Panel 1
Ms.	Julie	Western	Benton	Panel 1
Mr.	Wesley	White	Russellville	Panel 1
Ms.	Valerie	Wilson	Camden	Panel 1
Ms.	Peggy	Woosley	Stuttgart	Panel 2
Ms.	Charlotte	Wright	Weiner	Panel 1
Ms.	Katherine	Wright-Knight	Little Rock	Panel 2

We would also like to express our appreciation to Zena Rudo of the Southwest Educational Development Laboratory and Bill Glenn from USC for their help in moderating the two Professional Judgment panels.

Thanks are also due to staff members from the Arkansas Department of Education who facilitated the identification and participation of the many individuals from across the state.

Appendix B Materials Prepared for Professional Judgment Panels June 11 and 12, 2003

Lawrence O. Picus and Associates

June 11, 2003

Dear Professional Judgment Panel Members:

Thank you for agreeing to participate in the Arkansas adequacy study's professional judgment panels today and tomorrow. You were selected as one of the state's leading educators to help the Joint Committee on Educational Adequacy determine the resources necessary to provide an adequate education to all of Arkansas' public school children.

Over the next two days, you will be asked to review an "evidence based" model of adequacy that, in conjunction with the Joint Committee, we have put together for Arkansas. As you know, we have met with the Joint Committee on a number of occasions to explain and refine this model. Today and tomorrow you will be asked to review the model and to provide input to the Joint Committee as to how well the resources identified in the model can meet the needs of providing an adequate education in your state.

We hope you received a copy of the draft report that we prepared for the Joint Committee -- An Evidence Based Approach to School Finance Adequacy In Arkansas. Relying on the best current research in education, this report identifies the resources we believe are needed to provide an adequate education. It forms the basis of our work over the next two days. During that time, we will take you through a process that will result in a set of recommendations to the Joint Committee on how – if at all – the models specified in the attached report should be modified.

Your comments and suggestions are a critical part of this process. To the extent you feel changes are necessary, it will be helpful if you can provide the other panel members, and us, with both the rationale for any changes and the research base to support your recommendation. To be acceptable, we believe the model must be grounded in current educational research findings.

Following the Joint Committee's review of your recommendations, our team will estimate the costs of the adequacy model that emerges and report back to the Committee. We will then work with the committee to formulate a funding system to support that model.

Thank you for taking time to work with us over the next two days. Your dedication to this task will help improve schools for all children in Arkansas.

AGENDA

Arkansas Adequacy Study Professional Judgment Panel Meeting June 11-12, 2003 Little Rock, Arkansas

WEDNESDAY	JUNE	11	2003
** LUNLSUA I	JUNE		4003

10:00 AM Welcome and Introductions (Salon D)

Purpose of Professional Judgment Panels Role of panelists in an Adequacy Study

Overview of activities

10:30 – Breakout sessions

12:30 PM Group 1 in Salon B and Group 2 in Salon C

Review initial task (school design)

Review of evidence based model prepared by Picus and Associates

Initial discussion regarding adequacy of the model to meet Arkansas Standards

12:30 – Lunch (Salon D)

1:30 PM

1:30 – Continue meetings in panel groups (Salons B and C)

4:00 PM

Refine prototype models

Specify resources needed to operate the school

Begin discussions of adjustments for schools with different student and/or school

characteristics

4:00 – Reconvene both panels for review of progress (Salon D)

5:00 PM

5:00 PM Adjourn

6:00 PM Dinner – On your own

Continued on next page

AGENDA

Arkansas Adequacy Study Professional Judgment Panel Meeting June 11-12, 2003 Little Rock, Arkansas

THURSDAY JUNE 12, 2003

9:00 – Reconvene in breakout panels (Group 1 in Salon D and Group 2 in Salon C)

11:30 AM

Discuss adjustments for student and school characteristics

Consider district support functions needed to make prototype school functional

11:30 – Final full group discussion (Salon D)

12:00 Noon

Reflection on outcomes Evaluation of process

12:00 Noon Adjourn

INSTRUCTIONS TO PROFESSIONAL JUDGMENT PANEL MEMBERS

You are a member of one of two panels meeting today. Each panel is being asked to review evidence based models of prototypical schools. The models presented for your review are hypothetical; the schools do not currently exist, and may never actually be built. The purpose of developing the prototype school is to specify the resources that these schools should have if they are to meet the Arkansas goal of proficiency in the state's goals and standards by the year 2014.

In addition to the members assigned to your group, two representatives from Lawrence O. Picus and Associates will help facilitate your discussion and take notes.

We have prepared models of three prototypical schools (Elementary, Middle and High School) for your review. We have used enrollments of 500 students for each school. It is up to you to decide if this figure is appropriate or if you want to recommend an adjustment. A copy of the grid we use to present the prototypical models is included in your folder.

You will have an opportunity later in the day to discuss how the resources you recommend might be adjusted for smaller and larger schools. You should assume that the school has an average percentage of children requiring special education services, and who come from low income families. Average percentages of school children who qualify for free and reduced price lunch, receive special education, or are English Language Learners are included in the prototypical model.

Included in your folder is a list of the seven capacities of an efficient system of common schools as identified by the Kentucky Supreme Court, and adopted by the Arkansas courts as an appropriate standard.

We want you to use your knowledge and experience to organize personnel, supplies and materials, technology and any other resources in a way your group is confident will produce student learners who can meet the standards of the Arkansas accountability system.

Any assumptions that your group makes should be clearly delineated in your model description. In addition, you should assume the following:

- The percentage of students with special needs or who come from families with low incomes is reflective of the state average. This information is provided on the attached grid containing the prototypical school models.
- The school can attract and retain qualified personnel and you can employ them on a part time basis if necessary.
- The prototype school has sufficient space to meet the facility needs of your plan. Don't worry about the need to build new facilities, assume they are available, but be sure to

carefully specify exactly what the school needs so we can estimate the costs of actually providing those facilities for schools.

- You are not concerned with the revenue side of the equation. For now, just build the best school you can, and don't focus on local/state/federal funds and/or the requirements for receiving them.
- Feel free to consider new programs and/or services that you believe are needed to address the needs of Arkansas' school children. Assume that those programs are in place today.
- We encourage you to be creative in your design. Don't feel constrained by the current organization of schools if you think alternative designs or structures would better serve the needs of Arkansas' children.
- It will be helpful if you can provide the other panel members, and us, with both the rationale for any changes and the research base to support your recommendation.
- In your deliberations, be sure to consider the following factors:
 - Administration (school site and central district)
 - Regular classroom instruction, including staff and materials
 - Specialist instruction in art, music, library, etc.
 - Planning and preparation time for teachers, including staff and materials
 - Extra help for:
 - Students from low income backgrounds
 - ESL students
 - Disabled students
 - o Other categories of special needs, if any
 - Pupil support (guidance, psychologists, social workers, etc.
 - Professional development
 - Office help
 - Operations and maintenance
 - Food services
 - Other materials, technology, if any
 - Other
- At the high school level, you might also consider:
 - Clubs and other extra curricular activities
 - Athletic program

Draft Proposals for Adequate Resources for Prototypical Arkansas Elementary, Middle and High Schools

School Element	Elementary Schools	Middle Schools High School		
School Characteristics				
School configuration	K-5	6-8	9-12	
School size	500	500	500	
Class size	K-3: 15 4-5: 25	25	25	
Full-day kindergarten	Yes	NA	NA	
Pre-school	Yes	NA	NA	
Length of teacher work year	10 extra summer PD days	10 extra summer PD days	10 extra summer PD days	
% Disabled	13.1	13.1	13.1	
% Poverty (free & reduced lunch)	47.4%	47.4%	47.4%	
% ELL	3.86	3.86	3.86	
% Minority	28.8%	28.8%	28.8%	
Personnel Resources				
Principal	1	1	1	
Assistant Principal	0	0	0	
Instructional				
Facilitators/Mentors	2.5	2.5	2.5	
Teachers	29	20	20	
Specialist teachers	20% more: 6	20% more: 4	20% more: 4	
Instructional aides	0	0	0	
Teachers for struggling students	1/each 20% poverty: 2.5	1/each 20% poverty: 2.5	1/each 20% poverty: 2.5	
Teachers for students with moderate disabilities/speech /hearing	2	2	2	
Severe Disabilities	Extra weight of 2.35	Extra weight of 2.35	Extra weight of 2.35	
Teachers for ELL students	Included in struggling students category	Included in struggling students category	Included in struggling students category	
Teachers for gifted students	0	0	0	
Aides for categorical	0	0	0	

students			
Pupil support staff	1/each 20% poverty: 2.5	1/each 20% poverty + 1 Guidance: 3.5	1/each 20% poverty + 2 Guidance: 4.5
Librarians/ media specialists	0; included with specialist teachers	1.0	1.5
Technology resource teachers	Included in Instructional Facilitators	Included in Instructional Facilitators	Included in Instructional Facilitators
Substitutes	10 days per teacher	10 days per teacher	10 days per teacher
Dollar per Pupil Resources			
Professional development	Included above: Instructional facilitators Planning & prep time 10 summer days Additional: \$50/pupil for trainers	Included above: Instructional facilitators Planning & prep time 10 summer days Additional: \$50/pupil for trainers	Included above: Instructional facilitators Planning & prep time 10 summer days Additional: \$50/pupil for trainers
Technology	\$250/pupil	\$250/pupil	\$250/pupil
Instructional materials, equipment, student activities	\$250/pupil	\$250/pupil	\$250/pupil
Extra duty funds		\$60/pupil	\$120/pupil

Seven Capacities of an Efficient System of Common Schools As established by the Kentucky Supreme Court in Rose v. Council for Better Education, Inc.,

AND ADOPTED BY THE ARKANSAS COURTS

In its ruling, the Kentucky Supreme Court said that all students should have access to an adequate education program, and included the following language about what such a program would include:

- Sufficient oral and written communication skills to enable students to function in a complex and rapidly changing civilization;
- Sufficient knowledge of economic, social and political systems to enable the student to make informed choices;
- Sufficient understanding of governmental processes to enable the student to understand the issues that affect his or her community, state, and nation;
- Sufficient self-knowledge and knowledge of his or her mental and physical wellness;
- Sufficient grounding in the arts to enable each student to appreciate his or her cultural and historical heritage;
- Sufficient training or preparation for advanced training in either academic or vocational fields so as to enable each child to choose and pursue life work intelligently; and
- Sufficient levels of academic or vocational skills to enable public school students to compete favorably with their counterparts in surrounding states, in academics or in the job market.

Appendix C Historical Record of the Joint Committee on Educational Adequacy

Historical Record of the Joint Committee on Educational Adequacy

In the wake of the *Lake View* decision, the Arkansas General Assembly created the Joint Committee on Educational Adequacy ("Committee") via Act 94 of 2003. The legislature gave the Committee six specific charges:

- (1) Review the opinion of the Arkansas Supreme Court in the matter of Lake View School District No. 25 of Phillips County, Arkansas, et al., vs. Governor Mike Huckabee, et al. issued on November 21, 2002, and use the opinion and other legal precedent cited by the court in the committee's deliberations;
- (2) Recommend what constitutes an adequate education in Arkansas;
- (3) Recommend a method of providing equality of educational opportunity, which must include as basic components, substantially equal curricula, substantially equal teacher salaries, substantially equal facilities, and substantially equal equipment for obtaining an adequate education;
- (4) Recommend the costs of an adequate education for all students in Arkansas, taking into account cost of living variances, diseconomies of scale, transportation variability, demographics, school districts with a disproportionate number of students who are economically disadvantaged or have educational disabilities, and other factors as deemed relevant;
- (5) Recommend the amount of per student expenditure necessary to provide an equal educational opportunity and the amount of state funds to be provided to school districts, based upon the cost of an adequate education as recommended in subdivision (f)(4) of this section, and a method of monitoring the expenditures and distributing the state funds; and,
- (6) Recommend a system or method to assess, evaluate, and monitor the entire spectrum of public education across the state to determine whether equal educational opportunity for an adequate education is being substantially afforded to Arkansas' school children.²¹

In accordance with the Act, the Committee was appointed and consisted of Cochairmen Senator Jim Argue, Chairman of the Senate Education Committee and

-

²¹ See Act 94 of 2003 § 2(f)(1) through (6).

Representative Calvin Johnson, Chairman of the House Education Committee. The following individuals made up the rest of the ten-member committee: Senators David Bisbee, Steve Bryles, Brenda Gullett, and Jimmy Jeffress, and Representatives Herschel Cleveland, Speaker of the House of Representatives, LeRoy Dangeau, Jodie Mahony, and Robert White. Mr. Ray Simon, Director of the Arkansas Department of Education, was an Ex-Officio member of the Committee.

The Committee met on March 5, March 12, April 11, May 2, May 9, May 20-21, June 12, July 14-16, and August 18-19, 2003. Furthermore, the Committee established a Subcommittee on Accountability consisting of Senator David Bisbee, Co-Chairman, Representative Jodie Mahony, Co-Chairman, Senator Steve Bryles, and Representative LeRoy Dangeau (with the Committee Co-Chairmen serving Ex-Officio) that met on July 29 and August 12, 2003. All meetings of the Committee and Subcommittee were open to the public, and public comment was accepted at the final meeting of the Committee and the second meeting of the Subcommittee on Accountability.

The members of the Joint Committee on Educational Adequacy wish to thank the following individuals and organizations for the valuable assistance they provided as the work of the Joint Committee progressed.

March 5, 2003

Mr. Timothy G. Gauger, Senior Assistant Attorney General, Office of the Attorney General

Mr. Tristan D. Greene, Special Assistant to the Director, Arkansas Department of Education

April 11, 2003

Dr. Allan Odden, Professor of Educational Administration, and Co-Director, Consortium for Policy Research in Education, Wisconsin Center for Education Research, University of Wisconsin-Madison

Dr. Larry Picus, Professor, Division of Educational Policy, Planning, and Administration, Rossier School of Education, University of Southern California

May 2, 2003

Dr. Allan Odden, Professor of Educational Administration, and Co-Director, Consortium for Policy Research in Education, Wisconsin Center for Education Research, University of Wisconsin-Madison

Dr. Larry Picus, Professor, Division of Educational Policy, Planning, and Administration, Rossier School of Education, University of Southern California **Dr. Marc J. Wallace**, Center for Workforce Effectiveness, Lake Bluff, Illinois.

May 9, 2003

Dr. Allan Odden, Professor of Educational Administration, and Co-Director, Consortium for Policy Research in Education, Wisconsin Center for Education Research, University of Wisconsin-Madison

Dr. Larry Picus, Professor, Division of Educational Policy, Planning, and Administration, Rossier School of Education, University of Southern California **Dr. Marc J. Wallace**, Center for Workforce Effectiveness, Lake Bluff, Illinois.

May 21, 2003

The Honorable Janet Johnson, State Representative, District 29 **Dr. Allan Odden,** Professor of Educational Administration, and Co-Director, Consortium for Policy Research in Education, Wisconsin Center for Education Research, University of Wisconsin-Madison

Dr. Larry Picus, Professor, Division of Educational Policy, Planning, and Administration, Rossier School of Education, University of Southern California **Dr. Marc J. Wallace**, Center for Workforce Effectiveness, Lake Bluff, Illinois.

June 12, 2003

Dr. Allan Odden, Professor of Educational Administration, and Co-Director, Consortium for Policy Research in Education, Wisconsin Center for Education Research, University of Wisconsin-Madison

July 14, 2003

Mr. Mark Fermanich, Consortium for Policy Research in Education, University of Wisconsin-Madison

Dr. Allan Odden, Professor of Educational Administration, and Co-Director, Consortium for Policy Research in Education, Wisconsin Center for Education Research, University of Wisconsin-Madison;

Dr. Larry Picus, Professor, Division of Educational Policy, Planning, and Administration, Rossier School of Education, University of Southern California

July 15, 2003

Mr. Mark Fermanich, Consortium for Policy Research in Education, University of Wisconsin-Madison

Dr. Allan Odden, Professor of Educational Administration, and Co-Director, Consortium for Policy Research in Education, Wisconsin Center for Education Research, University of Wisconsin-Madison;

Dr. Larry Picus, Professor, Division of Educational Policy, Planning, and Administration, Rossier School of Education, University of Southern California **Dr. Marc J. Wallace**, Center for Workforce Effectiveness, Lake Bluff, Illinois.

July 16, 2003

Mr. Mark Fermanich, Consortium for Policy Research in Education, University of Wisconsin-Madison

Dr. Allan Odden, Professor of Educational Administration, and Co-Director, Consortium for Policy Research in Education, Wisconsin Center for Education Research, University of Wisconsin-Madison;

Dr. Larry Picus, Professor, Division of Educational Policy, Planning, and Administration, Rossier School of Education, University of Southern California **Dr. Marc J. Wallace**, Center for Workforce Effectiveness, Lake Bluff, Illinois

August 18, 2003

Dr. Mark Fermanich, Consortium for Policy Research in Education, University of Wisconsin-Madison.

Dr. Allan Odden, Professor of Educational Administration, and Co-Director, Consortium for Policy Research in Education, Wisconsin Center for Education Research, University of Wisconsin-Madison;

Dr. Larry Picus, Professor, Division of Educational Policy, Planning, and Administration, Rossier School of Education, University of Southern California **Dr. Marc J. Wallace**, Center for Workforce Effectiveness, Lake Bluff, Illinois

August 19, 2003

Dr. Mark Fermanich, Consortium for Policy Research in Education, University of Wisconsin-Madison.

Dr. Benny Gooden, Superintendent, Fort Smith School District

Mr. Ron Harder, Study Circles/Policy Service, Arkansas School Boards Association

Mr. Don Johnson, Legislative Chair, Arkansas Patent Teacher Association

Mr. Charles Knox, Assistant Executive Director, Arkansas Association of Educational Administrators

Mr. Ben Mays, School Board Member, Clinton School District

Dr. Allan Odden, Professor of Educational Administration, and Co-Director, Consortium for Policy Research in Education, Wisconsin Center for Education Research, University of Wisconsin-Madison;

Dr. Larry Picus, Professor, Division of Educational Policy, Planning, and Administration, Rossier School of Education, University of Southern California **Dr. Marc J. Wallace**, Center for Workforce Effectiveness, Lake Bluff, Illinois

EDUCATOR COMPENSATION SUBCOMMITTEE

May 2, 2003

Dr. Larry Picus, Professor, Division of Educational Policy, Planning, and Administration, Rossier School of Education, University of Southern California **Dr. Allan Odden,** Professor of Educational Administration, and Co-Director, Consortium for Policy Research in Education, Wisconsin Center for Education Research, University of Wisconsin-Madison;

Dr. Marc J. Wallace, Center for Workforce Effectiveness, Lake Bluff, Illinois

May 20, 2003

Dr. Allan Odden, Professor of Educational Administration, and Co-Director, Consortium for Policy Research in Education, Wisconsin Center for Education Research, University of Wisconsin-Madison

Dr. Marc J. Wallace, Center for Workforce Effectiveness, North Brook, IL

ACCOUNTABILITY SUBCOMMITTEE

July 29, 2003

Mr. James Boardman, Assistant Director, Information Technology, Arkansas Department of Education

Dr. Woodrow E. "Woody" Cummins, Jr., Deputy Director, Arkansas Department of Education

Ms. Stacy Pittman, President, Arkansas State Chamber of Commerce

Dr. Charity Smith, Assistant Director, Accountability, Arkansas Department of Education

Mr. Scott Smith, General Counsel, Arkansas Department of Education

August 12, 2003

Dr. Ben Brown, Executive Director, Evaluation and Assessment Division, Tennessee Department of Education

Dr. Dan Challener, Executive Director, Fund for Excellence, Chattanooga, Tennessee

Dr. Thomas H. Fisher, Director (Retired), Student Assessment Services, Florida Department of Education

Mr. Tommy Foltz, Executive Director, Arkansans for Education Reform

Mr. Walter Hussman, Publisher, Arkansas Democrat-Gazette

Mr. Sid Johnson, President, Arkansas Education Association

Mr. Ben Mays, School Board Member, Clinton School District

Ms. Kathy Moreledge, Assistant Executive Director, Arkansas School Boards Association

Ms. Stacy Pittman, President, Arkansas State Chamber of Commerce

Appendix D

Estimated Change in Total Revenue Per Pupil And State Aid Per-Pupil Under Proposed Adequacy Model

The following pages contain a list of all 308 school districts in Arkansas along with the estimated total revenue per pupil generated by the adequacy model developed in this report. The change in state aid for each district is also included in this table. Because the funding model proposed by the Committee assumes the model will be funded by a uniform property tax rate of 25 mills, revenues that are currently raised by local districts – or could be raised by local districts in the future – are not included in these totals.

Table D.1
Estimated Change in Total Revenue Per Pupil
And State Aid Per Pupil Under Proposed Adequacy Model

			Proposed					
					CI	hange		
			A	ssessed	In	Sate	Ad	leuqacy
District			Va	alue Per		Aid	Mod	del Costs
Code	District Name	Enrollment	Pu	pil (98%)	Pe	r Pupil	Pe	er Pupil
101 D	ewitt School District	1,191	\$	59,179	\$	1,407	\$	6,137
102 G	illett School District	230	\$	72,444	\$	1,458	\$	7,237
104 S	tuttgart School District	1,938	\$	63,890	\$	1,519	\$	6,305
105 H	umphrey School District	277	\$	35,248	\$	1,607	\$	6,912
201 C	rossett School District	2,462	\$	71,982	\$	1,344	\$	6,250
202 F	ountain Hill School District	272	\$	38,897	\$	1,652	\$	6,901
203 H	amburg School District	1,644	\$	42,732	\$	1,686	\$	6,508
302 C	otter School District	621	\$	42,376	\$	1,299	\$	6,255
303 M	Iountain Home School District	3,804	\$	87,158	\$	1,095	\$	6,018
304 N	orfork School District	485	\$	58,164	\$	1,656	\$	6,444
401 B	entonville School District	7,184	\$	80,121	\$	1,191	\$	5,887
402 D	ecatur School District	546	\$	55,666	\$	1,583	\$	6,316
403 G	entry School District	1,207	\$	75,854	\$	1,366	\$	6,176
404 G	ravette School District	1,440	\$	92,351	\$	1,347	\$	6,127
405 R	ogers School District	11,349	\$	65,556	\$	1,304	\$	6,134
406 S	iloam Springs School District	2,888	\$	57,119	\$	1,372	\$	6,098
407 P	ea Ridge School District	1,118	\$	32,043	\$	1,451	\$	6,119
501 A	Ipena School District	533	\$	31,330	\$	1,423	\$	6,340
502 B	ergman School District	887	\$	29,015	\$	1,305	\$	6,090
503 H	arrison School District	2,786	\$	73,419	\$	1,250	\$	6,072
504 O	maha School District	403	\$	40,637	\$	2,304	\$	7,053
505 V	alley Springs School District	897	\$	34,797	\$	1,362	\$	6,172
506 Le	ead Hill School District	372	\$	54,092	\$	1,719	\$	6,459
601 H	ermitage School District	568	\$	38,079	\$	1,589	\$	6,546
602 W	/arren School District	1,594	\$	41,379	\$	1,319	\$	6,283
701 H	ampton School District	784	\$	75,347	\$	1,433	\$	6,291
801 B	erryville School District	1,642	\$	52,060	\$	1,340	\$	6,151
802 E	ureka Springs School District	714	\$	198,490	\$	886	\$	6,307
803 G	reen Forest School District	1,216	\$	42,052	\$	1,478	\$	6,339
901 D	ermott School District	716	\$	37,210	\$	1,426	\$	6,711
902 E	udora School District	731	\$	41,242	\$	1,690	\$	6,680
903 La	akeside School District	1,028	\$	51,584	\$	1,638	\$	6,567
1002 A	rkadelphia School District	2,280	\$	59,704	\$	1,426	\$	6,098
1003 G	Surdon School District	894	\$	50,972	\$	1,540	\$	6,337
1101 C	orning School District	1,112	\$	56,399	\$	1,517	\$	6,269
1104 P	iggott School District	994	\$	43,373	\$	1,348	\$	6,136
1106 R	ector School District	692	\$	42,349	\$	1,503	\$	6,251
1201 C	oncord School District	464	\$	34,524	\$	1,597	\$	6,374
1202 H	eber Springs School District	1,672	\$	83,339	\$	1,236	\$	6,069
1203 Q	uitman School District	596	\$	50,438	\$	1,300	\$	6,171
	/est Side School District	538	\$	109,146	\$	1,285	\$	6,281

Table D.1
Estimated Change in Total Revenue Per Pupil
And State Aid Per Pupil Under Proposed Adequacy Model

		Proposed Change Assessed In Sate Adeuqacy									
District			Value Per		Aid	Model Costs					
Code District Name	Enrollment					Pupil (98%)		Per Pupil			r Pupil
1205 Wilburn School District	181	\$	49,651	\$	1,771	\$	7,757				
1301 Kingsland School District	293	\$	61,486	\$	1,450	\$	6,950				
1303 Rison School District	636	\$	34,127	\$	1,436	\$	6,278				
1304 Woodlawn School District	563	\$	25,226	\$	1,374	\$	6,152				
1401 Emerson School District	378	\$	112,184	\$	1,797	\$	6,513				
1402 Magnolia School District	2,809	\$	52,546	\$	1,124	\$	5,991				
1403 McNeil School District	277	\$	39,117	\$	1,476	\$	7,081				
1404 Taylor School District	322	\$	48,077	\$	1,796	\$	6,686				
1406 Waldo School District	412	\$	38,474	\$	1,866	\$	6,800				
1407 Walker School District	218	\$	30,668	\$	2,557	\$	7,418				
1503 Nemo Vista School District	434	\$	27,709	\$	1,577	\$	6,380				
1505 Wonderview School District	502	\$	33,037	\$	1,433	\$	6,332				
1507 So. Conway Co. School District	2,380	\$	58,512	\$	1,397	\$	6,224				
1601 Bay School District	643	\$	30,396	\$	1,420	\$	6,172				
1602 Westside Cons. School District	1,630	\$	37,877	\$	1,243	\$	6,090				
1603 Brookland School District	1,127	\$	37,379	\$	1,212	\$	5,994				
1605 Buffalo Is. Central Sch. Dist.	841	\$	45,896	\$	1,773	\$	6,478				
1608 Jonesboro School District	4,745	\$	67,755	\$	1,261	\$	6,157				
1611 Nettleton School District	2,488	\$	78,216	\$	1,268	\$	6,067				
1612 Valley View School District	1,362	\$	48,068	\$	1,154	\$	5,915				
1613 Riverside School District	826	\$	31,613	\$	1,740	\$	6,468				
1701 Alma School District	2,860	\$	24,709	\$	1,201	\$	5,994				
1702 Cedarville School District	888	\$	20,283	\$	1,289	\$	6,191				
1703 Mountainburg School District	795	\$	24,355	\$	1,603	\$	6,380				
1704 Mulberry School District	381	\$	43,840	\$	1,305	\$	6,489				
1705 Van Buren School District	5,441	\$	40,239	\$	1,349	\$	6,099				
1801 Crawfordsville School District	265	\$	97,074	\$	1,863	\$	7,302				
1802 Earle School District	857	\$	26,268	\$	1,859	\$	6,616				
1803 West Memphis School District	6,100	\$	29,601	\$	1,511	\$	6,354				
1804 Marion School District	3,225	\$	37,539	\$	1,288	\$	6,035				
1805 Turrell School District	404	\$	26,569	\$	1,778	\$	6,732				
1901 Cross County School District	788	\$	51,637	\$	1,840	\$	6,564				
1903 Parkin School District	404	\$	43,066	\$	1,605	\$	6,771				
1905 Wynne School District	2,864	\$	36,384	\$	1,413	\$	6,143				
2001 Carthage School District	129	\$	93,397	\$	2,566	\$	9,007				
2002 Fordyce School District	1,211	\$	36,912	\$	562	\$	6,269				
2003 Sparkman School District	278	\$	56,551	\$	1,566	\$	6,922				
2101 Arkansas City School District	115	\$	250,475	\$	1,090	\$	9,528				
2102 Delta Special School District	240	\$	167,625	\$	1,561	\$	7,182				
2104 Dumas School District	1,685	\$	37,040	\$	1,724	\$	6,468				
2105 McGehee School District	1,196	\$	34,369	\$	1,126	\$	6,246				

Table D.1
Estimated Change in Total Revenue Per Pupil
And State Aid Per Pupil Under Proposed Adequacy Model

		Proposed Change					
District			ssessed	Ir	Sate		deuqacy
District District Name	Covellos est		alue Per	Aid			del Costs
Code District Name 2202 Drew Central School District	Enrollment 1,075		pil (98%)		r Pupil		er Pupil
	,	\$	41,392	\$	1,141	\$	6,162
2203 Monticello School District	2,136	\$	37,123	\$	1,410	\$	6,168 5,045
2301 Conway School District 2303 Greenbrier School District	7,982 2,359	\$	62,514	\$ \$	1,235 1,228	\$ \$	5,945
2304 Guy-Perkins School District	2,339	\$	30,715 29,394	Ф \$	1,797	Ф \$	6,020 6,468
2305 Mayflower School District	919	\$ \$	29,394 34,755	φ \$	1,797	φ \$	6,205
2306 Mt. Vernon/Enola School Dist.	481	φ \$	29,398	φ \$	1,873	φ \$	6,483
2307 Vilonia School District	2,560	φ \$	25,389	φ \$	1,182	φ \$	5,932
2401 Altus-Denning School District	2,300	\$	74,690	Ψ \$	2,326	φ \$	7,214
2402 Charleston School District	866	\$	36,486	Ψ \$	1,308	\$	5,972
2403 County Line School District	560	\$	51,342	Ψ \$	1,174	\$	6,331
2404 Ozark School District	1,656	\$	46,636	Ψ \$	1,174	φ \$	6,070
2405 Pleasant View School District	227	\$	50,279	Ψ \$	1,449	φ \$	7,212
2501 Mammoth Spring School District		φ \$	37,523	φ \$	1,587	φ \$	6,555
2502 Salem School District	739	φ \$	36,979	φ \$	1,463	φ \$	6,266
2502 Salem School District	457	φ \$	43,684	φ \$	1,370	φ \$	6,317
	662	φ \$	32,457	φ \$	1,370	φ \$	6,230
2601 Cutter-Morning Star Sch. Dist. 2602 Fountain Lake School District				Ф \$			
	1,156	\$	171,166 83,340	Ф \$	1,257	\$ \$	5,972
2603 Hot Springs School District 2604 Jessieville School District	3,304	\$	•		1,818		6,610
	718	\$	135,644	\$	1,317	\$	6,101 5,064
2605 Lake Hamilton School District	3,676	\$	42,259	\$	1,208	\$	5,964
2606 Lakeside School District	2,554	\$	62,537	\$	1,162	\$	5,888
2607 Mountain Pine School District	681	\$	49,253	\$	1,426	\$	6,229
2703 Poyen School District	499	\$	15,436	\$	1,391	\$	6,245
2705 Sheridan School District	4,137	\$	39,538	\$	1,096	\$	5,904
2801 Delaplaine School District 2803 Marmaduke School District	323 783	\$ \$	33,258	\$	1,527	\$ \$	6,658
2807 Greene Co. Tech School District		φ \$	33,192	\$	1,386	φ \$	6,164
	2,760	-	39,685	\$	1,218		6,028
2808 Paragould School District 2901 Blevins School District	2,711	\$	51,384	\$	1,440	\$	6,244
	483	\$	33,228	\$	1,588	\$	6,582
2903 Hope School District	2,778	\$	40,760	\$	1,503	\$	6,386
2905 Saratoga School District	189	\$	59,969	\$	1,255	\$	7,729
2906 Spring Hill School District	494	\$	17,149	\$	1,617	\$	6,292
3001 Bismarck School District	1,047	\$	33,426	\$	1,360	\$	6,213
3002 Glen Rose School District	1,051	\$	29,050	\$	1,363	\$	6,067
3003 Magnet Cove School Dist.	829	\$	41,194	\$	1,352	\$	6,034
3004 Malvern School District	2,208	\$	52,883	\$	1,458	\$	6,253
3005 Ouachita School District	391	\$	35,949	\$	1,644	\$	6,452
3102 Dierks School District	584	\$	58,722	\$	1,379	\$	6,187
3104 Mineral Springs School Dist.	518	\$	26,720	\$	1,678	\$	6,409
3105 Nashville School District	1,828	\$	48,339	\$	1,345	\$	6,173

Table D.1
Estimated Change in Total Revenue Per Pupil
And State Aid Per Pupil Under Proposed Adequacy Model

		Proposed Change					
Diatriat			Assessed In Sate			Adeuqacy Model Costs	
District Code District Name	Enrollment		alue Per pil (98%)	Aid Per Pupil			
3106 Umpire School District	106	\$	92,041	\$	3,304	\$	10,065
3201 Batesville School District	2,080	\$	59,784	\$	1,504	\$	6,323
3202 Cord-Charlotte School District	294	\$	33,786	\$	1,758	\$	6,908
3203 Cushman School District	407	\$	23,399	\$	1,653	\$	6,521
3206 Newark School District	545	\$	251,030	\$	192	\$	6,609
3209 Southside School District	1,363	\$	22,794	\$	1,308	\$	6,119
3210 Sulphur Rock School District	367	\$	82,957	\$	1,814	\$	6,526
3211 Midland School District	582	\$	31,088	\$	1,325	\$	6,298
3301 Calico Rock School District	581	\$	30,980	\$	1,660	\$	6,329
3302 Melbourne School District	523	\$	51,879	\$	1,451	\$	6,325
3303 Mount Pleasant School District	310	\$	37,647	\$	1,622	\$	6,706
3306 Izard Co. Cons. School Dist.	491	\$	69,375	\$	962	\$	6,465
3403 Newport School District	1,679	\$	61,134	\$	1,376	\$	6,301
3404 Swifton School District	293	\$	33,401	\$	1,771	\$	6,742
3405 Jackson Co. School District	641	\$	46,043	\$	1,863	\$	6,627
3501 Altheimer Unified School Dist.	534	\$	64,114	\$	1,646	\$	6,688
3502 Dollarway School District	1,532	\$	32,602	\$	1,613	\$	6,547
3505 Pine Bluff School District	6,332	\$	45,623	\$	1,573	\$	6,371
3509 Watson Chapel School District	3,240	\$	24,377	\$	1,248	\$	6,087
3510 White Hall School District	2,989	\$	60,577	\$	1,181	\$	5,919
3601 Clarksville School District	2,097	\$	47,308	\$	1,481	\$	6,299
3604 Lamar School District	1,123	\$	35,278	\$	1,298	\$	6,136
3605 Oark School District	146	\$	37,574	\$	1,562	\$	8,447
3606 Westside School District	641	\$	32,307	\$	1,598	\$	6,458
3701 Bradley School District	381	\$	57,106	\$	1,867	\$	6,537
3702 Lewisville School District	508	\$	48,311	\$	1,601	\$	6,450
3703 Stamps School District	633	\$	38,543	\$	1,431	\$	6,427
3801 Black Rock School District	381	\$	34,651	\$	1,738	\$	6,586
3804 Hoxie School District	924	\$	31,225	\$	1,547	\$	6,305
3805 Lynn School District	229	\$	34,325	\$	1,786	\$	7,263
3806 Sloan-Hendrix School Dist.	577	\$	27,592	\$	1,443	\$	6,409
3807 River Valley School District	331	\$	46,869	\$	2,425	\$	7,369
3808 Walnut Ridge School District	774	\$	66,062	\$	1,417	\$	6,193
3904 Lee County School District	1,747	\$	42,081	\$	1,288	\$	6,501
4001 Gould School District	223	\$	51,640	\$	2,692	\$	8,523
4002 Grady School District	266	\$	50,987	\$	1,362	\$	7,194
4003 Star City School District	1,559	\$	35,563	\$	1,396	\$	6,121
4101 Ashdown School District	1,678	\$	105,422	\$	1,472	\$	6,172
4102 Foreman School District	496	\$	52,736	\$	1,761	\$	6,412
4201 Booneville School District	1,454	\$	31,504	\$	1,396	\$	6,169
4202 Magazine School District	530	\$	30,266	\$	1,492	\$	6,480

Table D.1
Estimated Change in Total Revenue Per Pupil
And State Aid Per Pupil Under Proposed Adequacy Model

		Proposed					
		Change					
		Α	ssessed	In	Sate	Ad	leuqacy
District		Va	alue Per		Aid	Mod	del Costs
Code District Name	Enrollment	Pu	pil (98%)	Pe	r Pupil	Pe	r Pupil
4203 Paris School District	1,170	\$	43,082	\$	1,349	\$	6,131
4204 Scranton School District	396	\$	48,476	\$	1,621	\$	6,419
4301 Lonoke School District	1,762	\$	40,179	\$	1,378	\$	6,099
4302 England School District	927	\$	41,596	\$	1,450	\$	6,352
4303 Carlisle School District	697	\$	57,987	\$	1,471	\$	6,194
4304 Cabot School District	7,305	\$	30,552	\$	1,109	\$	5,879
4401 Huntsville School District	2,010	\$	36,146	\$	1,042	\$	5,964
4402 Kingston School District	225	\$	36,585	\$	1,065	\$	7,289
4403 St. Paul School District	354	\$	34,640	\$	1,813	\$	6,652
4501 Flippin School District	934	\$	66,068	\$	1,499	\$	6,296
4502 Yellville-Summit School Dist.	1,080	\$	36,185	\$	1,314	\$	6,243
4503 Marion County School District	274	\$	43,036	\$	1,101	\$	6,947
4601 Bright Star School District	201	\$	51,025	\$	2,193	\$	7,632
4602 Genoa Central School District	983	\$	19,417	\$	1,494	\$	6,104
4603 Fouke School District	846	\$	24,093	\$	1,487	\$	6,222
4605 Texarkana School District	4,635	\$	49,910	\$	1,563	\$	6,300
4701 Armorel School District	459	\$	142,124	\$	1,536	\$	6,270
4702 Blytheville School District	3,577	\$	38,022	\$	1,514	\$	6,448
4706 So. Miss. County School Dist.	1,513	\$	31,210	\$	1,715	\$	6,586
4708 Gosnell School District	1,343	\$	22,446	\$	1,388	\$	6,166
4712 Manila School District	1,019	\$	27,555	\$	1,401	\$	6,155
4713 Osceola School District	1,753	\$	38,006	\$	1,631	\$	6,607
4801 Brinkley School District	1,040	\$	40,358	\$	1,432	\$	6,471
4802 Clarendon School District	546	\$	37,899	\$	1,630	\$	6,418
4803 Holly Grove School District	274	\$	62,544	\$	1,556	\$	7,146
4901 Caddo Hills School District	618	\$	34,423	\$	1,684	\$	6,420
4902 Mount Ida School District	559	\$	72,472	\$	1,522	\$	6,394
4904 Oden School District	231	\$	42,263	\$	1,684	\$	7,311
5004 Emmet School District	300	\$	18,154	\$	1,731	\$	6,767
5006 Prescott School District	1,100	\$	36,038	\$	1,469	\$	6,307
5008 Nevada School District	484	\$	59,037	\$	1,278	\$	6,374
5101 Deer School District	255	\$	34,234	\$	1,298	\$	7,097
5102 Jasper School District	536	\$	38,709	\$	1,384	\$	6,441
5103 Mount Judea School District	239	\$	19,400	\$	1,696	\$	7,166
5104 Western Grove School District	256	\$	29,937	\$	1,267	\$	6,996
5201 Bearden School District	729	\$	37,324	\$	1,843	\$	6,595
5204 Camden Fairview School Dist.	3,174	\$	41,802	\$	1,275	\$	6,326
5205 Harmony Grove School District	812	\$	24,233	\$	1,264	\$	6,136
5206 Stephens School District	363	\$	37,894	\$	1,438	\$	6,508
5301 East End School District	750	\$	25,357	\$	1,509	\$	6,282
5302 Perry-Casa School District	131	\$	70,357	\$	1,976	\$	8,984

Table D.1
Estimated Change in Total Revenue Per Pupil
And State Aid Per Pupil Under Proposed Adequacy Model

				Pr	oposed		
				C	hange		
		Α	ssessed	Ir	n Sate	Αc	leuqacy
District		V	alue Per		Aid	Mo	del Costs
Code District Name	Enrollment	Pu	ıpil (98%)	Pe	r Pupil	Pe	er Pupil
5303 Perryville School District	952	\$	34,691	\$	1,277	\$	6,046
5401 Barton-Lexa School District	734	\$	23,993	\$	1,241	\$	6,118
5402 Elaine School District	380	\$	68,826	\$	1,287	\$	6,973
5403 Helena/ W.Helena School Dist.	3,531	\$	30,775	\$	1,490	\$	6,532
5404 Marvell School District	670	\$	37,519	\$	1,551	\$	6,651
5405 Lake View School District	157	\$	31,835	\$	1,539	\$	8,357
5501 Delight School District	382	\$	36,328	\$	1,846	\$	6,573
5502 Centerpoint School District	963	\$	43,098	\$	1,580	\$	6,335
5503 Kirby School District	387	\$	53,403	\$	1,638	\$	6,548
5504 Murfreesboro School District	507	\$	49,425	\$	1,200	\$	6,288
5602 Harrisburg School District	1,054	\$	38,175	\$	1,471	\$	6,323
5604 Marked Tree School District	737	\$	39,983	\$	1,611	\$	6,413
5605 Trumann School District	1,684	\$	36,444	\$	1,389	\$	6,259
5607 Weiner School District	382	\$	83,324	\$	1,492	\$	6,484
5608 East Poinsett Co. School Dist.	838	\$	29,578	\$	1,580	\$	6,314
5701 Acorn School District	445	\$	39,286	\$	1,856	\$	6,594
5702 Hatfield School District	336	\$	31,469	\$	1,869	\$	6,651
5703 Mena School District	1,844	\$	47,018	\$	1,407	\$	6,181
5704 Van Cove School District	389	\$	32,806	\$	1,426	\$	6,516
5705 Wickes School District	538	\$	29,193	\$	1,413	\$	6,540
5801 Atkins School District	1,147	\$	30,183	\$	1,425	\$	6,188
5802 Dover School District	1,344	\$	29,213	\$	1,409	\$	6,262
5803 Hector School District	732	\$	24,042	\$	1,532	\$	6,329
5804 Pottsville School District	1,064	\$	31,930	\$	1,411	\$	6,169
5805 Russellville School District	5,244	\$	96,174	\$	1,363	\$	6,065
5901 Des Arc School District	703	\$	49,109	\$	1,470	\$	6,207
5902 DeValls Bluff School District	410	\$	47,735	\$	1,386	\$	6,482
5903 Hazen School District	416	\$	83,072	\$	1,452	\$	6,338
6001 Little Rock School District	24,460	\$	87,456	\$	1,851	\$	6,280
6002 N. Little Rock School District	9,059	\$	53,864	\$	1,551	\$	6,310
6003 Pulaski Co. Spec. School Dist.	18,333	\$	61,743	\$	1,441	\$	6,114
6040 Pulaski Co. Spec. School Dist.	84	\$	-	\$	7,750	\$	7,750
6101 Biggers-Reyno School District	218	\$	43,290	\$	1,807	\$	7,448
6102 Maynard School District	521	\$	30,586	\$	1,368	\$	6,400
6103 Pocahontas School District	1,803	\$	42,611	\$	1,248	\$	6,148
6104 Randolph County School Dist.	283	\$	42,277	\$	1,632	\$	6,892
6201 Forrest City School District	4,012	\$	36,129	\$	1,514	\$	6,425
6202 Hughes School District	792	\$	43,486	\$	1,425	\$	6,556
6205 Palestine-Wheatley Sch. Dist.	723	\$	32,099	\$	2,019	\$	6,727
6301 Bauxite School District	1,003	\$	28,973	\$	1,275	\$	5,942
6302 Benton School District	4,252	\$	52,921	\$	1,117	\$	5,843

Table D.1
Estimated Change in Total Revenue Per Pupil
And State Aid Per Pupil Under Proposed Adequacy Model

				Proposed						
		Change								
		Α	ssessed	In Sate		Adeuqacy				
District		Va	alue Per	Aid		Model Costs				
Code District Name	Enrollment	Pupil (98%)		Per Pupil		Per Pupil				
6303 Bryant School District	5,968	\$	43,056	\$	1,011	\$	5,851			
6304 Harmony Grove School District	824	\$	29,053	\$	1,336	\$	6,020			
6306 Paron School Distirct	292	\$	42,150	\$	564	\$	6,818			
6401 Waldron School District	1,663	\$	30,461	\$	1,460	\$	6,245			
6501 Leslie School District	238	\$	39,551	\$	1,154	\$	7,208			
6502 Marshall School District	719	\$	36,548	\$	1,457	\$	6,425			
6503 St. Joe School District	233	\$	33,252	\$	1,355	\$	7,217			
6504 Witts Springs School District	60	\$	57,720	\$	5,349	\$	13,879			
6601 Fort Smith School District	12,596	\$	72,177	\$	1,390	\$	6,189			
6602 Greenwood School District	3,126	\$	44,236	\$	977	\$	5,833			
6603 Hackett School District	554	\$	28,587	\$	1,238	\$	6,144			
6604 Hartford School District	464	\$	30,527	\$	1,471	\$	6,399			
6605 Lavaca School District	857	\$	35,046	\$	1,313	\$	6,007			
6606 Mansfield School District	1,011	\$	30,381	\$	1,062	\$	6,002			
6701 DeQueen School District	1,874	\$	35,712	\$	1,459	\$	6,410			
6703 Horatio School District	789	\$	25,983	\$	1,540	\$	6,432			
6704 Lockesburg School District	420	\$	38,005	\$	1,689	\$	6,464			
6802 Cave City School District	1,017	\$	29,589	\$	1,330	\$	6,212			
6803 Evening Shade School District	319	\$	28,184	\$	1,693	\$	6,744			
6804 Highland School District	1,462	\$	64,581	\$	1,359	\$	6,235			
6805 Williford School District	235	\$	45,972	\$	1,472	\$	7,202			
6901 Mountain View School District	1,214	\$	46,130	\$	1,335	\$	6,173			
6902 Stone County School District	295	\$	34,537	\$	1,723	\$	6,963			
6904 Rural Special School District	224	\$	35,554	\$	1,547	\$	7,255			
7001 El Dorado School District	4,416	\$	59,098	\$	1,537	\$	6,307			
7002 Huttig School District	237	\$	47,417	\$	1,912	\$	7,261			
7003 Junction City School District	627	\$	60,719	\$	1,415	\$	6,164			
7005 Mount Holly School District	195	\$	82,289	\$	2,071	\$	7,602			
7006 Norphlet School District	541	\$	33,441	\$	1,303	\$	6,220			
7007 Parkers Chapel School Dist.	671	\$	45,681	\$	1,262	\$	6,002			
7008 Smackover School District	740	\$	34,605	\$	1,516	\$	6,180			
7009 Strong School District	505	\$	39,260	\$	1,494	\$	6,448			
7011 Union School District	325	\$	24,905	\$	1,817	\$	6,654			
7101 Alread School District	81	\$	45,771	\$	3,563	\$	11,469			
7102 Clinton School District	1,203	\$	39,060	\$	1,415	\$	6,302			
7103 Scotland School District	122	\$	35,652	\$	2,301	\$	9,242			
7104 Shirley School District	491	\$	84,610	\$	1,657	\$	6,551			
7105 South Side School District	483	\$	32,946	\$	1,422	\$	6,420			
7201 Elkins School District	976	\$	26,736	\$	1,388	\$	6,094			
7202 Farmington School District	1,662	\$	36,241	\$	1,211	\$	6,029			
7203 Fayetteville School District	7,932	\$	75,595	\$	1,390	\$	6,089			

Table D.1
Estimated Change in Total Revenue Per Pupil
And State Aid Per Pupil Under Proposed Adequacy Model

District		Assessed Value Per			oposed hange n Sate Aid		deuqacy del Costs
Code District Name	Enrollment	Pupil (98%)		Per Pupil		Per Pupil	
7204 Greenland School District	903	\$	33,920	\$	1,211	\$	5,943
7205 Lincoln School District	1,026	\$	37,765	\$	1,667	\$	6,389
7206 Prairie Grove School District	1,388	\$	32,443	\$	1,329	\$	6,062
7207 Springdale School District	11,924	\$	55,681	\$	1,226	\$	6,071
7208 West Fork School District	1,096	\$	26,200	\$	1,501	\$	6,213
7209 Winslow School District	284	\$	31,129	\$	1,513	\$	6,988
7301 Bald Knob School District	1,294	\$	32,724	\$	1,430	\$	6,274
7302 Beebe School District	2,257	\$	33,646	\$	1,302	\$	6,056
7303 Bradford School District	567	\$	25,989	\$	1,566	\$	6,331
7304 White Co. Central School Dist.	. 657	\$	24,983	\$	1,647	\$	6,265
7307 Riverview School District	1,237	\$	42,392	\$	1,551	\$	6,480
7308 McRae School District	328	\$	34,381	\$	1,144	\$	6,567
7309 Pangburn School District	713	\$	24,502	\$	1,186	\$	6,191
7310 Rose Bud School District	798	\$	27,774	\$	1,526	\$	6,317
7311 Searcy School District	3,714	\$	70,076	\$	1,280	\$	6,015
7401 Augusta School District	567	\$	51,845	\$	1,476	\$	6,604
7402 Cotton Plant School District	227	\$	44,129	\$	1,834	\$	7,404
7403 McCrory School District	681	\$	42,034	\$	1,366	\$	6,255
7503 Danville School District	782	\$	31,812	\$	1,427	\$	6,357
7504 Dardanelle School District	1,717	\$	32,556	\$	1,298	\$	6,229
7505 Fourche Valley School District	170	\$	33,093	\$	1,678	\$	7,997
7507 Ola School District	536	\$	32,879	\$	1,541	\$	6,463
7508 Plainview-Rover School Dist.	322	\$	33,118	\$	1,981	\$	6,874
7509 Western Yell Co. School Dist.	450	\$	32,364	\$	1,834	\$	6,549
Mean	5,375	\$	52,445	\$	1,411	\$	6,230
Median	2,786	\$	47,308	\$	1,390	\$	6,189